
ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

1 GRANITE PLACE SOUTH

CONCORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03301

JOHN M. FORMELLA JAMES T. BOFFETTI

ATTORNEY GENERAL DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL

T«. 123
May 3, 2024

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

Your Excellency and Members of the Council:

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the New Hampshire Department of Justice (DOJ) to enter into a subgrant with
the Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (Vendor #177160-3002), Lebanon, NH, in an amount
not to exceed $280,800, to support the enhancement of Child Advocacy Center (CAC) services
effective upon Governor and Executive Council approval through June 30, 2025. 100% General
Funds.

Funding is available as follows:

02-20-20-200010-2601 FY2024

Attomev General

073-500581, Grants, Non-Federal $280,800

EXPLANATION

The purpose of a Child Advocacy Center (CAC) is to standardize the investigation of
child abuse and neglect cases, minimize trauma to child victims by limiting the number of
interviews the child must participate in, and coordinate services for those children. The CACs
use a multi-disciplinary team approach to ensure a child's health and well-being is of primary
importance during the investigation process.

The Department of Justice is requesting approval to award funding to the Mary
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for the support of continued services to children and
implementation of evidence-based practices.

Telephone 603-271-3668 • FAX 603-271-2110 • TDD Access: Relay NH 1-800-73S-2964
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The Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital is part of the CAC network in New Hampshire
and is a member of the Granite State Children's Alliance, making them eligible for funding under
this program.

Please let me know if you have any questions concerning this request. Your
consideration is greatly appreciated.

Respectfully submitted,

Jonh M. Formella

Attorney General

#4488806
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GRANT AGREEMENT

FORM NUMBER G-1 (version 11/2021)

The State of New Hampshire and the Grantee hereby
Mutually agree as follows:
GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Identification and Definitions.

1 l.L State Agency Name

New Hampshire Department of Justice

1.2. State Agency Address 1

1 Granite Place South, Concord, NH 03301
1.3. Grantee Name

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

1.4. Grantee Address

1 Medical Center Dr.

Lebanon, NH 03756

1.5. Grantee Phone #

(603)653-9012

1.6. Account Number

02-20-20-200010-2601-

073-500581.

1.7. Completion Date

06/30/2025

1.8. Grant Limitation

$280,800

1.9. Grant Officer for State Agency
Kathleen Can*

1,10. State Agency Telephone Number
(603)271-3658

If Grantee is a municipality or village district: "By signing this form we certify that we have complied with any public
meetiDg requirement for acceptance of this grant including if applicable RSA 31:95-b."

1.11. Grantee Signature I 1.12. Name & Title of Grantee Signor 1
Edward J. Merrens.t^ef clinical officer

Grantee Signature 2 Name Sl Title of Grantee Signor 2

Grantee Signature 3 Name & Title of Grantee.Signor 3

1.13 State Agency Signature(s) 1.14. Name & Title of State Agency Signor(s)

Kathleen Carr, Director of Administration

1.15. Approval by Attom^ General (Form, Substance and Execution) (ifG & C approval required)

Assistant Attorney General, On: 4/24/2024

1.16. Approval by Governor and Council (if applicable) 1

By: On:. I I j
2. SCOPE OF WORK; In exchange for grant funds provided by the State of New Hampshire, acting
through the Agency identified in block 1.1 (hereinafter referred to as **the State")» the Grantee
identified in block 1.3 (hereinafter referred to as "the Grantee"), shall perfortn that work identified and
more particularly described in the scope of work attached hereto as EXHIBIT B (the scope of work
being hereinafter referred to as 'Hhe Project").

[Z
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4.

4.1.

4.2.

5.

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

7.

7.1.

7.2.

8.

8.1.

8.2.

8J.

9.

9.1.

AREA COVERED. Except bs otherwise specincally provided for herein, the
Grantee shall perform the Project in, and with respect to, the State of New
Hampshire. 9.2.
EFFECTIVE DATE: COMPLETION OF PROJECT.

This Agreement, and all obligations of the parties hereunder, shall become
cfTective on the date on the date of approval of this Agreement by the Governor
and Council of the State of New Hampshire if required (block 1.16), or upon '9J.
signature by the State Agency as shown in block 1.14 (The Elective Date").
Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Project, including all reports 9.4.
required by this.Agreement, shall be complied in ITS entirely prior to the date in
block 1.7 (hereinafler referred to as "the Completion Date").
GRANT AMOUNT: LIMITATION ON AMOUNT: VOUCHERS: PAYMENT. '

The Grant Amount is identified aixl more particularly described in EXHIBIT C,
attached hereto. 9.5.

The manner of, and schedule of paytnent shall be as set forth in EXHIBIT C.
In accordance with the provisions set forth in EXHIBIT C, and in consideration 10.
of the satisfactory performance of the Project, as dctermirKd by the State, and as
limited by subparagraph 5.5 of these general provisions, the State shall pay the
Grantee the Grant Amount The Slate shall withhold from the amount otherwise

payable to the Grantee under this subparagraph 5.3 those sums required, or
pennitted, to be withheld pursuant to N.H. RSA 80:7 through 7-c.
The payment by the Slate of the Grant amount shall be the only, and the complete
payment to the Grantee for all expenses, of whatever natui^ incurred by the
Grantee in the performance hereof, and shall be the only, and the complete,
compensation to the Grantee for the Project. The State shall have no liabilities to II.
the Grantee other than the Grant AmounL M.I.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, and notwithstanding
unexpected circumstances, in no event shall the total of all paymertts authorized, 'M.I.I
or actually made, hereunder exceed (he Grant limitation set forth in block I.Sof M.1.2
these general provisions. M.I.3
COMPUANCE BY GRANTEE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS. In M.I,4
connection with the performance of the Project, the Grantee shall comply with ail 11.2.
statutes, laws regulations, and orders of federal, state, county, or municipal
authorities which shall impose any obligations or duty upon the Grantee, including 11.2.1
the acquisition ofany and all necessary permits and RSA 31 •95-b. .
RECORDS and ACCOUNTS.

Between the Effective Date atrd the date seven (7) years after the Completion
Date, unless otherwise required by the grant terms or the Agency, the Grantee
shall keep detailed accounts of all expenses incurred in connection with the 11.2.2
Project, including, but not limited to, costs of adminbtration, transportation,
insurance, telephone calls; and 'ciericai'matBrials and services. Such accounts
shall be supported by receipts, invoices, bilb and other similar documents.
Between (he Effective Date and the date seven (7) years after the Completion

' Date, unless otherwise required by the grant terms or the Agency pursuant to 11.2.3
subparagraph 7.1, at any lime during the Orantee's'normal business hours, and as
often as the State shall demand, the Grantee shall make avaibble to the State all 11.2.4
records pertaining to matters covered by thb Agreement The Grantee shall
permit the State to audit examine, and reproduce such records, arxl to make audits 12.
of all contracts, invoices, materials, payrolls, records of personnel, data (as that 12.1.
term b hereinafter defmed), and other information relating to all matters covered
by.thb Agreement As used in thb paragraph, "Grantee" includes all persons, -
natural or nctional, affiibted with, controiied by, or under common ownership
with, the entity identified as the Grantee in block 1.3 of these provbions
PERSONNEL.

The Grantee shall, at iB own expense, provide all personnel necessary to perform 12.2.
the Project. The Grantee warrants that all personnel engaged in the Project shall
be quaJincd to perform such Project, and shall be properly licensed and authorized
to perform such Project under all applicable laws.
The Oiantee shall not hire, and it shall not permit any subcontractor, subgrantee, 12.3.
or other person, firm or corporation with whom it b engaged in a combined effort
to perform the Project, to hire any person who has a contractual relationship with
(he State, or who b a State ofTicer or employee, elected or appointed.
The Grant Officer shall be the representative of the State hereunder. In the event
of any dbpute hereunder! the interpretation of thb Agreement by the Grant 12.4.
Officer, and his/her decision on any dbpute, shall be final.
DATA: RETENTION OF DATA: ACCESS.

As used in thb Agreement, the word "data" shall mean all information and things 13.
developed or obtained during the perforinance of, or acquired or developed by
reason of thb Agreement, including, but not limit^ to, all smdies, reports, files,
formube, surveys, maps! charts, sound reMrding^ video recordings, pictorial
reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic representations.

computer programs, computer printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, paper, and
documents, all whether finished or unfinished.
Between the Effective Date and the Completion Date the Grantee shall grant to
(he State, or any person designated by it, unrestricted access to all data for
examination, duplication, publication, translation, sale, disposal, or for any other
purpose -whatsoever.

No data shall be subject to copyright in die United States or any other country by
anyone other than die State.
On and after the Effective Date all data, and any property which lias been received
from the State or purchased with funds provided for (hat ptirpose under this
Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and shall be returned to the State
upon demand or upon termination of thb Agreement for any reason, ivhichever
shall first occur..

The State, and anyone it shall designate, shall have unrestricted authority to
publish, dbclose, dbtribute and otherwise use, in whole or in part, all data.
CONDITIONAL NATURE OR AGREEMENT. Notwithstanding anything in
this Agreement to the contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder, including,
.without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are contingent upon
the availability or continued appropriation of funds, and in no event shall the State
be liable for any payments hereunder in excess of such available or appropriated
funds. In the event of a reduction or termination of those funds, the State shall

have the right to withhold payment until such flinds become svailaNe, if ever, and
shall have the right to terminate thb Agreement immediately upon giving the
Grantee notice of such termination.

EVENT OF DEFAULT: REMEDIES.

Any one or more of the following acts or onibsions ofthe Grantee shall constitute
an event of default hereunder (hereinafler referred to as "Events of Default"):
Failure to perform the Project satisfactorily or on schedule; or
Failure to submit any report required hereunder. or
Failure to maintain, or permit access to, the iwrds required hereunder, or
Failure to perform any of the other covenants and conditions of thb Agreement
Upon the occurrence ofany Event of Default, the State may take any one, or more,
or ail. ofthe following actions:
Give the Grantee a written notice specifying the Event of Default arid requiring it
to be remedied within, in the absence of a greater or lesser spKification of lime,
thirty (30) days from the dale of the notice; and if the Event of Default b not
timely remedied, lermmate thb Agreement, effective two (2) days after giving the
Grantee notice of termination; and
Give the Grantee a written notice specifying the Event of Default and suspending
all payments to be made under thb Agreement and ordering that the portion of the
Grant Amount which would otherwise accrtie to the Grantee during (he period
from the date of such notice until sudi time as the State determines that the

Grantee has cured (he Event of Default shall never be paid to the Grantee; and
Set offagainst any other obligation the State may ow to the Grantee any damages
the State suffen by reason of any Event of Default; and
Treat the agreementas breached and punue any of its remedies at law or in equity,
or both.

TERMINATION.

In the event of any early termination of thb Agreement for any reason other than
the completion of the Project, the Grantee shall deliver to the Grant Officer, not
later than fifteen (15) days after the date of termination, a report (hereinafter
referred to as the "Termination Report") describing in detail all Project Work
performed, and the Grant Amount earned, to and including the date of terminatioti.
In the event of Termination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of th^ general
provbioRS, the approval of such'a Termination Report by the State shall entitle
die Grantee to receive that portion of (he Grant amount earned to and including
the dale oftermination.'

In the event of Termination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of these general
provbions, the approval of such a Tcrinination Report tiy die State shall in no
event relieve the Grantee from any and all liability for damages sustained or
incurred by the. State as a result of the Grantee's breach of its obligations
hereundCT.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, either the State or,
except where notice default has been given to the GrantM hereunder, the Grantee,
may terminate thb Agreement without cause upon thirty (30) days written notice.
CONFLICT OF INTEREST. No officer, member of employee of the Grantee,
and no representative, officer or employee of the State of New Hampshire or of
the governing body of the locality or localities in which the Project is to be
performed, who exercises any functions or responsibilities in the review or
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19.

20.
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■pproval of the undertaking or carrying out of such' Project, shall participate in. 17.2.
any decision relating to this Agreement which affects his or her personal interest
or the interest of any corporation, partnership, or association in which he or she
e directly or indirectly interested, nor shall he or she have any personal or
pecunuty interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or the proce^ thereof.
GRANTEE'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In the performance of this
Agreement the Grantee, its employees, and any subcontractor or subgrantee of 18.
the Grantee are in all respects independent contractors, and ere neither agents
nor employees of the State. Neither the Grantee nor any of its ofTlcers.
employees, agents, members, subcontractors or subgrantees, shall have authority
to bind the State nor are they entitled to any of the benefrts, workmen's
compensation or emoluments provided by the State to its employees.
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTS. The Grantee shall not assign, or
otherwise transfer any interest in this Agreement widiout die prior written
consent of the Slate. None of (he Project Work shall be subcontracted or
kubgranted by the Grantee other than as set forth in Exhibit B without the prior
written consent of the State.
INDEMNIFICATION. The Grantee shall defetxi, irxlemnily and hold harmless
the Slate, ils ofTicen and employees, from and against any and all losses suffered
by the State, its officers and employees, and any. and ell claims, liabilities or
penalties asserted against the Stale, its officers and employees, by or on behalf 21.
of any person, on account of. based on. resulting from, arising out of (or which
may be claimed to arise out oQ die acts or omissions of dw Gmntee or
sutxontractor, or subgrantee or other agenl of the Grantee. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the
sovereign immuni^ of the State, which immunity is hereby reserved to the State.
This covenant shall survive the termination of diis agreement. '22.
INSURANCE.
The Grantee shall, at its own expense, obtain and maintain in force, or shall 23.
require any subcontractor, subgrantee or assignee performing Project work to
obtain and maintain in force, both for the benefit of the Stale, the following
insurance:
Statutory workers' compensation and employees liability msurarKC for all 24.-
employees engaged iri the performance of the Project, and
General liability insurance against all claims of bodily injuries, deaith or property
damage, in amounts not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000
aggregate for bodily injury or death any one incident, and $500,000 for property
damage in any one incident; and

17.
17.1

17.1.1

17,1.2

The policies described in sut^uragraph 17.1 ofihis paragraph shall be the standard
form employed in the State ofNew Hampshire, issued by underwriters acceptable
to the State, and authorized to do business in the State ofNew Hampshire. Grantee
shall fumish to the State, certificates of insurance for all rcnewal(s) of insurance
required under this Agreement no later than ten (10) days prior to the expiration
date of each insurance policy. .
WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by the State to enforce any provisions hereof
after any Event of Default shall be deemed a waiver of its rights .with regard to
that Event, or any subsequent Event No express waiver of any Event of Default
shall be deemed a waiver of any provisions hereof. No such failure of waiver
shall be deemed a waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and a!) of the
provisions hereof upon any further or other default'on the perl of the Grantee.
NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party shall be deemed to have
been duly delivered or given at the (inw of mailing by certified mail, postage
prepaid, in a United States Post OfTlce addressed to the parties at the addresses
first above given.
AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived or discharged only
by an instrument in writing signed by the-parties hereto and only after approval of
such amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and Council of the State
ofNew Hampshire, if required or by the signing Slate Agency.
CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS. This Agreement shall be
construed in accordance with the law of the State of New Hampshire, and is
binding upon and inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors
and assignees. The captions and contents of the "subject" blank are used only as
a matter of convenienM, and ate not to be considered a part of this Agreement or
to be used in determining the intend of the parties hereto.'
THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to benefit any third parties
and this Agreement shell not be construed to confer any such beneFit:
ENTIRE AGREEMENT. Tha Apeement, which may be executed in a number
of counterparts, each of which shall be ^mcd an original, constitutes the entire
agreement and understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings relating hereto.
SPECIAL PROVISIONS. The additional or modifying provisions set forth in
Exhibit A hereto arc incorporated as part of this agreement.
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EXHIBIT A

-SPECIAL PROVISIONS-

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital as the Grantee (hereinafter referred to as "Subrecipient") shall be
compliant at all times with the terms, conditions and specifications detailed below, which are subject to
annual review.

The terms outlined in the General Terms and Conditions of the Grant Agreement are modified as set
forth below:

a) Provision 8.2 is deleted and replaced with the following: Unless otherwise authorized in
writing, during the term of this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Date in block 1.7, Grantee's personnel who are engaged in performance of the
Project shall not hire, and it shall not permit any subcontractor, subgrantee, or other
person, Firm or corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort to perform the
Project, to hire any person who has a contractual relationship with the State, or who is a .
State officer or employee, elected or appointed.

b) Provision 8.3 delete the following: in the event of any dispute hereunder, the inteiprelation
of this Agreement by the Grant Officer, and his/her decision on any dispute, shall be final.

c) Provision 12.1 is deleted and replaced with the following;
In the event of any early termination of this Agreement for any reason other than the
completion of the Project, the Grantee shall deliver to the Grant Officer, not later than
thirty (30)'days after the date of termination, a report (hereinafter referred to as the
'Termination Report") describing in detail all Project Work performed, and the Grant
Amount earned, to and including the date of termination.

d) Provision 20 is deleted and replaced with the following:
AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived or discharged only by an
instrument in writing signed by tlie parties hereto and only after approval of such ,
amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and Council of the State of New
Hampshire, if required or by the signing State Agency unless no such approval is required
under the circumstances pursuant to State law, rule or policy. In the event the State wishes
to change the location(s) in which the services are performed by the Contractor hereunder,
in whole or in part, the State shall provide Contractor with reasonable advance written
notice of the same. Thereafter, the parties shall meet in good faith in order to mutually
agree upon possible adjustments to the termsand conditions, if required, which shall be
documented In the form of an amendment to this Agreement in accordance with this
Section.

e) Provision 17.1.1 is deleted and replaced with the following:
Statutory workers' compensation and professional liability insurance for all employees
engaged in the performance of the Project, and

Subreclpient Initials
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EXHIBIT A

- SPECIAL PROVISIONS -

1. The Subrecipient must certify that Limited English Proficiency persons have meaningful

access to any services provided by this program. National origin discrimination includes

discrimination on the basis of limited English proficiency (LEP). Meaningful access may
entail providing language assistance services, including oral and written translation when
necessary. The U.S. Department of Justice has issued guidance for grantees to help them

comply with these requirements. The guidance document can be accessed on the Internet at

www.lep.gov. . .

2. The Subrecipient assures that in the event ai Federal or State court or Federal or State

administrative agency makes a finding of discrimination within the three years prior to the
receipt of the federal financial assistance and after a due process hearing against the
Subrecipient on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, or disability, a

copy of the finding will be submitted to the New Hampshire Department of Justice, Grants

Management Unit and to the U.S. Department of Justice, Office for Civil Rights, Office of

Justice Programs, 810 7th Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20531. For additional information
regarding your obligations under civil rights please reference the state website at

http://www.doj.nh.gov/grants-management/civil-rights.htm and understand if you are awarded
funding from this office, civil rights compliance will be monitored by this office, and the

Office for Civil Rights, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice.

3. The Subrecipient will comply (and will require any subrecipicnts or contractors tp comply)
with any applicable nondiscrimination provisions, which may include the Omnibus Crime

Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (34 U.S.C. § 10228(c)); the Victims of Crime Act (34

U.S.C. § 20110(e)); the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (34 U.S.C.
§ 11182(b)); the Violence Against Women Act (34 U.S.C. § I2291(bXI3)); the Civil Rights
Act of, 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d); the Indian Civil Rights Act (25 U.S.C. §§ I301-I303); the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794); the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42
U.S.C. §§ I2I31-34);theEducation Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. §§ 1681, 1683, 1685.-
86); and the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. §§ 6101-07). It will also comply with
Ex. Order 13279, Equal Protection of the Laws for Faith-Based and Community
Organizations; Executive Order 13559, Fundamental Principles and Policymaking Criteria for

Page S of 10 Subrecipient Initials
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EXHIBIT A

- SPECIAL PROVISIONS -

Partnerships With Faith-Based and Other Neighborhood Organizations; and the DOJ

implementing regulations at 28 C.F.R. Part 38.

4. Compensation for individual consultant services is to be reasonable and consistent with that

paid for similar services in the marketplace. The current consultant limit is $650 per day or

$81.25 per hour. When the rate exceeds the limit for an 8-hour day, or a proportionate hourly
rate (excluding travel.and subsistence costs), a written prior approval is required . Prior

approval requests require additional justification.

5. The Subrecipient agency agrees that, should they employ a former member of the New

Hampshire Department of Justice (DOJ), that employee or their relative shall not perform
work on or be billed to any federal or state subgrant or monetary award that the employee

directly managed or supervised while at the DOJ for the life of the subgrant without the

express approval of the DOJ.

6. The Subrecipient understands that grants are funded for the grant award period noted on the
grant award document. No guarantee is given or implied of subsequent funding in future

years. .

7. The Subrecipient authorizes the DOJ and its representatives, access to and the right to examine

all records, books, paper or documents related to this subgrant.

8. The Subrecipient agrees that all services will be provided at no charge to victims unless a

program income waiver is obtained from the DOJ. If permission is granted, the Subrecipient

agrees that there must be a sliding scale that starts at zero (0), and that all program income will

be totally expended on grant allowable activities by the end of the funding cycle.

9. Equipment purchased with this subgrant shall be listed by the Subrecipient on the agency

inventory. The inventory must include the item description, serial number, cost, percentage of

state funds, and location.

10. The Subrecipient agrees that if a financial audit of the agency is performed, whether it be an

audit under 2 CFR or not, the Subrecipient agrees to provide a copy of the audit and any

associated management letters to the DOJ, Grants Management Unit. The Single Audit report

must be submitted to the Grants Management Unit within 9 months after the Subrecipient's

year-end or one month after the issuance of the audit.

Page 6 of 10 Subrecipient Initials
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EXHIBIT A

- SPECIAL PROVISIONS -

11. The Subrecipient, if a non-profit organization, agrees to make its financial statements available
online (either on the Subrecipient's website, or the DOJs, or another publicly available
website). Organizations that have Federal 501(c)(3) tax status are considered in compliance

with this requirement, with no further action needed, to the extent that such organization files

IRS Form 990 or similar tax document (e.g., Form 990-EZ), as several sources already provide

searchable online databases of such financial statements.

12. The Subrecipient, if a non-profit organization, must certify their non-profit status by

submitting a statement to NH DOJ: 1) affirmatively asserting that the recipient is a non-profit

organization and 2) indicating that the Subrecipient has on file and available upon audit one of
the following:

• A copy of the organization's 501 (cX3) designation letter, or;

• A letter from the State of New Hampshire stating that the Subrecipient is a non

profit organi^tion operating within the state, or;

• A copy of the Subgrantee's state certificate of incorporation that substantiates its

non-profit status.

Subrecipients that are local non-profit affiliates or state of national non-profits should also

have a statement by the parent organization that the Subrecipient is a local non-profit affiliate.

Page 7 of 10 Subrecipient Initials
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EXHIBIT B

- SCOPE OF SERVICES-

1. The Subrecipient shall receive a grant from the New Hampshire Department of Justice

(DOJ) for expenses incurred and services provided for child advocacy forensic interviews

and victim services provided by the Subrecipient, including but not limited to expenses for

personnel and fringe.

2. The Subrecipient shall be reimbursed by the DOJ based on budgeted expenditures

described in Exhibit C. The Subrecipient shall submit incurred expenses for reimbursement i

on the state approved expenditure reporting form as provided. Expenditure reports shall be

submitted on a quarterly basis, within fifteen (15) days following the end of the current

quarterly activities. Expenditure reports submitted later than thirty (30) days following the

end of the quarter will be considered late and out of compliance. For example, with an

award that begins on January 1, thefirst quarterly report is due on April 15'^ or 15 days
after the close ofthe first quarter ending on March 31.

3. The Subrecipient is required to maintain supporting documentation for all grant expenses

both state funds and match if provided and to produce those documents upon request of this;
office or any other state or federal audit authority. Grant project supporting documentation

shall be maintained-for at least seven (7) years after the close of this Grant.

4. The Subrecipient shall be subject to periodic desk audits and program reviews by DOJ.
I

Such desk audits and program reviews shall be scheduled with Subrecipient and every
attempt shall be made by Subrecipient to accommodate the schedule.

5. All correspondence and submittals shall be directed to:

NH Department of Justice

Grants Management Unit

1 Granite Place South

Concord. NH 03301

(603)271-8473

Sarah.E.Sciuto@doj.nh.gov

Page 8 of 10 Subrecipient Initials
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KXHTBIT C

- PAYMENT TERMS-

1. The Subrecipient shall receive reimbursement in exchange for approved expenditure

reports as described in EXHIBIT B.

2. The Subrecipient shall be.reimbursed within thirty (30) days following the DOJ's

approval of expenditures. Said payment shall be made to the Subrecipient's account

receivables address per the Financial System of the State of New Hampshire.

3. The State's obligation to compensate the Subrecipient under this Agreement shall not
exceed the price limitation set forth in form G-1 section 1.8..

3a. The Subrecipient shall be awarded an amount not to exceed $280,800 of the

total Grant Limitation set forth from Governor and Council approval through

06/30/2025. This shall be contingent upon continued state funding

appropriation and program performance.

3b. With sufficient reason and under limited circumstances, the Subrecipient

may apply for an extension of the grant period for up to the end of the federal

grant end date, not after. The Subrecipient must submit the request in writing. No

extension is granted until approval is received by DOJ in writing.

4. Neither the Subrecipient nor DOJ will be responsible for any expenses or costs incurred
under this agreement prior to Governor and Council approval, or after 06/30/2025 or,
unless a grant e^ensipn is approved in writing by DOJ.

Page 9 of 10 Subrecipient Initials

€JH
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EXHIBIT D

-NON-SUPPLANTING CERTIHCATION -

Supplanting defined

Federal funds must be used to supplement existing fimds for program activities ̂ d must not
replace those funds that have been appropriated for the same purpose. Supplanting shall be the
subject of application review, as well as pre-award review, post-award monitoring, and audit. If
there is a potential, presence of supplanting, the Subrecipient or grantee will be required to supply
documentation demonstrating that the reduction in non-Federal resources occurred for reasons
other than the receipt or expected receipt of Federal funds. For certain programs, a written
certification may be requested by the awarding agency or recipient agency stating that Federal

funds will not be used to supplant State or local funds will not be used to supplant State or local
funds. See the OJP Financial Guide (Part 11, Chapter 3)

http://www.oip.usdoi.gov/financialguide/Dart2/Dart2chaD3.htm.

Supplanting and iob retention

A recipient or subrecipient may use federal fimds to retain jobs that, without the use of the

federal money, would be lost. If the grantee is planning on using federal funds to retain jobs, it
must be able to substantiate that, without the funds, the jobs would be lost. Substantiation can be,
but is not limited to, one of the following forms: an official memorandum, official minutes of a

county or municipal board meeting or any documentation, that is usual and customarily produced
when making determinations about employment. The documentation must describe the

terminated positions and that the termination is because of lack of the availability of State or
local funds.

The Subrecipient certifies that any funds awarded through this agreement shall not be used to

Supplant any Federal funds that have been appropriated for the purposes and goals of this

agreement.

The Subrecipient understands that supplanting violations may result in a range of penalties,

including but not limited to susp^ion of future funds under this program, suspension or

debarment fipm federal grants, recoupment of monies provided under this grant, and civil aiid/or

criminal penalties.

Printed NapieoMiUitlP of Authorized Signer: Wief Clinical office r
f  HD.

Signature:!

r~D8
€JH

rageiuoiiu ouorwipicnt muiais

Date 3/28/2024



State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

1, David M. Scanlan, Secretary of Slate of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certity that MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL"

HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofil Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on August 07, 1889. 1

further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secrctar>' of Stale's office have been received and is in good standing as

far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 68517

Certificate Number: 0006622917

SI
4^

Urn

O

V

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affi.xed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 20th day of March A.D. 2024.

David M. Scanlan

Secretary of Stale



Dartmouth Dartmouth-Hitchcock Boards of Trustees
Health

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

I, Roberta L. Hines. MD. do hereby certify that:

1. I am the duly elected Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (together, "Dartmouth-Hitchcock").

2. The following is a true and accurate excerpt from the Amended, Restated and Integrated Bylaws of the

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Corporations:

a. "ARTICLE II - Section A. Fiduciary Duty. Stewardship over Corporate Assets. As
responsible stewards of tax-exempt, charitable Corporations, members of the Corporations'
Boards have the fiduciary duty to oversee, with due care and loyalty, the stewardship of the
Corporations' assets and operations in order to create a sustainable health system that is population
focused and value-based, and to advance their respective corporate purposes. In exercising this
duty, the Boards may, consistent with the respective Corporation's Articles of Agreement and
these Bylaws, delegate authority to Board Committees and other bodies, or to various officers, to
provide input with respect to issuies and strategies, incur indebtedness, make expenditures, enter
into contracts and agreements and take such other binding actions on behalf of the Corporations
as may be necessary or desirable in furtherance of their charitable purposes."

3. Pursuant to policy approved and adopted by the Boards of Trustees consistent with the above Bylaws

provision, the Chief Clinical Officer, Edward Merrens, MD, has subdelegated signature authority to enter

into contracts and agreements on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial

Hospital.

4. The foregoing authority shall remain in full force and effect as of the date of the agreement executed or

action taken in reliance upon this Certificate. This authority shall remain valid for thirty (30) days from

the date of this Certificate and the State of New Hampshire shall be entitled to rely upon same, until written

notice of modification, rescission or revocation of same, in whole or in part, has been received by the State

of New Hampshire.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as the Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Dartmouth-

Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital this 7^ day of March, 2024.

^

Robert^ L. Hines, MD, Board Chair



.^CERTlFjGATE OF^INSURA^^^C 'I.

COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE

Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687

30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington. VT 05401
INSURED

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

One Medical Center Drive

Lebanon, NH 03756

(603)653-6850

, Wfj ; r. c 'f-L U' f.yl' DATE: February 20, 2024

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
afforded by the policies below.

COVERAGES - <;i L .1'

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

TYPE OF

INSURANCE
POLICY NUMBER

POLICY

EFFECTIVE

DATE

POLICY

EXPIRATION

DATE

LIMITS

GENERAL

LIABILITY
0002023-A 7/1/2023 7/1/2024 EACH

OCCURRENCE
$1,000,000

DAMAGE TO

RENTED

PREMISES

$1,000,000

X CLAIMS MADE
MEDICAL

EXPENSES
N/A

PERSONAL & $1,000,000
ADV INJURY

OCCURRENCE GENERAL

AGGREGATE
$3,000,000

OTHER PRODUCTS-

COMP/OP AGG
$1,000,000

PROFESSIONAL

LIABILITY

0002023-A 7/1/2023 7/1/2024 EACH CLAIM $1,000,000

CLAIMS MADE
X ANNUAL

AGGREGATE
$3,000,000

OCCURENCE

OTHER

OeSCRI PTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/ SPECIAL ITEMS (LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECT TO RETENTIONS)

Certificate is issued as evidence of insurance.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

New Hampshire Department of Justice
Office of the Attorney General
1 Granite Place South

Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLATION

Should in)' of the ibove described policies be cincelied before (he expiritlon dite
thereof, the issuing compiny will endeavor to mill 30 DAYS written notice to the
certlfkale holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no
obllgatloo or liability of any kind upon the company, Its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES



jACORD'

DARTHIT^)1

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

MDUNNING

DATE (MhUDO/VYYY)

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POUCIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder In lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER

HUB International New England
27S US Route 1
Cuml}ertand Foreslde, ME 04110

^|act Lauren Stiles
PHONE FAX
lA/C. No. Eztl: lA/C, No):

X^^ss-l-auren.StllesGhubintemational.com

INSURERrS) APFORDtNO COVERAQE NAIC#

INSURER A
AMOdilod Induotrtts of MasMChuottta Mutual Inturinca Compan 33758

INSURED

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

1 Medical Center Dr.

Lebanon, NH 03756

INSURER e

INSURER C

INSURER D •

INSURER E

INSURER P

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POUCIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS.
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

msR

LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE
ADOL
INSr>

SU8R
wvn POLICY NUMBER UMITS

COMMERCIAL OE NERAL UABIUTY

)£ OCCUR

EACH OCCURRENCE s

CLAIMS-MAC DAMAGE TO RENTED

MFD FXP lAfiv one oeraonl i

PERSONAL S AOV INJURY s

GFN-I ARCWPGATFIIMITAPPIIFSPFR GENERAL AGGREGATE %

policy 1 1 |loc
OTHER:

PRODUCTS . COMP/OP AGG %

t

1 AUTOMOBILE UABIUTY COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
(Fa ennrtenn s

ANY AUTO

IHECXILED
ITOS

m'm

BODILY INJURY (Par oarjon) s
OVMEO
AUTOS ONLY

aU^ only

sc

. AL BODILY INJURY (Par acehtont) s

NC
AL

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per KodantT s

s

UMBRELLA UAB

EXCESS UAB

OCCUR

CLAIMSMADE

EACH OCCURRENCE i

AGGREGATE s

1 OEO RETENTION S
i

A WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' UABIUTY ^ ̂ ̂
ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE f 1

SSaSISJJIW''"''"" ■ L-l
It yaa. daacrlba undar
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

NIA

1

WMZ-800-800772&.2023A 10/1/2023 10/1/2024

PER ' • OTH-
STATUTF FR

E.L. FACH ACXJDFNT
,  1,000,000

E.L aSEASF. - FA FMPl OYFF
,  1,000,000

E.L DISEASE • POLICY LIMIT
,  1,000,000

OESCRrnON op operations I LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101. AddMomI Ramarlta SclMdula. may ba atttchad tf mora apaea It laqulrad)
Evidence of Workers Compensation coverage for the following:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital
Cheshire Medical Center

ML Ascutney Hospital and Health Center
New London Hospital Association

New Hampshire Department of Justice
Office of the Attorney General
1 Granite Place South

Concord, NH 03301

1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRISED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF. NOTICE WILL' BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POUCY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25(2016/03) ® 1988-2016 ACORD CORPORATION. All Hghts reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks.of ACORD



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board ofTrustees of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Report on theAuditofthe Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited theaccompanyingconsolidated financial statementsofDartmouth-HitdicockHealth and
its subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which com prise theconsolidatedbalancesheetsas ofJune 30,
2022 and 2021, and the relat^ consolidated statementsofoperations and changesin net assets, and of
cash flows fortheyearsthen ended, induding the related notes (collectively referred toasthe
"consolidated financial statements").

Inouropinion,theaccompanyingconsolidatedfinancialstatements presentfairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated finandal position of the Health SystemasofJuneso, 2022 and 2021, and the changes in
its net assetsandits cash flows for the years then endedin accordance with accounting principles
generally acceptedintheUnitedStatesof America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted ouraudit in accordance withauditingstandardsgeneralfyaccepted in the United States of
America (USGAAS) and thestandardsappli cable to financial audits contsdned'in Government Auditing
Standards, issuedbytheComptroDerGeneral ofthe United States. Our responsibilities under those
standards arefurtherdescribed in the Auditors' Responsibflitiesforthe Au^tof the Consolidated
Financial Statements section ofour report We are required to be independent ofthe Health ̂ stem and to
meetourotherethical responsibflities, in accordance withthe relevant ethical requirements relating to our
audit. Webelieve thattheaudit evidence we have obtained is sufficientandappropriate to providea basis
for our audit opinion.

ResponsibititiesofManagement for the Consolidated Finandal Statements

Management is responsibleforthepreparationandfairpresentationofthe consolidatedfinandal
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and forthe design, implementation, and maintenanceofintemal control rele\'antto thepreparationand
fairpresentationofconsolidatedfinancialstatementsthatarefree from material misstatement, whether
duetofi^udorerror.

In preparing thefinancialstatements, management is required toe\'aluatewhetherthere are conditions or
event^ consideredin the aggregate, that raisesubstantialdoubt aboutthe Health S>'stem's ability to
continueas a going concern for one yearafterthedatethefinandal statementsare issued.

Auditors' ResponsibiKtiesfor theAuditoftheConsolidatedFinancialStatements

Ourobjectivesaretoobtainreasonableassuranceaboutwhetherthefinancialstatementsasa whdeare
free from material misstatement, whetherduetofraudorerror, andto issuean auditors'report that
includesouropinion. Reasonable assurance is a high levelofassurancebut is not abscJute assurance and
thereforeisnotaguaranteethatanauditconductedinaccordancewithUSGAASand Government
Auditing Standards, will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a

Pricevs-alerhouseCoopere LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, vw\\'.pwc.com/us
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material misstateraent resulting from fraud is higherthan forone resulting from error, as fraud may
involvecollusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, orthe override of internal control
Misstatementsare considered material ifthere is a sub^antiallikelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, they would influence thejudgmentmadeby a reasonableuserbas^ on thefinancial
statements.

In perform ingan audit in accordance with US GAAS and GovernmentAuditing Standards, we:

•  Exerciseprofessionaljudgment and maintain professional skepticism throughoutthe audit.
•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatementofthe consdidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud orerror, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

• Obtainan understanding ofintemalcontrpl relevant to the audit in ordertodesign audit
procedures thatareappropriateinthecircumstances,butnotforthe purpcseofexpressingan
opinion on the effectiveness ofthe Health System's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed. P

•  Evaluate theappropriatenessofaccountingpdicies usedand the reasonablenessofsignificant
accounting estimates made by management, as well asevaluate the overall presentationof the
consolidated financial statements.

•  Conclude whether, in ourjudgment, there areconditionsorevents, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Health System'sabilhy to continue as a goingconcem fora
reasonable period oftime.

We are required tocommunicate with thosechargedwithgovemahceregarding,amongother matters, the
plannedscopeand timingofthe audit, significant auditfindings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identifiedduringtheaudit.

S upp lemen tal l7\formation

Ourauditwasconductedfofthe purpose of formingan opinion on the consdidated financial statements
taken asa whole. The accompanying consolidating information asof and for the years ended June 30,
2022 and 2021 is the responsibility of management and wasderived from and relatesdirectlytothe
underlyingaccountingand other recordsus^topreparetheconsolidatedfinancialstatements. The
consolidatinginformation has been subjected to the auditing proceduresappbed in the audit ofthe
consolidatedfinancialstatementsand certainadditionalprocedures, indudingcomparingandreconcfling
such informationdirectlyto the underlyingaccountingandother records used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements ortotheconsolidatedfinancialstatementsthemselvesandotheradditional
procedures, in accordance with auditing standardsgenerallyacceptedin the United StatesofAmerica. In
our opinion, theconsobdatinginformation is fairfy stated, in aD material respects, in relation to the
consolidatedfinancialstatements taken asa whole. The consobdatinginformation is presented for
purposesofadditionalanalysis ofthecbnsobdatedfinancialstatementsratherthanto present the
financial position, results of operationsand cash flows ofthe individual com panics and is not a requ ired
part ofthe consdidated financial statements. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the financial
position, resul tsof opera tionsandcash flows oftheindividualcompanies.

Ourauditwasconductedforthe purpose offormingan opinion on the consdidated finandal statements
asa whole.Theaccompanyingschedule ofexpendituresoffederalawardsfortheyearendedJuneso,
2022 is presented forpurposes ofadditional analysis as requiredbyTitle2 U.S. dde of Federal
Regulations Part 200, UniformAdmirdstrative Requirements, Cost Principles, andAudit Requirements
/or Federa/Aioords (Uniform Guidance) andis not a required part ofthe consdidatedfinandal
statements. Such information is theresponsibibtyofmanagementandwasderivedfrom and relates

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA02210
T: (617) 530 5000, wwu'.pwc.com/us
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directly to theunderlyingaccountingand other records used to prepare the consdidated financial
statements. Theinformationhasbeen subjected to theauditingproceduresappliedin the audit of the
consolidatedfinancialstatementsandcertainadditional procedures, indudingcomparingandreconcfling
such information directly to theunderlyingaccountingand other records used to prepare the consdidated
financial statements orto the consolidated financial statements themselves, and otheradditional
procedures, in accordance with auditing standardsgeneraByacceptedin the United Statesof America. In
ouropinion, thescheduleofexpenditures of federal awards is fairfy stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the consolidatedfinancialstatements taken as a whole.

Other Reporting Keqairedhy Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Govemment Auditing Standards,vfehavea\soissued our report dated November 16,
2022, except with respect to the opinipnonthesupplementalscheduleofexpendituresoffederalawards,
as to which the date is June 30,2023, on our consideration ofthe Health System's internal control over
financial reportingandon ourtests of its compliance with certainprovisionsof laws, regulations, contracts
andgrantagreementsandothermattersfortheyearendedJune30,2022. The purposeofthatreport is
solely todescribethescopeofourtestingofintemalcontroloverfinancialreportingandcomplianceand
the results ofthattestingandnot to provideanopinionon the effectivenessof internal control over
financial reportingoron compliance. That report is anintegralpartofan audit performed in accordance
with Gouemmcnf AudifinpSfondardsinconsideringtheHealASystem'sintemalcontrol over financial
reportingand compliance.

£
Boston, Massachusetts
November 16,2022, except with respecttotheopinion on thesupplemental schedule of expenditures of
federal awards, as to which the date is June 30,2023



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2022 and 2021

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 191,929 $ 374,928
Patient accounts receivable, net (Note 4) 251,250 232,161
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 169,133 157,318

Total current assets 612,312 764,407

Assets limited as to use (Notes 5 and 7) 1,181,094 1,378,479

Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7) 175,116 168,035

Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6) 764,840 680,433

Right-of-use assets, net (Note 16) 58,925 58,410
Other assets 172,163 177,098

Total assets $ 2,964,450 $ 3,226,862

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) $  6,596 $  9,407

Current portion of right-of-use obligations (Note 16) 11,319 11,289

Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits (Note 11) 3,500 3,468

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 156,572 131,224

Accrued compensation and related benefits 190,560 182,070

Estimated third-party settlements (Note 3 and 4) 134,898 252,543

Total current liabilities 503,445 590.001

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 1,117,288 1,126,357

Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion (Note 16) 48,824 48,167

Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 12) 78,391 79,974

Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits.
excluding current portion (Note 11) 228,606 224,752

Other liabilities 154,096 214,714

Total liabilities 2,130,650 2,283,965

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3,4,6, 7,10, 13, and 16)

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9) 634,297 758,627

Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9) 199,503 184,270

Total net assets 833,800 942,897

Total liabilities and net assets $  2.964,450 $  3,226,862

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

4



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Operating revenue and other support

Net patient service revenue (Note 4) $  2,243,237 $ 2,138,287

Contracted revenue 77,666 85,263

Other operating revenue (Note 4) 534,031 424,958

Net assets released from restrictions 15,894 15,201

Total operating revenue and other support 2,870,828 2,663,709

Operating expenses
Salaries 1,315,407 1,185,910

Employee benefits 322,570 302,142

Medications and medical supplies 649,272 545,523

Purchased services and other 403,862 383,949

Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4) 82,725 72,941

Depreciation and amortization 86,958 88,921

Interest (Note 10) 32,113 30,787

Total operating expenses 2,892,907 2,610,173

Operating (loss) income (22,079) 53,536

Non-operating (losses) gains

Investment (loss) income, net (Note 5) (78,744) 203,776

Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income (Note 11 and 14) 13,910 13,559

Other losses, net (Note 10) (6,658) (4,233)

Total non-operating (losses) gains, net (71,492) 213,102

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses $  (93,571) $ 266,638

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - continues on next page

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

(in thousands of dollars)

Net assets without donor restrictions

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses
Net assets released from restrictions for capital

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefits (Note 11)
Other changes in net assets

(Decrease) increase in net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities
Investment (loss) income, net

Net assets released from restrictions

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions

Change in net assets

Net assets

Beginning of year

End of year

2022

(93,571)

1,573

(32,309)

2021

266,638

2,017

59,132

(124,330) 327,601

39,710 30,107

(7,010) 19,153

(17,467) (17,218)

15,233 32,042

(109,097) 359,643

942,897 583,254

$  833,800 $ 942,897

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

(in thousands of dc^lars) 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets $ (109,097) S 359,643

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided t}y operating and non-operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 67,006 88,904

Amortization of lx)nd premium, discount, and issuance cost, net (2.754) (2,820)

Amortization of right-of-use asset 9.270 . 10,034

Payments on right-of-use lease ot)lig3tions • operating (9.190) (9,844)

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement t>enefits 32,309 (59,132)
(Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets (523) 592

Net realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments 86,652 (228,489)

Restricted contributions and investment earnings (20,151) (3.445)

Proceeds from sales of donated securities 10,665 -

Changes in assets and liabilities
Patient accounts receivable, net (19,089) (48,342)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (9.915) 4,588

Other assets, net 2,517 (39,760)

Accounts payable and accrued expense 17,104 1,223

Accrued compensation and related benefits 8.490 39,079

Estimated third-party settlements (120,117) 9.787

Insurance deposits and related liabilities (1.583) 2,828

Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits (28,422) (40,373)

Other liabilities (56,687) 11,267

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (123,525) 95,740

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (160,855) (122.347)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment 613 316

Purchases of investments (65,286) (95,943)

Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments 137,781 75,071

Net cash used in investing activities (87,747) (142,903)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit 30,000 -

Payments on line of credit (30,000) -

Repayment of long-term debt (9,116) (9,183)

Repayment of finance leases (3,253) (3,117)

Payment of debt issuance costs - (230)

Restricted contributions and investment earnings 20,151 3,445

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 7,782 (9,085)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (203,490) (56,248)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 396,975 453,223

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year S 193,485 $ 396,975

Supplemental cash flow Information
Interest paid $ 42.867 S 41,819

Construction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses 9,407 16,192

Donated securities 10,665 -

The following tatile reconciles cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets to cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash on the consolidated statements of cash flows.

2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents S 191,929 % 374,928

Cash and cash equivalents included in assets limited as to use 1,350 18,500

Restricted cash and cash equivalents included in other investments for restricted activities 206 3,547

Total of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown
in the consolidated statements of cash flows % 193,485 i 396,975

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH), its Members, and their Subsidiaries (the Health System) is a
system .of hospitals, clinics, and other healthcare service providers across New Hampshire and
Vermont. The Health System's mission is to advance health through research, education, clinical
practice, and communify partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at
the right time, every time. The Health System seeks to achieve the healthiest population possible,
leading the transformation of health care in the region and setting the standard for the nation. The
Health System's expanding network of services are the fabric of its commitment to serve the region
with exceptional medical care.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (DHC) and Subsidiaries, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (MHMH)
and Subsidiaries, (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London Hospital
Association, Inc. (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center) (MAHHC) and Subsidiaries, The Cheshire Medical Center (Cheshire) and Subsidiaries,
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital (APD) and Subsidiary, and Visiting Nurse and Hospice for
Vermont and New Hampshire (VNH) and Subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community, and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also, operates multiple
physician practices, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health and hospice
service. The Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions and is the

.  principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of Dartmouth
College.

D-HH, DHC, MHMH, NLH, Cheshire, and APD are NH not-for-profit corporations exempt from
federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.(IRC). MAHHC and
VNH are VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3)
of the IRC.

On September 30, 2019, D-HH and GraniteOne Health (GOH) entered into an agreement (The
Combination Agreement) to combine their respective healthcare systems. The parties submitted
filings with the Federal Trade Commission and the New Hampshire Attorney General's Office,
seeking regulatory clearance of the proposed transaction. On May 13, 2022, D-HH and GOH
ended their pursuit of regulatory approval of the transaction and terminated the Combination
Agreement.

Community Benefits
Consistent with its mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective, comprehensive,
and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves regardless of a
patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based healthcare and
promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social services
organizations. In addition, the Health System seeks to work collaboratively with other area
healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an integrated



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic and
research programs.

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of NH, which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state Community Benefit Report. The categories used in the
Community Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows;

•  Community Health Improvement Services include actrvities carried out to improve community
health, and could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support
groups, and materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical
services (such as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services
(enrollment assistance in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs
medications, telephone information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to
care, etc.).

•  Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

•  Subsidized Health Services are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

•  Research includes costs, in excess of awards, for numerous health research and service
initiatives within the Health System.

•  Cash and In-Kind Contributions occur outside of the System through various financial
contributions of cash, in-kind donations, and grants to local organizations.

•  Community-Building Activities include expenses incurred to support the development of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges, as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

•  Charity Care includes losses, at-cost, incurred by providing health care services to persons
qualifying for hospital financial assistance programs.

•  The Uncompensated Cost of Care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2021 was approximately $198,859,000. The 2022 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2023.
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June 30. 2022 and 2021

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2021:

(in thousands of dollars)

Uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid $ 198,859
Health professional education 41,554
Subsidized health services 16,785

Charity care 12,678

Community health improvement services 13,589
Research 4,839

Cash and In-Kind Contributions 4,741

Community building activities 2,885

Total community benefit value $ 295,930

In fiscal years 2022 and 2021, funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $452,000 and $848,000, respectively.

For fiscal year 2022, Medicare costs exceeding reimbursement totaled $105,460,000.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, gains, and tosses of healthcare entities
are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net
assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and are
available for operations. Net assets with donor restrictions are those whose use has been limited
by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been restricted by donors to be
maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon
consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The' most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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(Deficiency) Excess of Revenue over Expenses
The Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets include the (deficiency)
excess of revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the
care of patients, including contributions and investment (loss) income on investments of net assets
without donor restrictions, which are utilized to provide charity and other operational support.
Peripheral activities, including realized gains/losses on sales of investment securities and changes
In unrealized gains/losses on investments are reported as non-operating (losses) gains.

Changes In net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the (deficiency) excess

of revenue over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived
assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for
the purpose of acquiring such assets), and change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefit plans.

Charity Care
The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge, or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts qualifying as charity care, they are not
reported as revenue.

The Health System grants credit, without collateral, to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts witti
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to which
the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payors, and others, for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
party payors and implicit pricing concessions. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs, and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts, have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Other Revenue

The Health Systerh recognizes other revenue, which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue, which consists primarily
of revenue from retail pharmacy, specialty pharmacy, and contract pharmacy, is recorded in the
amounts to which it expects to be entitled In exchange for the prescriptions. Other revenue also
includes Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities Act (CARES Act Provider Relief Funds)
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from the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), operating agreements, grant revenue,
cafeteria sales, and other support service revenue (Note 3 and 4).

Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents Include amounts on deposit with financial institutions, short-term
investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase, and other highly liquid
investments (primarily cash management funds), which would be considered level 1 investments
under the fair value hierarchy. All short-term, highly liquid, investments included within the Health
System's endowment and similar investment pools, othenvise qualifying as cash equivalents, are

classified as investments at fair value and, therefore, are excluded from cash and cash equivalents
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Investments and Investment (Loss) Income
Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds, governmental
securities, debt securities, and pooled/commingled funds are reported at fair value with changes in
fair value included in the (deficiency) excess of revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds, and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses.

Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the
pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and
losses, unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments

The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

12
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Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The carrying amounts of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
Instruments.

Property, plant, and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight>line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for^
leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

The fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated with asset retirements is recognized in
the period in which it is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be
made. When a liability is initially recorded, the cost of the asset retirement obligation is capitalized
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Overtime, the liability is accreted
to its present value each period and the capitalized' cost associated with the retirement is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, any
difference between the actual cost to settle the asset retirement obligation and the liability recorded
is recognized as a gain or loss in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

.Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the (deficiency) excess of revenue-over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify
how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify
how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital
assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those
capital assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated
or acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.
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Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. The Health System considers trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$8,885,000 and $9,403,000 as intangible assets as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and Indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2020, January 2021, and April 2022, the FASB issued standard updates on Reference
Rate Reform in response to the planned discontinuation of the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate
(LI60R), a key interbank reference rate. The standard provides accounting relief to contract
modifications and optional expedients for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts and other transactions
that reference LIBOR or other reference rates that are expected to be discontinued because of rate
reform. The Health Systerh is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of adoption of these
standards on the financial statements.

3. The COVID-19 Pandemic

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization designated COVID-19 as a global pandemic
resulting in an extraordinary disruption to our nation's healthcare system. In response to COVID-
19, the Coronavirus Aid Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act was enacted which provided
different types of economic support to a wide variety of organizations and individuals. The Health
System employed several CARES Act provisions, with the most significant impacts summarized
below.

Health and Human Services Provider Relief Funds

The Health System received $100,348,000 and $65,600,000 in CARES Act Provider Relief Funds
for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Health System will continue to
pursue Provider Relief Funds as available, and as needed, to support the Health System.

In July 2020, HHS issued reporting requirements for CARES Act Provider Relief Funds, requiring
recipients to identify healthcare-related expenses that remain unreimbursed by another source,
attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic. If those expenses do not exceed the funding received,
recipients will need to demonstrate that the remaining funds were used to compensate for a
negative variance in patient service revenue. HHS is entitled to recoup Provider Relief Funds
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awarded in excess of expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that were not reimbursed
by another source plus losses incurred due to the decline in patient care revenue. There have been
no recoupments through June 2022.

Medicare and Medlcald Services (CMS) Accelerated and Advance Payment Program

The Health System received CMS prepayment advances, related to the CARES Act, totaling
$245,200,000. In addition, the Health System accumulated payroll tax deferrals of $33,100,000.
Repayment of funds commenced in April 2021. The balances of CMS prepayment advances and

accumulated payroll tax deferrals at June 30. .2022 were $54,890,000 and $16,550,000,
respectively, and are included in estimated third party settlements and accrued compensation and
related beneftts on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Health System continues to address the challenges and impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic
including protecting the health and safety of employees and patients as well as assessing the
availability of personal protective equipment and other needed supplies to be better positioned for
potential surges. Additionally, the Health System continues to evaluate the impact of new or
changes to laws and regulations at the federal, state, and local levels and the potential effect on
Health System staffing and operations. At this time, the Health System cannot accurately predict
the full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will affect the Health System's future finances and
operations.

4. Net Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports net patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payers (including managed care payers and government programs), and
others; and they include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines performance obligations based on the nature of the services
provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized based on
actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a point in time when the services are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

Generally, the Health System's patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
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or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatient services
at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period.

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System's consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets.

Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions. ^

Expilcit Pricing Concesisions
Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for service. Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system (PPS) to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system (DRG), based on diagnostic, clinical, and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient procedure (APC), subject to various mandated modifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for inpatient services rendered to NH and VT Medicaid beneficiaries are based on
PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a retrospective cost basis, or fee
schedules, for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries are paid on a prospective basis
per outpatient procedure.

Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by Critical Access Hospitals (CAH)
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

Providers of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.
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Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

The Health System's cost based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,
regulations, and rule interpretations, governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

Revenues under Managed Care Plans (MOPs) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audit.
The MOPs are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill is subject to adjustments in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
MOPs following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Health System is not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer that
would materially affect its revenues for which it has not adequately provided in the accompanying
Health System's consolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System's policy is to treat amounts
qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and, as such, are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

Vermont imposes a provider tax on home health agencies in the amount of 4.25% of Vermont
annual net patient revenue. In fiscal years 2022 and 2021, home health provider taxes paid were
$627,000 and $623,000, respectively.

Implicit Price Concessions
Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, and for those who are uninsured based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The uninsured and patient responsible accounts,
net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based on
historical collection trends for similar accounts and other known factors that impact the estimation
process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally recorded as
adjustments to net patient services revenue in the period of change.

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on
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collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy is to
attempt.to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
(EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must be filed within five months of the closing
period.

Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payer,
correspondence from the payer, and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjuisted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or investigations. As of June 30, 2022
and 2021, the Health System had reserves of $134,898,000 and $252,543,000, respectively,
recorded in estimated third-party settlements. As of June 30, 2022 and 2021, estimated third-party
settlements includes $54,880,000 and $179,382,000 respectively, of Medicare accelerated and
advanced payments, received as working capital support during the novel coronavirus ("COVIO-
19") outbreak.

For the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, additional increases in revenue of $19,743,000 and
$4,287,000, respectively, were recognized due to changes in estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied in prior years.

Net operating revenues consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients
covered by Medicare, Medicaid, managed care and other health plans as well as patients covered
under the Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs.
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The table below shows the Health System's sources of total operating revenue and other support
presented at the net transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

2022

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAM Total

Hospital
Medicare $  542,292 $  99,976 $  642,268
Medicaid 158,121 15,739 173,860

Commercial 809,736 81,395 891,131
Self-pay 7,027 902 7,929

Subtotal 1,517,176 198,012 ,  1,715,188

Professional 470,559 40,186 510,745

Subtotal 1,987,735 238,198 2,225,933

Home based care 17,304

Subtotal

Other revenue

Provider Relief Funds

Total operating revenue and other support

2,243,237

528,762

98,829

$  2,870,828

2021

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAM Total

Hospital
Medicare $ 526,114 $  81,979 $  608,093
Medicaid .* 144,434 11,278 155,712

Commercial 793,274 73,388 866,662
Self-pay 4,419 (721) 3,698

Subtotal 1,468,241 165,924 1,634,165

Professional 446,181 37,935 484,116

Subtotal 1,914,422 203,859 2,118,281

Home based care 20,006

Subtotal 2,138,287

Other revenue 462,517
Provider Relief Funds 62,905

Total operating revenue and other support $  2,663,709

Medicald Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate Share Hospital
On May 22, 2018, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (Hospitals)
agreed to resolve disputed issues . and enter into a seven-year agreement to stabilize
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) payments, with provisions for alternative payments in the
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event of legislative changes to the DSH program. Under the agreement, the State committed to
make DSH payments to the Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicaid
Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds collected in each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed
payments or increased rates for Hospitals in an amount equal to 5% of MET proceeds collected
from state fiscal year (SPY) 2021 through SPY 2024. The agreement prioritizes DSH payments to
critical access hospitals in an amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care (UCC), with
the remainder distributed to Hospitals without critical access designation in proportion to their
allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately, $77,488,000 and $67,940,000, respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit
and. therefore, for the years ended June 30. 2022 and 2021. the Health System recognized as
revenue DSH receipts of approximately $75,988,000 and approximately $61,602,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Health System recorded $82,725,000 and
$72,941,000, respectively, of State of NH MET and State of VT provider taxes. The taxes are
calculated at 5.4% for NH and 6% for VT of certain patient service revenues. The Provider taxes
are included in operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in
Net Assets.

Accounts Receivable

The following table categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2022 and 2021;

2022 2021

Medicare 38% 34%

Medicaid 12% 13%

Commercial 38% 41%

Self Pay m 12%

Total 100% 100%
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5. investments

The composition of investments at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is set forth in the following table;

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Assets limited as to use

Iriternaliy designated by board
Cash and short-term investments $  31,130 $  24,692
U.S. government securities 126,222 157,373

Domestic corporate debt securities 234,490 322,616

Global debt securities 68,610 74,292

Domestic equities 198,742 247,486

Intemational equities 63,634 81,060

Emerging markets equities 34,636 52,636

Global equities 73,035 79,296
Real Estate Investment Trust 2 422

Private equity funds 138,605 110,968

-  Hedge funds 55,069 -

Subtotal 1,024,175 1,150,841

Investments held by captive insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities 27,242 26,759

Domestic corporate debt securities 7,902 5,979

Global debt securities 7,595 6,617

Domestic equities 10,091 11,396

International equities 4,692 6,488

Subtotal 57,522 57,239

Held by trustee under Indenture agreement (Note 9)
Cash and short-term investments 99,397 170,399

Total assets limited as to use 1,181,094 1,378,479

Other investments for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments 8,463 13,400
U.S. government securities 27,600 28,330

Domestic corporate debt securities 37,343 40,676

Global debt securities 10,059 8,953

Domestic equities 34,142 33,634

Intemational equities 10,698 9,497
Emerging markets equities 5,587 5,917

Global equities 11,153 8,755
Real Estate Investment Trust 19 21

Private equity funds 21,166 12,251

Hedge funds 8,852 6,557

Other 34 44

Total other investments for restricted activities 175,116 168,035

Total investments $ 1,356,210 $ 1,546,514
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case by case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in
pooled/commingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above.

The following tables summarize the Investments by the accounting method utilized as of June 30,
2022 and 2021. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those
securities accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

2022

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Eaultv Total

Cash and short-term investments $ 138,990 $ -  $ 138,990

U.S. government securities 181,064 - 181,064

Domestic corporate debt securities 118,642 161,093 279,735

Global debt securities 57,558 28,706 86,264

Domestic equities 191,767 51,208 242,975

International equities 47,631 31,393 79,024

Emerging markets equities 298 39,926 40,224

Global equities - 84,187 84,187

Real Estate Investment Trust 21 - 21

Private equity funds - 159,771 159,771

Hedge funds 443 63,478 63,921

Other 34 - 34

Total investments $ 736,448 $ 619,762 $ 1,356,210

2021

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Eaultv Total

Cash and short-term investments $ 208,491 $ -  $ 208,491

U.S. government securities 212,462 - 212,462

Domestic corporate debt securities 191,112 178,159 369,271

Global debt securities 55,472 34,390 89,862

Domestic equities 225,523 66,993 292,516

International equities 55,389 41,656 97,045

Emerging markets equities 1,888 56,665 58,553

Global equities - 88,051 88,051

Real Estate Investment Trust . 443 - 443

Private equity funds - 123,219 123,219

Hedge funds 446 6,111 6,557

Other 44 • 44

Total investments % 951,270 $ 595,244 $ 1,546,514
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For the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, investment (loss) income is reflected in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets as other
operating revenue of approximately $857,000 and $930,000, respectively, and as non-operating
(losses) gains of approximately ($78,744,000) and $203,776,000, respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the fund has fully
distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership agreements expire.
Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to contribute a specified

level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Health System
has outstanding commitments of $75,070,000 and $47,419,000, respectively.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following at June 30, 2022 and 2021;

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Land $  40,749 $  40,749

Construction in progress 163,145 80,231

Land improvements 44,834 43,927

Buildings and improvements 984,743 955,094

Equipment 1,042,582 993,899

Subtotal property, plant, and equipment 2,276,053 2,113,900

Less accumulated depreciation 1,511,213 1,433,467

Total property, plant, and equipment, net $  764,840 $  680,433

As of June 30, 2022, construction in progress primarily consists of three projects; an in-patient
tower, an emergency department (ED) expansion, and a central pharmacy/supply chain facility
renovation. The estimated cost to complete the in-patient tower is $52,400,000 with an anticipated
completion date occurring In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023. The estimated cost to complete the ED
expansion is $2,000,000 with an expected completion date occurring in the first quarter of fiscal
2023. The estimated cost to complete the central pharmacy/supply chain facility is $1,600,000 with
an expected completion date occurring in the first quarter of fiscal 2023.

The construction in progress as of June 30, 2021, included the Manchester Ambulatory Surgical
Center (ASC) and the in-patient tower in Lebanon, NH. The ASC was fully operational in October
2021.

Capitalized interest of $6,853,000 and $5,127,000 is included in construction in progress as of June
30. 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Depreciation expense included in operating and non-operating activities was $83,661,000 and
$86,011,000 for 2022 and 2021. respectively.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis;

Cash and Short*Term Investments

Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution and cash which will be used for future investment opportunities.

Domestic,. Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest In U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).

24



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that Is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2022 and 2021;

2022

Total fair value investments

Deferred compensation plan assets

582,023 154,425

Beneficial interest in trusts

Total assets

16,051

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Investments

Cash and short term investments $  138,990 $ -  $ $  138,990

U.S. government securities 181,064 '  - 181,064

Domestic corporate debt securities 1,768 116,874 118,642

Global debt securities 24,745 32,813 57,558

Domestic equities 187,063 4,704 191,767

International equities 47,631 - 47,631

Emerging market equities 298 - 298

Real estate investment trust 21 - 21

Hedge funds 443 - 443

Other - 34 34

736,448

Cash and short-term investments 8,053 8,053

U.S. government securities 36 36

Domestic corporate debt securities 10,874 10,874

Global debt securities 964 964

Domestic equities 33,742 33,742

International equities 4,911 4,911

Emerging market equities 19 19

Real estate 12 12

Multi strategy fund 57,964 57,964

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 116,575 116,575

16,051

$  698,598 $ 154,425 $ 16,051 $ 869,074
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2021

(in thousands of dollars) .  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Investments

Cash and short term investments $  208,491 $ -  $ -  $ 208,491

U.S. government securities 212,462 - - 212,462

Domestic corporate debt securities 36,163 154,949 - 191,112
Global debt securities 27,410 28,062 - 55,472

Domestic equities 220,434 5,089 - 225,523

International equities - 55,389 - -  • 55,389

Emerging market equities 1,888 - - 1,888

Real estate investment trust 443 - - 443

Hedge funds 446 - - 446

Other 9 35 - 44

Total fair value investments 763,135 188,135 - 951,270

Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 6,099 . 6,099

U.S. government securities 48 - - 48

Domestic corporate debt securities 10,589 - - 10,589

Global debt securities 1,234 - ■  - 1,234

Domestic equities 37,362 - - 37,362

International equities 5,592 - - 5,592

Emerging market equities 39 - - 39

Real estate 15 - - 15

Multi strategy fund 65,257 - - 65,257

Guaranteed contract - - - -

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 126,235 - - 126,235

Beneficial interest in trusts . - 10,796 10,796

Total assets $  889,370 $ 188,135 $ 10,796 $ 1,088,301

The following tables set forth the financial instruments classified by the Health System within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy defined above as of June 30, 2022 and 2021.

2022

Beneficial

Interest in

Perpetual
(in thousands of dollars) Trust

Beginning of year balance $ 10,796
Net realized/unrealized gains 5,255
End of year balance $ 16,051
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2021

Beneficial

Interest In

Perpetual Guaranteed

(in thousands of dollars) Trust Contract Total

Beginning of year balance $  9,202 $  92 $  9,294

Net realized/unrealized gains (losses) 1,594 (92) 1,502

End of year balance $  10,796 $ $  10,796

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

8. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30, 2022 and
2021:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Investments held in perpetuity $  84,117 S  64,498

Healthcare services 36,123 38,869

Health education 27,164 26,934

Research 27,477 24,464

Charity care 12,155 15,377

Other 8,639 7,215

Purchase of equipment 3,828 6,913

Total net assets with donor restrictions $  .199;503 $  184,270

Income earned on donor restricted net assets held in perpetuity is available for these purposes.

9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-restricted
endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments. Net
assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Trustees to
function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions.

The Health System has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System's net assets with donor restrictions, which
are to be held in perpetuity, consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in perpetuity, and (c)
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accumulations to. the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any.
Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund.

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, the income frorh certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature, either
restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any
retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met, the
funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds; the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to.provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment
funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30, 2022 and 2021.
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Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2022 and
2021:

2022

Without With

Donor Donor
(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  107,590 $ 107,590

Board-designated endowment funds 41,344 - 41,344

Total endowed net assets $  41,344 $  107,590 $ 148,934

2021

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  108,213 $ 108,213

Board-designated endowment funds 41,728 - 41,728

Total endowed net assets $ 41,728 $ 108,213 $ 149,941

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

2022

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands ot dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  41,728 $  108,213 $ 149,941

Net investment return (1,065) (3,998) (5,063)
Contributions - 12,950 12,950

Transfers 795 (7,105) (6,310)
Release of appropriated funds (114) (2,470) (2,584)

End of year balances $  41,344 $  107,590 $ 148,934

End of year balances

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts

Net assets with donor restrictions

107,590

14,903

$  122,493
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2021

(in thousands of dollars)

Beginning of year balances

Net investment return

Contributions

Transfers

Release of appropriated funds

End of year balances

Without With

Donor Donor
Restrictions Restrictions

$ $

Total

113,753

24,480

14,173

418

(2,883)

$  41,728 $ 108,213" $ 149,941

33,714

7,192

894

(72)

80,039

17,288

13,279

418

(2,811)

End of year balances
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts

Net assets with donor restrictions

108,213

9,721

$  117,934
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10. Long-Term Debt

A summary of obligated group debt at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is as follows;

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Variable rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds

Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2037 (1) $  83.355 $ 83,355

Fixed rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities

Authority Revenue Bonds
Series 2018B, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2048 (1) 303,102 303,102

Series 2020A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2) 125,000 125,000

Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2040 (3) .  122,435 122,435

Series 20178, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2031 (3) 109,800 109,800

Series 2019A, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2043 (4) 99,165 99,165

Series 2018C, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2030 (5) 23,950 24,425

Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through July 2039 (6) 22,605 23,470

Series 2014B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (7) 14,530 14,530

Series 2016B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2045 (8) 10,970 10,970

Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (7) 4,810 12,385

Note payable

Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments through May 2035 (9) 125,000 125,000

Total obligated group debt $ 1,044,722 $ 1,053,637
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is as follows;

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Other

Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;
monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%
through November 2046 $ 2,417 $ 2,489
Note payable to a financial institution with entire

principal due June 2034; collateralized by land

and building. The note payable is interest free 247 273
Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly installments through December 2024;
collateralized by associated equipment 55^ 147

Total nonobligated group debt 2,719 2,909

Total obligated group debt 1,044,722 1,053,637

Total long-term debt 1,047,441 1,056,546

Add: Original issue premium and discounts, net 83,249 86,399

Less: Current portion 6,596 9,407
Debt issuance costs, net 6,806 7,181

Total long-term debt, net $ 1,117,288 $ 1,126,357

Aggregate annual principal payments for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter.are as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022

2023 $ ■ 6,596

2024 15,207

2025 19,362

2026 . 20,209

2027 20,915

Thereafter 965,152

Total $ 1,047,441

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Debt
MHMH established the DHOG for the purpose of issuing bonds financed through NHHEFA or the
"Authority". The members of the obligated group consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC, Cheshire, NLH,
MAHHC, and, APD. D-HH is designated as the obligated group agent.

Revenue bonds, issued by members of the DHOG, are administered through notes registered in
the name of the 8ond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The

Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
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of the members of the DHOG (and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt

Service Coverage Ratio (1.10x).

(1) Series 2018A and Series 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 2018B, in February
2018. The Series 2018A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2037 and were
used primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds. The
Series 2018B revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2048, and were used
primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds, revolving line of
credit, Series 2012 bank loan, and the Series 2015A and Series 2016A swap terminations. The
interest on the Series 2018A revenue bonds is variable, with a current interest rate of 5.00%.

The interest on the Series 2018B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.18%, and
matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2020A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A, in February 2020. The Series
2020A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2059 and the proceeds are being
used primarily to fund the construction of a 212,000 square foot inpatient pavilion in Lebanon,
NH, as well as various equipment. The interest on the Series 2020A revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 5.00%.

(3) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 2017B, in December
2017. The Series 2017A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2040 and were
used primarily to refund Series 2009 and Series 2010 revenue bonds. The Series 2017B
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2031 and were used to refund Series
2012A and Series 2012B revenue bonds. The interest on the Series 2017A revenue bonds is

fixed, with ah interest rate of 5.00%. The interest on the Series 2017B revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 2.64%.

(4) Series 2019A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds. Series 2019A, in October 2019. The Series
2019A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2043 and were used primarily to
fund the construction of a 91,000 square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester, NH, to
include an Ambulatory Surgical Center as well as various equipment. The interest on the
Series 2019A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(5) Series 2018C Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C, in August 2018. The Series 2018C
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2030 and were used primarily to refinance
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the Series 2010 revenue bonds. The interest on the Series is fixed, with an interest rate of
3.22%.

(6) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, in November 2012. The Series

2012 revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2039 and were used to refund 1998
and 2009 Series revenue bonds, ftnance the settlement cost of the interest rate swap, and
finance the purchase of certain equipment and renovations. The revenue bonds have fixed

interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% (a net interest cost of 3.96%).

(7) Series 2014A and Series 20i4B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 2014B, in August 2014.
The Series 2014A revenue bonds mature in 2022. The Series 2014B revenue bonds mature at

various dates through 2033. The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B revenue bonds
were used partially to refund the Series 2009 revenue bonds and to cover cost of issuance.
Interest on the 2014A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.63%. Interest on the

Series 2014B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(8) Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B, in July 2016, through a private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 2016B revenue bonds mature at various
dates through 2045 and were used to finance certain 2016 projects. The Series 2016B is fixed,
with an interest rate of 1.78%.

(9) Note payable to financial Institution

The DHOG issued a note payable to TD Bank in May 2020. Issued in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic, the proceeds from the note will be used to fund working capital, as needs require.
The note matures at various dates through 2035 and is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.56%.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is $1,044,722
and $1,053,637, respectively.

The Health System indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of $99,397,000 and $170,399,000 at
June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets (Note 5). In addition, debt service reserves of
approximately $6,674,000 and $8,035,000 at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, are classified
as other current assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The debt service
reserves are mainly comprised of escrowed construction funds at June 30, 2022 and 2021.

For the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 interest expense on the Health System's long-term
debt is reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net
Assets as operating expense of approximately $32,113,000 and $30,787,000, respectively, and
other non-operating losses of $3,782,000 and $3,782,000, respectively, net of amounts capitalized.
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11. Employee Benefits

Eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or defined
contribution plans. In addition, certain members provide postretirement medical and life insurance

^  benefit plans to certain active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The
postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

The Health System's defined benefit plans have been frozen and, therefore, there are no remaining
participants eaming benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Health System executed the settlement of obligations, due
to retirees in the defined benefit plans, through bulk lump sum offerings or purchases of annuity
contracts. The annuity purchases follow guidelines established by the Department of Labor (DOL).
The Health System anticipates continued consideration and/or implementation of additional
settlements over the next several years.

Defined Benefit Plans

Net.periodic pension expense included in employee benefits expense, in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets, is comprised of the following components
for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021;

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2D21

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation $ 36,722 $ 36,616
Expected return on plan assets (65,917) (63,261)
Net loss amortization 13.139 14,590

Total net periodic pension expense $ (16,056) $ (12,055)

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30,
2022 and 2021;

2022 2021

Discount rates 3.30% 3.00-3.10%

Rate of increase In compensation N/A N/A
Expected long-term-rates of return on plan assets 7.50% 7.50%

35



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30. 2022 and 2021

The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System's
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2022 and 2021;

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year $  1.140.221 $ 1,209,100

Interest cost 36,722 36,616

Benefits paid (54,864) (52,134)

Actuarial loss (183,193) (22,411)

Settlements - (30,950)

Benefit obligation, end of year 938,886 1,140,221

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 958.864 929,453

Actual return on plan assets (169.405) 87.446

Benefits paid (54.864) (52,134)

Employer contributions 12.500 25,049

Settlements - (30,950)

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 747.095 958,864

Funded status of the plans (191,791) (181,357)

Less; Current portion of liability for pension - (46)

Long-term portion of liability for pension (191,791) (181,311)

Liability for pension $  (191,791) $ (181,357)

As of June 30, 2022 and 2021, the liability for pension is included in the liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included in the change in net assets
without donor restrictions include $519,946,000 and $481,073,000 of net actuarial loss as of
June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The estimated amounts to be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic
pension expense in fiscal year 2022 for net actuarial losses is $13,139,000.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans was $939,000,000 and
$1,140,000,000 at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the accumulated benefit
obligation at June 30, 2022 and 2021;

2022 2021

Discount rates 4.40-5.10% 3.30%

Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A

The primary investment objective for the defined benefit plans' assets is to support the pension

liabilities of the pension plans for employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital
appreciation and by also using a Liability Driven Investing ("LDI") strategy to partially hedge the
impact fluctuating interest rates have on the value of the pension plan's liabilities. As of June 30,
2022, it is expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 70% of the interest rate risk
associated with pension liabilities. As of June 30, 2021, the expected LDI hedge was
approximately 75%. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the pension plans utilize
a diversified structure of asset classes. The asset classes are designed to achieve stated
performance objectives, measured on a total return basis which includes income plus realized and
unrealized gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments
are as follows:

Range of

Target Target
Allocations Allocations

Cash and short-term investments 0-5% 3%

U.S. government securities 0-10 5

Domestic debt securities 20-58 42

Global debt securities 6-26 4

Domestic equities 5-35 17

International equities 5-15 7

Emerging market equities 3-13 4
Global Equities 0-10 6
Real estate investment trust funds 0-5 1

Private equity funds 0-5 0
Hedge funds 5-18 11

<

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class..
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The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as plan sponsors, oversee the design, structure, and
prudent professional management of the Health System's pension plans' assets, in accordance
with Board, approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities, and authorities and more
specifically the following:

•  Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

•  Hiring and terminating investment managers, and i
I

•  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
pension plans own interests in both private equity and hedge funds rather than in securities
underlying each fund and. therefore, the Health System generally considers such investments as
Level 3, even though the underlying securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily
marketable.

The following table sets forth the Health System's pension plans' investments and deferred
compensation plan assets that.were accounted for at fair value as of June 30, 2022^and 2021:

2022

Redemption Days'
(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Llouidation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments $ $  16,030 $ $  16,030 Daily 1

U.S. govemment securities 124,686 - ■ 124,686 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 17,530 226,107 • 243,637 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities - 24,136 - 24,136 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 104,070 31,324 - 135,394 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 15,558 20,406 - 35,964 Dally-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities • 25,487 ■ 25,487 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Global equities - 54,787 ■ 54,787 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds - • - - Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 14 14 See Note 5 See Note 5

Hedge funds - • 86,960 86,960 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $  261,844 $398,277 $ 86,974 $747,095
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2021

TotaHnvestments $ 355.225 $ 588,112 $ 15,527 $ 958,864

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Mvpl 3 Total or Liouidatlon Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments $ $ 53.763 $ $  53,763 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 52,945 - - 52,945 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 140.029 296.709 - 436,738 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities - 40,877 • 40,877 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 144,484 40,925 - 185,409 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 17,767 51,819 - 69,586 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities - 43,460 - 43,460 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Global equities - 57,230 - 57,230 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds - 3,329 - 3,329 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 15 15 See Note 5 See Note 5

Hedge funds ■ -
15,512 15,512 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

The following tables present additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

2022

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedae Funds Eaultv Funds Total

Beginning of year balances $  15,512' $  15 $ 15,527

Purchases 81,400 - 81,400

Sales (2,152) - (2,152)

Net unrealized losses (7,800) (1) (7,801)

End of year balances $  86,960 $  14 $ 86,974

2021

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedae Funds Eouitv Funds Total

Beginning of year balances $  47,351 $  17 $ 47,368

Sales (38,000) - (38,000)

Net unrealized gains (losses) 6,161 (2) 6,159

End of year balances $  15,512 $  15 $ 15,527

The total aggregate net unrealized (losses) gains included in the fair value of the Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2022 and 2021 were approximately ($543,000) and $7,635,000,
respectively. There were transfers out of Level 3 measurements during the years ended June 30,
2022 and 2021. The hedge funds' liquidation will be completed by the end of Fiscal Year 2023.

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.
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The weighted average asset allocation, by asset category, for the Health System's pension plans Is
as follows at June 30, 2022 and 2021;

2022 2021

Cash and short-term investments 2% 6%

U.S. government securities 17 5

Domestic debt securities 33 46

Global debt securities 3 4

Domestic equities 18 19

Intemational equities 5 7

Emerging market equities 3 5

Global equities 7 6

Hedge funds 12 2

Total 100 % 100 %

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical retums on the types of assets held, and the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of
7.50% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $12,500,000 to the Plans in 2023
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter;

(in thousands of dollars)

2023 $ 124,252

2024 56,264

2025 57,774

2026 59,040

2027 60,176

2028-2032 310,262

The Cheshire Medical Center plan was terminated effective June 30, 2022, pending regulatory
approvals. Following regulatory approval, the plan sponsor intends to distribute assets and settle
plan obligations through a lump sum offering to active and terminated vested participants and a
group annuity contract will be purchased for any participant that doesn't elect the lump sum, along
with all participants currently in pay status. It is anticipated that benefits will be distributed by June
30, 2023. The benefit obligation for the plan reflects anticipated disbursement costs and a terminal
cash contribution to fully fund benefits will be made at that time. The obligations reflect the cost of
providing the lump sums and group annuity, described above, as well as administrative costs and a
terminal contribution which will be necessary to fund all of the costs of terminating the plan. It is
expected that the obligations will be settled by June 30, 2023 and the plan termination liability will
reject economic conditions, lump sum election rates and annuity pricing at that time. As a result,
the final plan termination liability may be different from the amounts shown in this report.

40



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has an employer-sponsored 401(a) plan for certain of its members, under
which the employer makes base match contributions based on specified percentages of
compensation and employee deferral amounts. Total employer contributions to the plan of
approximately $64,946,000 and $60,268,000 in 2022 and 2021, respectively, are included in
employee benefits expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Changes in Net Assets.

Various 403(b) and tax-sheltered annuity plans are available to employees of the Health System.
Plan specifications vary by member and plan. No employer contributions were made to any of
these plans; in 2022 and 2021.

Postretirement Medical and Life Insurance Benefits

The Health System has postretirement medical and life insurance benefit plans covering certain of
its active and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and life insurance
benefits to certain retired employees who meet eligit}lllty requirements. The plans are not funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021;

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Service cost $ 456 $ 533

Interest cost 1,394 1,340
Net prior service income - (3,582)
Net loss amortization 752 738

Total $ 2,602 $ (971)
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The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life insurance benefit
obligation amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at June
30, 2022 and 2021:

(in thousands of dollars)

Change in benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation, beginning of year
Service cost

Interest cost

Benefits paid
Actuarial loss

Employer contributions

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year

Current portion of liability for postretirement
medical and life benefits

Long-term portion of liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits

Funded status of the plans and liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits

2022

$  46,863

456

1,394

(3,401)
(4,964)

40,315

2021

$  48,078

533

1,340

(3,439)
383

a
46,863

$  (3,500) $ (3,422)

(36,815) (43,441)

$  (40,315) $ (46,863)

As of June 30, 2022 and 2021, the liability for postretirement medical and life insurance benefits is
included in the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic income for the postretirement medical and life insurance
benefit plans, included in the change in net assets without donor restrictions, are as follows:

(In thousands of dollars)

Net actuarial loss

Total

2022

4,445

2021

9,981

$  4,445 $ 9,981

The estimated amount of net losses that will be amortized from net assets without donor

restrictions into net periodic postretirement income in fiscal year 2023 is approximately $62,000.
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The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid for the years ending June 30, 2022 and thereafter;

(in thousands of dollars)

2023 $ 3,500
2024 3,721

2025 3,725

2026 3,720

2027 3,700

2028-2032 16,820

In determining the accumulated benefit obligation for the postretirement medical and life insurance
plans, the Health System used a discount rates of 5.10% in 2022, and an assumed healthcare cost
trend rate of 7.00%, trending down to 5.00% in 2029 and thereafter.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

D-H, along with Dartmouth College, Cheshire, NLH, APD, MAHHC, and VNH are provided
professional and general liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance
Risk Retention Group, Inc. (RRG), a VT captive insurance company. RRG cedes the majority of
this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC), a captive insurance company domiciled in
Bermuda, and HAC cedes a portion of this risk to a variety of commercial reinsurers. D-H has
majority ownership interest in both hlAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to
the covered institutions, named insureds and their employees on a modified claims-made basis,
which means coverage is triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance
deposits are actuarially determined, based on asserted liability claims adjusted for future
developmerit. The reserves for outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.

Selected financial data of HAC and RRG, taken from the latest available financial statements at

June 30, 2022 and 2021, are summarized as follows:

2022

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $ 79,831 $ 2,245 $ 82,076

Shareholders' equity 13,620 50 13,670

2021

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $ 71,772 $ 3,583 $ 75,355
Shareholders' equity 13,620 50 13,670
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13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
The Health System is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. While it is not feasible to predict or determine the outcome of any of these claims,
it is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have a material effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Line of Credit

The Health System has entered into a loan agreement with a financial institution, establishing
access to revolving loans ranging from $10,000,000 up to $30,000,000. Interest is variable and
determined using the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index or the Wall Street Journal Prime
Rate. The loan agreement is due to expire March 29, 2023. There was no outstanding balance
under the line of credit as of June 30, 2022 and 2021. Interest expense was approximately
$91,000 and $28,000, respectively, and is included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations
and Changes in Net Assets.

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification in accordance with the overall
service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays all expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies
and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission that best aligns to the type of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2022;

2022

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundralsina Total

Operating expenses
Salaries $ 1,129,572 $ 184,533 $ 1,302 $ .1,315,407

Employee benefits 281,455 40,887 228 322,570

Medical supplies and medications 645,437 3,835 - 649,272

Purchased services and other 255,639 142,241 5,982 403,862

Medicaid enhancement tax 82,725 - - 82,725

Depreciation and amortization 42,227 , 44,675 56 86,958.

Interest 9,116 22,987 10 32,113

Total operating expenses $ 2,446.171 $ 439,158 $ 7,578 $ 2,892,907

Program Management

Services and General Fundralsina Total

Non*operating income

Employee benefits .  $ 12,144 $ 1,755 $ 11 $  13,910

' Total non-operating income $  12,144 $ 1,755 $ 11 $  13,910
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2021;

2021

Program 1Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services - and General Fundraisina Total

Operating expenses
Salaries $ 1,019,272 $ 164,937 $ 1,701 $ 1,185,910

Employee benefits 212,953 88,786 403 302,142

Medical supplies and medications 540,541 4,982 - 545,523

Purchased sen/ices and other 252,705 125,931 5,313 383,949

Medicaid enhancement tax 72,941 - - 72,941

Depreciation and amortization 38,945 49:943 33 88,921

Interest 8,657 22,123 7 30,787

Total operating expenses $2,146,014 $ 456,702 $ 7,457 $ 2,610,173

Program Management

Services and General Fundraisina Total

Non-operating income

Employee benefits $  9,200 $ 4,354 $ 5 $  13,559

Total non-operating income $  9,200 $ 4,354 $ 5 $  13,559

15. Liquidity

The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds ftnancial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets may not be
available for general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.
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The Health System's financial assets available at June 30, 2022 and 2021 to meet cash needs for
general expenditures within one year of June 30, 2022 and 2021, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents
Patient accounts receivable

Assets limited as to use

Other investments for restricted activities

Total financial assets

Less: Those unavailable for general expenditure
within one year:

Investments held by captive insurance companies

Investments for restricted activities

Bond proceeds held for capital projects
Other investments with liquidity horizons

greater than one year

2022

191,929

251,250

1,181,094

175,116

2021

374,928

232,161

1,378,479

168,036

$  1,799,389 $ 2,153,603

57,522

175,116

99,397

159,792

57,239

168,035

178,434

111,390

Total financial assets available within one year $ 1,307,562 $ 1,638,505

The Health System generated cash flow from operations of approximately $(123,525,000) and
$95,740,000 for'the years ended June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021, respectively. In addition, the
Health System's liquidity management plan includes investing excess daily cash in intermediate or
long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health System has an available
line of credit of up to $30,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet Its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

16. Lease Commitments

D-HH determines if an arrangement Is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. Right-of-use
assets represent our right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and our lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the'leases. Right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date, based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. The Health System uses the implicit rate noted within the contract. If
not readily available, the Health System uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is
derived using a collateralized borrowing rate, for the same currency and term, as the associated
lease. A right-of-use asset and lease liability is not recognized for leases with an initial term of 12
months or less, rather the Health System recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-
line basis, over the lease term, within lease and rental expense.

Operating leases are primarily for real estate, including certain acute care facilities, off-campus
outpatient facilities, medical office buildings, and corporate and other administrative offices. Real
estate lease agreements typically have initial terms of 5 to 10 years. These real estate leases may
include one or more options to renew, with renewals that can extend the lease term from 2 to 5

years. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the Health System's sole discretion. When
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determining the lease term, management includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it
is reasonably certain that the Health System will exercise that option.

Certain lease agreements for real estate include payments based on actual common area
maintenance expenses and/or rental payments adjusted periodically for inflation. These variable
lease payments are recognized In other occupancy costs in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Changes in Net Assets, but are not included in the right-of-use asset or liability
balances in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Lease agreements do not contain any material
residual value guarantees, restrictions, or covenants.

The components of lease expense for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 are as follows;

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating lease cost
Variable and short term lease cost (a)

Total lease and rental expense

Finance lease cost:

Depreciation of property under finance lease

Interest on debt of property under finance lease

Total finance lease cost

2022 2021

9,573

10,894

10,381

8.019

$ 20,467 $ 18,400

$ 3,345 $ 3,408

448 533

$ 3,793 $ 3,941

(a) Includes equipment, month-to-month and leases with a maturity of less than 12 months.

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021
are as follows:

(In thousands of dollars)

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Operating cash flows from finance leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases

Total

2022

9,952

448

3,255

2021

10,611

533

3,108

13,655 $ 14,252
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of June 30, 2022 and 2021 are as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating Leases
Right-of-use assets • operating leases
Accumulated amohization

2022 2021

61,165 $ 51,410

Right-of-use assets - operating leases, net 39,943 36,230

Current portion of right-of-use obligations 8,314 , 8,038

Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 32,207 28,686

Total operating lease liabilities 40,521 36,724

Finance Leases

Right-of-use assets - finance leases 27,963 27.940

Accumulated depreciation (8,981) ■ (5,760)

Right-of-use assets - finance leases, net 18,982 22,180

Current portion of right-of-use obligations 3,005 3,251

Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 16,617 19,481

Total finance lease liabilities $ 19,622 $ 22,732

Weighted Average remaining lease term, years
Operating leases 7.73 6.75

Finance leases 19.77 18.73

Weighted Average discount rate
Operating leases
Finance leases

2.24%

2.17%

2.12%

2.14%

The System obtained $8.9 million and $0.1 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2022.

The System obtained $7.6 million and $2.1 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2021.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

Future maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2022 are as follows;

(in thousands of dollars) Operating Leases Finance Leases

Year ending June 30:
2023 $ 9.121 $ 3,395

2024 7,971 2,297

2025 5,083 1,261

2026 3,750 882

2027 3,357 800

Thereafter 15,096 15,713

Total lease payments 44,378 24,348

Less: Imputed interest 3,857 4,726

Total lease obligations $ 40,521 $ 19,622

17. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 16, 2022,
the date the audited consolidated financial statements were Issued, and has concluded that there

were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or
disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2022

Oartntouth- ChaaMre Alee Peek New London lllAseutnay OH OWigfted An Other Neiv HoaKh

Hitehcock Dsrtmoultv Uadlcal Day Hospital Heapitai tttd Group ObHg Group System
(inthousands otdotan) Health HItchceek Center Memertil Assoclttien Health Center Shrdrratfons Subtotal AfTiHatos idmlnatlom Consolidatod

Aksati

Current assets

Cash and cash equrvelents %  2.056 S 66,827 $ 20.185 1 38.416 S  28.467 $  11.327 S - S 167.256 S  24,671 S . 5 191.929
Patient accounts receimxa. net • 206,400 18.106 6.817 9.175 5.360 . 246,858 2,392 . 251.250
Prepaid e:9>enses and other aarenl assets 23.set 161.282 19.580 3.522 4.452 1.472 (31.1191 182.730 (11.3721 (2.225) 169.133

Total currertt assets 25.617 434.469 57.851 51,755 42.094 18,159 (31.119) 598,846 15.691 (2.225) 612.312

Assets Umitad as to use 301.000 858,919 12.665 14.680 16.005 25.753 (98,846) 1.130.174 50.920 1.181,094
Notes recetMble, related party 842.052 11.557 - 603 - . (853,609) 803 (803) .

Other irts^stments far restricted actMties 490. 118.082 16.422 727 3.925 6.846 . 146.492 28.624 175,116
Property, plant and equipmem, rtet - 585,064 63,067 24,757 45.973 15.526 • 734.387 30.453 764,640
Right-of^rse assets, net 1.362 35,321 1.830 14.892 166 5.249 . 58.820 105 58.925
Other assets 681 146.516 1.187 14.391 6.573 4.983 174.331 (2.168) 172.163

Total assets $  1.171.202 S 2.189.946 S 153.022 S 122.005 S  114.736 $  76,516 $ (963,576) t 2.643.853 S  122.622 S (2.225) % 2,964.450

Liabilities and Nat Assets

Current iabif ties

Current portion of long-lerm debt S s 4.810 S 865 % 800 %  23 S S . » 6.498 S  98 $ . % 6.596
Current portion of riohV«s<rse otrCpations 559 8.514 689 852 172 473 11.259 60 . 11,319
Current portion of iaMtty for pertsion and .

other postretirement plan bertefts - 3,500 . - - - . 3.500 . . 3,500
Accounts payable arrd accrued erqreraes 147,626 100,110 16.607 4.883 4.843 8.693 (129,967) 152.795 6,002 (2.225) 156,572
Accrued compensation and rdated beneftts . 169,194 6.817 4.431 4,507 4.434 189.383 1.177 190,560
Ettknated third-party settlements 3.002 66.876 22.999 17.488 21,886 647 134.898 . . 134.898

Total aarent Kabltties 151,187 355.004 47.977 28.454 31.431 14.247 (129,967) 498.333 7.337 (2.225) 503.445

Notes payable, relatod party . 808.602 . . 27.437 17,570 (653.609) . . . .

Lon(Herm debt exdudirto current portion 1.044.845 25,084 21.667 23,060 32 (110) . 1.114,778 2.510 . 1.117,288
RighMf-use obligations, exdudirrg current portion 803 27,359 1.233 14.499 - 4.885 . 48,779 45 . 46,624
IraurarKe deposits and related labilities - 76,678 623 373 401 250 - 78.325 66 . 78,391
LiabCty for pertsion and other postretirement .

plan berraHts, exduding current portion - 220,350 7.774 - - 481 . 228.605 1 . 228.606
Other liabilities • 129,092 1.109 300 1.749 . - 132,250 21.846 . 154.096

Total liabilities 1,196.835 1.642.169 80.563 66.666 61.050 37.323 (983.578) 2.101.070 31.805 (2.225) 2,130.650

Commltmerrts and contlngendes

Net assets

Net assets vdthout donor restrictions (25,638) 418.255 53.646 54.590 48.974 31.078 . 560,905 53,352 40 634,297
Net assets with donor restrictiorts 5 129.524 " 18.793 729 4.712 8.115 161.078 37.665 (40) 199.503

Total net assets 125.6331 547.779 72.439 55.319 53.688 39.183 742.783 91.017 833.600

Total iabibties artd net assets $  1.171,202 s 2.189.948 s 153.022 i 122.005 S  114.736 S  76.516 s (983.576) s 2.843.653 S  122.822 s (2,225) 2.964.450
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30. 2022

D-HH Heatth

and Other D-Hand Cheshire and MAHHC and APOand VNH and System
(in thousands of doBars) Subsidiaries Sutisidlariea Subsidiaries NLH Sutisidiarles Subsidiarv Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

ASMtS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivatents S 2.056 i 68,075 i  32,500 $ 28,467 S 11.631 S 47,894 S 1,306 $ . 3 191,929

Patient accounts receivable, net - 206,400 18,106 9,175 5.431 9,817 2,321 - 251.250

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 23.561 161,508 8,296 4,452 1.499 2,678 483 (33,344) 169,133

Total current assets 25.617 435.983 58.902 42,094 18,561 60,389 4.110 (33.344) 612,312

Assets limited as to use 301.000 884,007 13,183 16,005 26.979 14,680 24,088 (98,848) 1,181,094

Notes receivable, related party B42.052 11.557 . . . . . (853,609) .

Other investments for restricted activities 490 125,614 37.124 3,925 6,846 1,031 66 . 175,116
Property, plant, and equipment, net . 587,739 66,385 45,973 16,947 42,436 5,360 . 764.840

Right-of-use assets, net 1.362 35,321 1.830 166 5,248 14,892 106 . 58.925
Other assets 681 146,699 8.318 8,573 2,526 7.292 76 . 172.163

Total assets s 1,171.202 i 2.226.920 S  185,740 i 114,736 i 77,107 S 140.720 $ 33.826 S (985,801) 3 2.964,450

LlabiUtles and Net Assets

Current liabiBties

Current portion of long-tenn debt % - s 4.810 %  665 i 23 i 26 i 800 $ 72 3 . 3 6,596
Current portion of right^use obligations 559 8,514 689 172 472 852 61 . 11,319

Current portion of liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits - 3,500 ■ - - - - - 3,500

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 147.626. 100,617 16.726 4,843 8,831 5.481 4.640 (132,192) 156,572

Accrued compensation and related b&refits ■ 169.194 8,817 4.507 4,490 4,735 817 . 190,560
Estimated tNrd-party settlements 3.002 68,676 22.999 21.886 647 17,488 . . 134,898

Total cunent liabilities 151.187 355,511 48.096 31,431 14,466 29,356 5.590 (132,192) 503,445

Notes payable, related party - 608.602 . 27.437 17,570 . . (853,609) .

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1.044,845 25,084 21.867 32 110 23,005 2,345 - 1.117,288

Right-of-use obligatiorrs, excluding current portion 603 27,359 1.233 - 4,885 14,499 45 . 48,824
Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 76,678 623 401 250 373 66 - 78,391

Liability for person and other postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion - 220,350 7.774 - 482 • - . 228,606
Other liabilities - 129.092 1,109 1,749 . 22,146 . . 154,096

Totd liabilities 1.196,835 1,642,676 80,702 61,050 37,763 89.379 8,046 (985,801) 2.130,650

Commitments artd contirrgertties

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (25,638) 447,013 56,674 48,974 31.231 50,308 25,695 40 634.297

Net assets with donor restrictions 5 137,231 48,364 4.712 8,113 1,033 85 (40) 199,503

Total net assets (25.633) 584,244 105.038 53,686 39.344 51,341 25,780 833,800

Total liabilities and net assets s 1,171,202 s 2.226,920 i  165,740 s 114,736 s 77.107 s 140,720 S 33,826 i (985,801) 3 2.964.450
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2021

Oartmoutlw Cheshire Alice Peek New London ML AseutiMy OH OMIgated An Other Non- Heatth

HKeheoek Dartmeulh- kledlcil Day Hospital Hospital and Group Obilg Group System

(in thousands of dolais) Health Hltehceck Center Memorial Asseeiatien Health Center ERminatloits Subtotal Affiliates Ellminatlom Coitsofldated

AM«tS

Current assets

Cash arx] cash equrvalents S 1.826 S 226,779 i 35,146 S 41,371 $  26,814 i  18,350 $ - 6 350,286 i 24,642 S • S 374,928

Patient accounts racervable. net . 166,350 13,238 8,779 6,699 6,522 • 229,588 2,573 - 232,161

Prepaid atqjenses and other cunent assets 23.267 151,336 20,932 2,012 4,771 1.793 (35,942) 168,169 (10,634) (217) 157,318

Total current assets 25.093 574.465 69,316 50.162 38,284 26,665 (35,942) 748,043 16.581 (217) 764,407

Assets Urrtited as to use 380,020 1,039,327 19,016 15,480 16,725 20,195 (169,849) 1,320,914 57,565 - 1,378,479

Notes recehrabla, related party 845,157 11,769 . 1,010 - - (656,926) 1,010 (1,010) - -

Other Investments tor restricted actMties 248 111.209 12,212 1,128 4,266 7,699 136,762 31,273 - 168,035

Property, ptant. artd aqiapment net . 501.640 64,101 " 22,623 47,232 15,403 650,999 29,434 - 680,433

Right^fHise assets 1,233 32,343 2,366 16,104 360 5,819 • 56,255 155 - .  58,410

Other assets 2,431 146.226 1,315 14,380 7,282 5,172 - 176,806 292 - 177,098

Total assets i 1,254,182 i 2.416.979 S 168,356 $ 120,687 $  114.149 S  60,953 S (1,062,717) S 3,092,789 s 134,290 $ (217) S 3,226.862

UabOmas artd Nat Assats

Currertt BabUtties

Current pcrtidn of long-term detrt S - $ 7,575 t 665 $ 777 S  91 J 5 » 9,308 s 99 S - s 9,407

Current portion of right-oUise obHgaliana 354 8,369 656 1.078 197 550 - 11.204 85 - 11,289

Current portion of liabiity tor peraion artd •

other postretiremem plan benefits - 3,468 - - - • 3.468 • - 3,468

Accounts payttle and accrued experises 207.566 99,374 11,911 2,455 4,968 5,656 .  (205,791) 126,341 5,100 (217) 131,224

Accrued compensation arxl related benefits . 156.073 6,648 5,706 4,407 5,343 - 160,177 1,693 - 182,070

Estimated third-party setttemerrts . 160,410 31,226 27,006 26,902 6,230 - 251,774 769 - 252,543

Total current Eatrlities 207.920 435,269 53,306 37,022 . - 36,565 17,981 (205,791) 582,272 7,946 (217) 590.001

Notes payable, related party . 811,563 - . 27,793 17,570 (656,926) . - - .

Lorrg-term debt, excluding currertt portion 1.047.659 29,646 22,753 23.558 55 (115) - 1,123,756 2,601 - 1,126,357

Right-of-usa obligalions. excluding current portion 879 24,463 1,876 15,351 172 5,357 - 46,098 69 - 48,167

Insurance deposits and related labilities - 78,528 475 325 388 218 - 79,934 40 79,974

Liabiity for perrsion artd other postretirement -

plan benefits, excluding current portion - 218,955 5,286 - - 511 - 224,752 • - 224,752

Other liabilities . 179.497 4.224 4,534 4,142 • - 192.397 22,317 - 214,714

Total liabilities 1,256.458 i.n8.i2i 87.920 80,790 69,115 41.522 (1,062,717) 2.251,209 32,973 (217) 2,283,965

Commitments and contingefrdes

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions P,524) 526,153 65.224 38,969 39,557 29,636 697,217 61,370 40 758,627

Net assets with dorror restrictions 248 112.705 15,212 1,128 5,477 9,593 144.363 39,947 (40) 184,270

Total net assets (2.276) 638,858 80,436 40,097 • 45,034 39,431 841,560 101,317 942,897

Total labilities and net assets S 1,254,182 S 2,416,979 i 168,356 S 120,887 J  114,149 S  80,953 S (1,062,717) $ 3,092,789 s 134,290 s (217) s 3,226,862
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2021

D-KH Health

and Other D-Hand Cheshire and NLH and MAKHC and APD and VNH and System
fin thousands of doRars} Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiarv SulKldlaries Eiimlnatlona Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $  1.826 S  227.402 S  44.165 S  26.814 S  18,609 $ 50.451 i  5.661 S i  374,928

Patient accounts receivatile. net . 196.350 13.238 6.699 6,620 6.779 2,475 •  . 232,161

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 23.267 151.677 10.195 4.771 1,808 1.418 341 (36,159) 157,318

Total cunent assets 25.093 575.429 67,598 38.284 27,037 58.648 8,477 (36,159) 764,407

Assets limited as to use 380.020 1.066.781 20.459 16.725 21,533 15.480 27.330 (169,849) 1,378,479

Notes recehraMe, related party 845.157 11.769 . - - - - (856,926) -

Other investments for restricted activities 246 119.371 34.921 4,266 7,698 1,501 30 - 168,035

Property, plant, and equipment, net . 504.315 67.543 47.232 16,932 41.218 3,193 - 680,433

Right-ofHJse assets, net 1.233 32.343 ■  2.396 360 5,820 16.104 154 . 58,410

Other assets 2.431 146.408 10.286 7.282 2.715 7.534 442 . 177.098

Total assets $  1.254.182 $  2.456.416 $  203,203 i  114.149 S  81.735 $ 140,485 $  39,626 i  (1.062,934) S  3,226,862

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current Uabilities

Current portion of long-term debt S $  7,575 S  865 $  91 $  26 $ 777 $  73 $ 1  9.407
Current portion of right-of-use obligations 354 8,369 656 197 550 1,078 85 - 11,289

Current portion of liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits

- 3,468 • - - - - - 3.468

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 207.566 99,682 12.032 4,968 5.983 2.920 4.081 (206,008) 131.224

Accmed compensation and related benefits - 156,073 8.648 4,407 5.385 6.116 1.441 - 182.070

Estimated third-paty settlements 160,410 31.228 26.902 6.231 27.006 768 2S2.S43

Totai current liabilities 207,920 435,577 53,427 36,565 18,175 37,897 6,448 (206,008) 590,001

Notes payable, related party . 811.563 . 27,793 17,570 . . (856,926)
Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1,047,659 29,846 22,753 55 131 23,496 2,417 . 1.126,357

Right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 679 24,463 1,876 172 5.357 15,351 69 - 48,167

Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 78,528 476 388 218 325 39 . 79,974

Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion • 218,955 5.286 • 511 - • - 224,752

Other Kabililies . 179,497 4,223 4,142 . 26,852 . - 214,714

Totai liabilities 1.256,458 1.778,429 88,041 69,115 41.962 103,921 8,973 (1,062.9341 2.283.965

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions • (2,524) 557,101 68,586 39,557 30.181 35,063 30.623 40 758.627

Net assets with donor restrictions 248 120,886 46,576 5,477 9.592 1.501 30 (40) 184.270

Total net assets (2,276) 677,987 115,162 45,034 39,773 36,564 30.653 942,697

Total liaUities and net assets S 1,254,182 S 2,456.416 $ 203.203 S 114,149 S 81,735 $ 140,485 $ 39.626 $  (1,062,934) S 3,226.862
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2022 ^'

Dartmouth- Cfteshirs Alice Peek New London ML Aseutney OH ObSgatsd Al Other Non- Health

HIteheoeli' Oertmeutff Usdical Day KospitsI Hospital snd Group OMIg Croup System
fti Ittoosands ofdoiarz) Heetth Httcfteoek Center Msmerlal Assoeistion HasIth Center Blminatiens $ubteta| Amiistss BIminstiens Conselidctsd

Opanting rvMitu* and othar support ••

PstMrn sofvico ravonuo S S  1,751,093 S  236,645 S  99,403 S  79,754 S  59,040 S S  2,225.935 S  17,302 8 $  2,243,237
Contractsd rpvonua 209 133,928 165 21 22 3.521 (60,573) 77.293 458 (85) 77,666
Other operstino rovofHM 38,568 492,455 23,736 4,146 7,527 2,754 (50.711) 518,475 18,731 (1.175) 534,031
Net assets released from restrictions 249 13.299 779 435 190 204 - 15.156 738 15.894

Total operating revenue and other st^ipon 39.026 2,390.775 261,325 104.005 87.493 65,519 (111.284) 2.836.659 35,229 (1.260) 2.870.628

Operating expenses
Salaries

- 1,091,601 135,083 43,266 ' 40,219 28,960 (45,229) 1,293,900 20,422 1.085 1.315,407
Employee tiertefits - 266.795 31,761 10,302 7.537 8,240 (5.842) 318,793 3,514 263 322.570
Medicstions end medical supplies - 578,581 43,203 12,266 9,946 4,127 648,123 1,149 . 649.272
Purchesed services end other 25,638 312,373 42,723 • 15,951 13,068 17,383 (32.862) 394,274 11,398 (1.810) 403.862
Medicaid enhancement tax - 64,036 9,468 3,980 2,834 2,407 . 82,725 . . 82,725
Depreaation and amortization - 64,643 8,771 3,519 4.819 2.359 84.111 2,847 . 86.958
Interest 32,536 25,365 914 876 1.073 493 (29,530) 31.727 386 . 32.113

Total operating ei^enses 58.174 2.403.394 271,923 90,160 79.496 63,969 (113.463) 2.853.653 39,716 (462) 2.892.907

Operating (loss) margin (19.148) (12.619) (10,598) 13.845 7.997 1.550 2.179 (16,794) (4.487) (798) (22.079)

Nen^peratlng (losses) gains
Investment losses, net (8,026) (58,973) (2.068) (795) (1,114) (1.555) (210) (72.741) (6,003) (78,744)
Other components of net periodic pension snd post
retirement lierteftt income - 11,902 2,008 • - 13,910 . 13,910

Other (tosses) ncome, net (3.540) (1.641) (542) - 1 169 (1.969) (7.522) 66 798 (6.656)

Total non-operating (tosses) gains, net (11.566) (48.712) (602) (795) (1,113) (1.386) (2.179) (66.3531 (5.937) 798 (71.4921

(Oeficiancy) excess of revenue over expenses (30,714) (61,331) (11.200) 13,050 6,884 164 (63.147) (10.424) - (93,571)

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for caprtal 678 52 . 460 233 . 1.423 150 . 1,573
Change in funded status of pension and otfier
poslielirement benefits (27,860) (4,496) - 48 . (32.308) (1) . (32.309)
Net assets transferred to (from) afiilistes 7,600 (19.385) 4,066 2,571 2,096 795 - (2.257) 2,257 . .

Other chartges In net assets - • - '  (23) . (231 . . (23)

(Decrease) Increase In net assets wtfwut donor
restrictions %  (23,114) S  (107,698) S  (11,578) %  15.621 i  9,417 5  1.240 S i  (116.312) t  (8,018) S 8  (124.330)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Dartmouth- Hearth

Hitchcock D-Hand Cheshire and MAHHC and APD and VNH ar>d System
On thousands a! dollats) Health Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH Subsidiaries Sulaldiarv Sutnidlarles Eliminations Consolidated

Opertting revenue end other support
Patient service revenue $ S  1,751,093 S  238.645 S 79,754 i  59,041 S  99.403 $  17,301 i S  2,243,237

Contracted revenue 209 134.388 165 21 3,521 21 - (60,659) 77,666

Other operating revenue 38,568 494,383 23,794 7,527 4,370 14,587 2,708 (51,686) 534,031

Net assets released from restrictions 249 13,873 821 190 204 548 9 - 15,894

Total operating revenue and other support 39,026 2,393,717 261,425 87,492 67,136 114,559 20,018 (112.545) 2.870.828

Operating expenses
Salanes - 1,091,601 135,116 40,219 29,729 47,352 15,534 (44,144) 1,315,407

Employee benefits - 266,795 31,770 7,537 * 8,361 11,169 2,517 (5,579) 322,570

Medications and medical supplies . 578,581 43,203 9,948 4,126 12,297 1,123 (4) 649,272

Purchased serMces and other 25.638 315,589 42,938 13,067 18,072 16,915 4,313 (34,670) 403,862

Medicaid enhancement tax 64,036 9,469 2,634 2,406 3,880 - - 82,725

Depredation and amortization : 64,643 8,695 4,819 2,483 5,595 523 . 86,958

Interest 32.536 25,365 914 1,073 493 1,204 58 (29.530) 32.113

Total operating expenses 58.174 2,406,610 272,305 79,495 65.670 100,512 24.068 (113,927) 2.892.907

Operatirrg (loss) margin (19.148) (12,893) (10,680) 7,997 1.466 14,047 (4.050) 1,382 (22.079)

NonK>perating (losses) gains
Investment losses, net (8.026) (61,039) (2,163) (1,114) (1,883) (1,373) (3.155) (211) (78,744)
Other components at net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income . 11,902 2.008 - -  . - • 13,910

Other (losses) income, net (3.540) (1.641) (542) - 1 179 - 56 (1.171) (6.658)

Total non-operating losses, net (11.566) (50,778) (697) (1.113) (1,484) (1,373) (3,099) (1.382) (71,492)

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (30.714) (63,671) (11.577) ' 6,884 (18) 12,674 (7,149)
-

(93,571)

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital . 834 53 460 226 - . . 1,573

Change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits - (27,880) (4.496) - 47 • - - (32,309)
Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates 7.600 (19,391) 4,108 2,096 795 2,571 2,221 . .

Other changes in net assets - - • (23) - - • • - (23)

(Decrease) increase in net assets Mthout donor
restrictions S  (23,114) S  (110,086) S  (11.912) S 9,417 $  1.050 S  15.245 $  (4,928) s $  (124,330)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2021

Oertmouttv Cheshire AJIee Peek New Lortdon lit Aacutney OH Obligated All Other Nen- Health

Httehcdek Dertmouttw Uedlesj Dty HespKal Hoapttaf and Qreup OUIg Group Syetem

fin OtoiisaoOso/Mats) Heetth Hiteheoek Center Memortal Asseefatien Health Centar EBmlnttlens Subtetel Afmietes Ellmlnftlens ConsolWated

Opanting twwiu* and oOtar tuppert
Patient Mfvica ravenue S S  1,683,812 S  230,810 S  62,373 S  61,814 5  59,686 S S  2,118,295 5  19,992 S • %  2,138,287

ContraOed revenue 7,266 129,880 379 - 162 2,963 (55,753) 84,897 380 •  (14) 65,263
Other opereting revenue 29,764 404,547 6,775 1,905 4,370 1,175 (37,287) 411,269 15,490 (1,801) 424,958
Net assets releesed tram restrictians 197 12.831 1.182 61 . 200 201 • 14,472 729 - 15.201

Total operetinQ revenue and other support 37,247 2.230.070 239.148 84.339 66.546 64.025 (93.040) 2.628.933 36.591 (1.815) 2.663.709

Operating eapenaee
Salaries - 988.595 118.678 40,567 33,611 29,119 (42,565) 1,166,005 16.800 1,105 1,185,910

Employee benetlts - 251.774 29.984 7,141 6.550 7,068 (5,159) 297,958 3,877 X7 302,142
Medcatione and medical supples - 481,883 41,869 9,776 7,604 3,275 (65) 544.102 1.421 • 545,523
Purchased services and other 19,503 291,384 33,737 12,396 16,591 14,884 (18,065) 370,410 15,395 (1.656) 383,949
Medlcaid erdtancemettl tax • 57,312 8,315 3,075 2,523 1,718 • • 72,941 - - 72,941
Depredation artd amortizBtion 10 07,868 8,623 3,366 4,364 2,617 86,846 2,275 - 68,921

Interest 32.324 24.156 938 875 1.077 510 (29,495) 30.365 402 - 30 787

Total operating expenses 51.837 2.162.732 241.942 77,196 72.320 59.789 (95.369) 2.570.447 40.170 (444) 2.810.173

Operating (loss) mergin (14.590) 67.936 (2.796) 7.143 (5.774) 4.238 2.329 58.486 (3.5791 (1.371) 53 536

Non-eperaMrtg gains (losses)
InvestmerS irteome (losses), net 1,223 172,481 3,546 2.495 4,506 3.875 (137) 187.969 15.807 . 203.778

Other components of net periodic pertsion and post
retiretrtent tieneftt tncome • 13,028 547 - - (16) 13,559 - 13.559

Other (losses) Income, net (3.540) (653) (332) . 2 194 (2.192) (6.521) 917 1.371 (4.233)

Total noTHtpereting (losses) gains, net (2,317) 184.836 3.761 2.495 4.508 4.053 (2.329) 195.007 16.724 1.371 213.102

(Deficiency) excess of teverxM over expertses (16.907) 252,774 965 9,638 (1.266) 8,289 253.493 13,145
-

266.638

Net assets srithoui donor restrictions

Net assets released frem restrictions for capital 1,076 600 • 108 224 2,006 9 - 2.017
Chartge in hjnded status of pensian and ottier
postretlrement berteflts - 43,047 18,007 - - 78 59,132 59.132
Net assets transferred lo (from) afSliates 8,659 (13,548) (42) - 4,557 • (174) 174 - .

Other cTtanges in net assets . (20) (35) (120) - - - (175) (11) (186)

(Deereese) increase in net assets vMttKxa domr
restrictions 8  (8.048) S  283,329 8  17,495 S  9,518 5  3,399 S  8,591 S S  314,284 5  13,317 s

•
S  327,601
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2021

D-HH Health

and Other D-N and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and APD and VNH and System
fm thousanOs ofdollars) Suttsldliries Subsidiaries Sutnidlaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subshflarv Sulnidlaries Eliminations Consolidated

Oparating revtnua and other aupport
Patient service revenue $ S  1,683,612 $ 230,810 8  61,614 8  59,672 8  82,373 8  20,006 8 • 8  2,138,287

Contracted revenue 7,266 130,261 379 161 2,963 - • (55,767) 85,263

Other operaSng revenue 29.764 406,911 6,862 4,370 2,839 11,997 1,283 (39,088) 424,958

Net assets released from restrictions 197 13,290 1,196 199 201 118 • - 15,201

. Total operating revenue and other support 37,247 2,234,074 239,247 66,544 65,675 94,488 21,289 (94.855) 2,663.709

Operating expenses
Salaries - 988,595 118,711 33,611 29,986 44.240 12,227 (41.460) 1,185,910

Employee t>enefits - 251,774 29,994 6,550 7,820 7,884 2,972 (4.852) 302,142

Medicatiorrs and mecfical suppBes - 481,863 - 41,669 7,604 3,270 9,784 1,418 (85) 545,523

Purchased serMces and other 19,505 294,228 33,912 16,589 15,395 15,455 8,788 (19,921) 383,949

Medlcaid enhancement tax - 57,312 8,315 2,523 1,716 3,075 - - 72,941

Depredation artd amortization 10 67,666 8,752 4,364 2.741 5,003 385 - 88,921

Interest 32,324 24,158 936 1,077 510 1,217 60 (29.495) 30,787

Total operating expenses 51,839 2.165,596 242.289 72,318 61,438 86,658 25,848 (95.813) 2,610,173

Operating (loss) margin (14,592) 68,478 (3.042) (5.774) 4.237 7,830 (4.559) 958 53,536

Non-operating gains (losses)

Investment mcome (losses), net 1,223 179,357 6,317 4,506 4,066 2,472 5,972 (137) 203,776

Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement t>et>efit Irtcome - 13,028 547 - (16) - - - 13,559

Other (tosses) ir>come. r>et (3,540) (653) (346) 2 207 • 918 (821) (4.233)

Total non-operating (tosses) gains, net (2.317) 191,732 6,518 4,508 4,257 2,472 6,890 (958) 213,102

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over eiqienses (16.909) 260,210 3,476 (1,266) 8,494 10,302 2,331 266,638

Net assets without donor rsstrktions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital - 1,085 600 108' 224 - - - 2,017

Change in funded status of pension and other

postretiremeni t>enefrt$ • 43,047 16,007 • 78 - - - 59,132

Net assets transfened to (from) affiliates 8,859 (13,548) • 4,557 - - 132 • -

Other changes in net assets - (20) (46) . - (120) - . (186)

(Deaease) increase in net assets vatftout donor

restrictions $  (8,050) 8  290,774 $ 20,037 8  3.399 8  8.796 8  10.182 8  2,463 8
- 8  327,601
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Note to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2022 and 2021

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor
restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
between D-HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented
is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
The consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.

59



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Fsdtral Pregnm

ResMtcli and Oavetopmont Ouster
Dapaitment of Oehnas

Airitfanee Utfng

Number

Award NumberfPaaMhreugh
Idendflcadon Ntimber

Hstiorval Guard Military Operations and Malntenarvca (O&M) Projects 1Z401 WB1XWHie20076

Military Mardcal Research and Deveiopmerf 12.420 weiXWH1810712
Military Medical Research and Deveiopmanl 11420 W81XWH2110279
Military Medical Research and Devetapmem 11420 W61)«An42110889
Military Medical Research and Oeveiopmeni 11420 WB1X1VH2010316

Military Medical Research and Davelopmeni 11420 W61»WH2010330

StMotal 12.420

Conoresstartdly Directed Assistance

Total Department of Defense

Department of Labor
Disability Emptaymeni Pedcy Dmelopmerl
Disability Emplt^erri Pobcy Development

Subtotal 17,720

Total Departmam of Labor

Department of HeaWi and Human Services

Irviovetions in Applied PiMic Healtti Research
Family Smoking Prevention
Canters tor Research and Demonatretion tor Health Promotion

and Disease Prevention

Centers tor Raseareh end Demonstration tor Haalth Promotion

and Disease Prevention

Subtotal 93.135

Research Related to Dealnese and Communication Disorders

Research Relatad to Oeatms and Communication Oiaotders

Subtotfe 93.173

Research and Training in Complementary
Research and Treiring In Complementary
Resaamh and Training in Compiementary
Research and Training in Ccmplemersary
Research and Training in Complemantary
Research and Tteinino in Complementary

Subtotal 93.213

Research on Healthcare Costs, Quality and Outcomes
Research on Heallhcare Costs, Quality and Outcomes
Research on Haaiaicare Costs, Quality and Outcomes

SiMotal 93,226

and kntagrmive Health
and Intagretive Health
and jntegfitiva Health
and jrcsgrativa Health
and knegretiva Health
and Imegrstive Health

Mental

Mental

Mental

Mental

Mental

Mental

Mental

Health

Health

Haalth

Health

Heahh

Health

Health

Research Grants

Research (Grants

Research Grants

Research Grants

Research Grants

Research Grants

Research Grants

17.720

17.720

93.061

63.077

93.135

93.135

93.173

93,173

63.213

93.213

93.213

93.213

93,213

93.213

93,228-

93.226

93.226

93.242

93.242

93.242

93.242

93.242

93.242

93.242

1947RTN01

1947RTN2-02

1 R01 TS00Q2B8

lR21HL16175e^1

OSP33064^

A4178Ce

1R210C018147-01A1

R1294

1 G26RH40088-01-00

12274

A03-4466

R1187

R1349

R15AT010035

41610.04.21

01063641

R154S

1K01MH117496-01A1

1R21MH124674-01A1

1K06MH117347-01A1

1R25MH11905D01

235886

1R34MH124951'0r
4500002925

Funding
Source

Oiraci

Dlract

Oiraci

Oiract

Dlract

Direct

Pass-Through
Pass-Through

Direct

Direct

Pass-Through

Pass-Thnugh

Direct

Pass-Threugh

Oiract

Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Through
PasvThrough
Pass-Through

Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Through

Direct

Direct

Direa

Direct

Pass-Through
Direct

Pass-Through

AmmintPii

PatMhrcugh
Entity

Pass-Throufpi Trustees of Dartmouth Coflaga

Vermont Department of Labor
Vermont Departmant ol Labor

Unrvorsity Of Massachusetts Mad School

Emory University

Trustees of Oartmouih College

Palm or Codega of CNnoptacUc
Duka Unrversity
Trustees of Dertmoulh College
Trustees of Dertmoulh College
Southern Calilomia University of Hefeth

Nati Bureau of Economic Research

Bath Israel Deaconess Madicfe Center

Trustees of Dertmoulh Codege

Massachusetts Generfe Hospital

Boston UriversitY

Total Through to
Expendlturss Subredplants

5  630.762 S  329,899
69.187 62,616
198.356 .

103.023 1,716
319.688 144,604

94.452 .

784.708 208,940

110.051 .

1,525,549 538,839

319,138

1,338,713 .

1,657,851

1,657.851

431,998 i97,en
78,809 5,135

53,977.
-

233,109 .

287,088

138,742 110,584
16,770

155,512 110,584

155,406

32,705

69.908 .

11,944 .

14,634 .

2,307 2,307

307,107 2,307

9,798 .

-  73,903 .

28,206

111,907

141,066 6,966

143,635 39,067

167,448 .

217,529 .

2,404 .

236,280 23,651

TTie accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integ ral part of the Schedule.

60



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Amount Pseead

Aadttarvce Lifting Award NumberlPa»4hreugh Fundlttg PasMhreugh Total Through lo
F»d«rtl Frogram Number Mentiflcatien Ntimber ^ Setirca Entity Expervditures Sutwedpients

Mental HeeRh Research Gnnts 93.242 4500003586 Pess-Through Boston Urtversity 117,911
Mental Health Research Grants 93.242 6K23MH116367-02 Direct 166,351 .

Mental Heallh Research Grants 93.242 6R01MH110geS Direct 151,772 108,435
Merual Heallh Research Grants 93.242 6T32MH073553.15 Direct 405

Mental Health Research Grants 93.242 R10e2 Pess^Thtough Trustees ol Deitmouth CoOeoe 29.635 .

Merul Health Research Grants 93.242 Riise Pess-Through Trustees ol Deitmoutn College 15,374 -

Sutxotal 93.242 1,391,071 178,119

Alcohol Research Programs 93.273 1F31AAQ28413-01A1 Direct 34,473 .

Oiug Abuse artd Addiction Research Programs 93.279 19186 Pess-Thraugh Baystete Medical Camer. Irvc 63,232 .

Onjg Abuse and Addiction Research Programs 93.279 22-ACLSMI03671 Pess-Thraugh NYU Grossman School of Matfcine 155,488 .

Dnjg Abuse and Addiction Research Programs 93.279 GR113129 Pess-Through McLean Hospital 86,247 .

Drug Abuse and Addiction Research Programs 93,279 ^OGI-003671 Pess-Thraugh MTU Grossman Schod of Medcine 182,626 .

Drug Abuse and Addiction Research Programs 93.279 R1425 Pess-Thraugh Trustees of Oertmouth College 104,901 .

Drug Abuse and Addiction Research Programs 93.279 R1470 Pass-Through Trustees of Oartmorjtn College 25,386 -

Subtotal 93.279 617,880 -

Discovery and Applied Reeeerch lor Technological ImMtians to
fenptove Hunan Health 93.288 8K23E8026507-02 Direct 161,523 .

Discovery and Applied Reseerch far Technological Innovstiom to
Improve Human Health 93.288 1R21EBO30»&O1A1 Direct 112,740 32,210

Discovery end Applied Research tor Technological Innovetions to
fenprove Hunan Health 93.288 R1546 Pass-Through Trustees of Dertmouth College 17,064 .

Discovery and Applied Research tor Techndogical Innovetions to
Improve Hunan Heallh 93.288 6R21EaQ21456«3 Direct 133 .

Oiscoveiy and Applied Research tor Technological tonmetions to
Improve Human Health 93.288 7R21EB024771-03 Direct 52,467 .

Sitolctel 93.2B6 343,947 32,210

Minority Health end Heallh Disparities Research 93.307 1R01MCI014735 Direct 638,840 463,764
Trans.NIH Research Support 93.310 2UGlOD02494e-04 Direct 457,154
Tr8rvs.NIH Research Support 93.310 2004833926 Pass-Through Jchrts Hopkins Ursversity 97,609
Trarvs-NIH Research Support 93.310 54005-VDORA Pass-Through Unlverstty of Arkansas Medical Sciences 6,443
TrBns.NIH Research Support 93.310 54005 Pass-Through Uriversrty of AAsnses Medical Sciences 142,400
Trens-NIH Research Support 93.310 R1122 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth College 134,463
Tmns-NIH Research St^port 93.310 R1365 Pass-Through Trustees of Oertmouth Codege 13,328

Stixotai 93.310 851,397

21sl Century Cues Act - Beau Biden Cancer Moonshot 93.353 1204501 Pass-Through Dana Famer Cancer tostitute 236,897
2lsl Centuy Cues Act - Beau Biden Cancer Moonshot 93.353 115007-5115773 Pass-Throtjgh Harvetd Unhenity 67,097
2t$l Centuy Cues Act - Beau Biden Cancer Moonshot 93.353 R144g Pass-Through Trustees of Oertmouth CoOege 15,238
2ist Centuy Cues Act - Beau Biden Cancer Moonshot 93.353 R1456 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth College 52,048

Sitoiolal 93.3S3 373,278

Cancer Cause and Prevention Research 93.393 1R01CA225792 Direct 263,285 184,773
Cancer Cause and Prevention Research 93.393 1R21CA230875-01A1 Direct 71,958 37,406
Cancer Causa arvd Prevention Research 93.393 R01CA243449 .Direct 606,740 68,299
CarKer Cause arxl Prevention Research 93.393 000532274.SC001 Pass-Through UnKenity of Alabama Birmingham 116,306 .

.CarKer Cause and Prevention Research 93.393 R1592 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth CoOege 12,025
Cancer Cause and Prevention Research 93.393 BCL-PKotal Study Pess-Through CeimSugical. LLC 139,409

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integ ral part of the Schedule.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Fatftral ProQrim
Aailtfanc* UMing Award NumbtrfPttMhrough

Number Identtflution Number

Funding
Souree

PetMhrough
Entity

Amount Paned

Total Through to

Expenditurea Subredpients

Cancer Caiae and Prmention Researeh

Cancer Cause and Prevertion Research

Carcar Cause and Prevention Research

Cancer Cause and Pieveraion Research

Cancer Cause' and Prevertion Research

Cancer Cause and Prevention Research

Carver Caiae and Prevention Research

Cancer Cause and Prevertion Research

Cancer Cauae and Prevertion Research

SubtoUl 93.333

Cancer Detection artd Dagnosis
Cancer Detection and aagmsis
Carver Detection and Qagrxtsis
Carver Detection arvd Oagrvsis
Carver Detection and Oiagraeis
Cancer Detection arvd Dagrneis
Carver Detection and Diagnosis
Carver Detection artd Diagnosis
Carver Detection and Oiagrvsis
Carver Detection and Oiagraeis
Carver Detection and Qagnosis
Cancer Detection and Qagrasis

Subtotd 93.394

Carver Treetment Research

Cancer Trieetment. Research
Cancer Treetment Research

Carver Treatment Research

Carver Treatment Research

Carver Treatment Research

Cancer Treatment Research

SutMOtal 33.395

Research

Research

Research

Research

Research

Research

Research

Research

Research

Research

Research

Research

Cancer Biology
Cancer Centers

Carver Carders

Carver Carders

Carver Carders

Carver Canters

Carver Carders

Carver Carders

Cancer Carders

Carver Carders

Cancer Carders

Carver Carders

Carver Carders

Research

Support Grards
Support Grards
Svpport Grards
Sifpon Grants
Support Grards
Suppon Grards
Si^port Grants

Sifport Grants
S Import Grants
Support Grants
Si^spon Grards
Support Grants

93.393

93.393

93.393

93.393

93.393

93.393

93.393

93.393

93.393

93.394

93.394

93.394

93.394

93.394

93.394

93.394

93.394

93.394

93.394

93.394

93.394

93.395

93.395

93.395

93.395

93.395

93.395

93.395

93.396

93.397

93.397

93.397

93.397

93.397

93.397

93.397

93.397

93.397

93.397

93.397

93.397

0HMCCA222S48

GR1120S2{CON40002S81)
R1535

300414

R1250

R1366

R1451

R14S2

R44CA210et0

4R00CA190eg(M33

00001757

NIH204

R1313

Rioee

R1S11

R1335

R1124

R1368

R1437

R1444

R1513

1UG1CA23332301

110406

120670

R1527

2UG1CA1S9823

R1087

R1400

R1593

R1369

Rissa

R1390

R1391

R13S2

R13S3

R1394

R1395

R1397

R1439

R1440

R1466

Pess-Thrcu^
Pass-Thnugh
Pass-Through
Pass-Through
P8SS-Throu(Fi
Pass-Throu(^
Pass-Thrcu)^
Pass-Thrtkjgh
Pass-Thraugh

Qtacl

Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Thraugh
Pass-Thtau(yt
Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Thtou^
Pass-Through
Pass-Through

Oreci

Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Thtou)^
Pass-Thtou^
Pass-Through

Pass-Thraugh
Pass-Thraugh
Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Thraugh
Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Thraugh
' Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Through
Pass-Through

The Pemsytverda State Urrversity
Yale University
Trustees o( Dartmouh Cedege
MGH Institute of Health Professiora

Trustees ol Oertmouth College
Trustees ol Dartmouth College
Trustees ol OertmoUh College
Trustees ol Dertmouth Ceflege
CaimSurgical. U.C

Broan Univetsity
Tults Univarsity
Trustees ol Oartrrauth

Trustees ol DertmoUh

Trustees ol DertmoUh

Tnetees ol Dertmouth

Trustees ol DertmoUh

Trustees ol Dartrrxxlh

Trustees ol Dertmoilh

Trustees ol Oertmouth

Trustees ol Oertmouth

CoBege
CoBege
CoBega
Coflege
CoBege
Coflege
Coflege
Cdlege
CoBege

Bhgham and WomerTs Hospitd
Bhgham erxi WomerTs Hospitd
Trustees ol OertrrwUh CoBege
Mayo Oinic
Trustees ol Dartmouh CoBege
Trustees ol Dartmouth CoBege

Trustees

Trustees

Trustees

Trustees

Trustees

Trustees

Trustees

Trustees

Trustees

Trustees

Trustees

Trustees

Trustees

ol Oertmouth

of Dartmouth

ol Dartmouth

ol Dartmouth

ol Dartmouh

ol Dertmouth

ol Dartmouth

ol Dartmouth

ol Dartmouh

ol Dartmouth

oiDanmouh

ol Dartmouh

ol Dartmouh

College
Coflege
Coflege
Coflege
Coflege
Cdlege
College
Cdlege
Cdlege
Coflege
Coflege
Cdlege
Collage

70.925
25.129

12.366

246.392
164.073
112.104

4.936

4.936

57.775

1,906.359

1M,783
1.243

666

52.234

12.281

40.962

49.520
409

33.910

8,192

49,903
29,561

409,664

293,186
744

32,701

226,375
11,203

8.491

1,016

573,718

2.538
61.457
39.683
45.969

76.175

25.793
95.306
16.149

63.288
35,990

237,820

62,709
4,066

Subtotal 93.397 784,427

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integ ral part of the Schedule.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2022

F«d«rtl Proflram

CanHovescUar OisMses Research

Cardiovesculaf Diseases Reseercn

CanBovesaiar Diseases Research

Siixotal 93.637

Lung Qseeses Research
Lung Diseases Research
Lung Qseeses Research
Ung Dseases Research

SuUotd 93.638

Aithhtis. Musctiosketeial and Skin Diseases Research
Arthritis. Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases Research
Arthritis. Mtaculoska4etal and Skin Diseases Research

Subtotal 93.646

Diabetes, Digestne. and KkBiey Qseases Extranxsd Research
Diabetes. Digestive, and Kidney Diseases Extramural Research
DiAetes. Digestive, arvl KitSiey Qseeses Extramurtf Research
Qebetes, Qgesthe, and KiOiey Qseases Extramural Research
Diabetes. Digestive, and KitStey Qseases Extramural Research

Subtotal 93.847

Extramixal Research Programs in the Neutosciences
and Netmogical Osorders

Extrarrxeal Research Programs in the Neurosciences
and Neurological Qsorders

Extramural Research Programs in the Neurosciences
and Neurological Qsorders

Ext/amml Research Programs in the Neisosciences
and Neurological Qsorders

Extramual Research Programs in the Neurosciences
and Neurological Qsorders

Extramual Research Programs in the Neurosciences
artd Neurdoglcd Qsortiers

Extramual Research Programs in the Neurosciences
and Neurological Qsorders

Subtotal 93.8S3

Atalstance Uttino
Number

93.398

93.837

93.837

93.838

93.638

93.638

93.638

93.848

93.846

93.846

93.847

93.847

93.847

93.847

93.847

93.853

93.853

93.853

93.853

93.853

93.653

93.853

Award NumberlPasaatirough
Identification Number

1K08CA259e32-01

1UM1HL147371-01

7K23HL14283502

KHL1S0453A

R1448

RNG211577

6R01HL1223724J5

1R21AR079e61 -01

R12a9

1R01AR0771574J1

R21DIU24733

3R210IU24733-02S1

R1572

R1363

R1450

01062756

CON-e000393S

R1S09

GR110729

R43NS120624

1R01NS11699441A1

R21NS116434

Funding
Sourea

Qrect

Qrect

Qrect

Pateahretfgb
&itity

Total

Amount Ptnad

ThrtMio'ilP

Qraci

Pass-Threugh
Pass-Through
Qreta

Qrect

Pass-Through
Qrect

Qract

Qract

Pass-Thraugh
Pass-Through
Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Thraugh

Psss-Thtough

Qract

Qrect

Trustees of Dartmouth Ccdega
Kaiser Permanente Westingtcn Health

Trustees ol Dertrrtoudi Cote^

Trustees of DertmoUh CcBage
Trustees of DertmoUh CoBege
Trustees or Dertmouth CoBege

Beth brael Deaconess Medcd Carver

Yale Universtty

Trustees ol DehmoUh

Yale University

Attzyme Therapeutics

Expenditures Subredpisnts

159.220

707.787 403,663
167.183 26,145

874.970 429.806

72.655 .

2.091 .

20.604 .

7.796 -

103.146

91.041 4.296

31.185 .

376.422 161.184

498.648 165.482

253.369 170.215
1.683 .

32.221 .

24.534 •

133.188 -  -

444.995 170,215

20,651 .

65.775
•

17,152
•

27.832
-

38.127

429,647 98,580

168.612 61,555

787.996 160,145

Alergy and Mactious Qseases Research 93.655 R1377 Pass-Thnugh Trustees ol Dartmouth College 68.607

Biometfcd Research and Research Training 93.859 □AR-263973 Pass-Thraugh Meyo Ctirtic 6.466
Biometfcal Research arxi Research Training 93.659 MHJ^oserwl 11061 Pass-Through Mdne Medical Canter 2.051
Biomedcal Research arxi Research Training 93.858 RoservCTR Pass-Through Maine Medcd Certer 16.602
Brcmedcai Reseercn and Research Training 93.659 R1522 Pass-Through Trustees of Oertmoulh CoBege 9.487
Biometfcd Research artd Research Training 93.659 R1141 Pass-Thrctjgh Trustees ct Oertmoulh College 14.191
Biomedtoal Research and Research Training 93.659 R1467 Pass-Through Trustees ol Dertmouth College 2.584
Biomedcal Research and Research Trainirtg 93.659 R1466 Pass-Through Trustees ol Dertmouth CoDege 14.657
Biometfcal Research and Research Training 93.859 Risoe Pass-Through Trustees d Oertmouh College ,21.816

Subtotal 93.859 88,054

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integral part of the Schedule.
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F«d«nl Presnm

Crdd HMith and Hunan Oavelopmeni Extramml ReMarch
QiM HaalVi and Human Oavelopment Extramtral Raaeaich
Child HaaMh and Hunan OavalQpmeni Extramuai Raaaarch
Child Health and Hunan Develepmani Extramual Reaaarch

SiAotal 93.^

Aging Reaaarch
Aging Research
Aging Reaeareh
Aging Research

SutXoUl 93.666

Vision Research

Medical Library Assistartce
Madical Library Assistance

Subtotal 93.879

Interrtational Research irtd Research TnMng
Merrtatlonal Research and Research TraMrtg
knematicnsl Research and Research Tralnirtg

Subtotal 93.989

Total Oapartmsnt of Health and Hunan Services

NatfoiMl Aerehautles and Space Admlnldraflon
Exploraiion

Total National AeronAitics and Space AOnlnistiation

Total Research artd Development Ouster

Medicaid Ouster

Oepartment of Health artd Htiman Services
Medical Assistance Progrwn
Madical Assistance Prcgrwn
Medical Assistance Program
Medical Assistance Program
Medical Assistance Program
Medical Assistance Program
Medical Assistance Program
Medical Assistance Program

Total Medicaid Ouster

HighMey Safety Ouster
Oepartment of Trartipertation
State ervl Community Higtfwey Safety
State.and Community Highnay Safety

Total Highway Safety Ouster

Other Sponsored Programs
Department of Jusdee

Crime Victim Assistance

Crime Victim Assistance

Subtotal 16.57S

Atfettaitca Ufeing Award NumberfPaeMhrough
Number Identificabon Number

93.865

93.665

93.865

93.865

93.866

93.866

93.866

93.866

93.667

83.679

93.879

93.989

83.989

93.989

93.778

93.778

93.778

93.778

93,778

93,778

93.778

93.778

20.600

20.600

16.575

16.575

6R01HD067270

R1S20

019060

R1119

R1102

R1321

B000915406

R1533

eR21EYa28677-02

R1107

R1190

R1123

561975

6R25TWD07693^

0342CM39229

034tO-223CL21

03410-2305-22

RFP-2022-NHHO2-^LIRO4}1

Amendment f2 br RFP-20t7

OSRP

SNHH 2-18-19

SS-20200CYF-ia-SPEC«)1

21-266

22-266

Funding Paaefhreugh
Source Entity

Qrecl

Pess-Through Trustees of Denmouth Cdege
Pass-Through Reia. LlC
Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Cdlegs

PasfeThrough Trustees of Dehmoulh Cdlegs
Pass-Through Trustees of OanmoulhCdIega
Pass-Through Unlvenity of Massachusetts Boston
Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Cdlegs

Oirect

Pass-Thtou|^ Trustees of Dartmouth Cdtoga
Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Cdlegs

Pass-Throuipi Trustees of Dartmouth Cdlaga
Pass-Through University of Pennsyhenis
Pess-Through Fogarty fetamationd Csrser

Pass-Thraugh Trustees of Dartmouth CoBege

20ie.VW»*4078

2022V(3C40

Pass-Through
Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through
PasvThrough
Pass-Through
Pass-Through

Pass-Through
Direct

Direct

Pass-Through

Vermont Department of Hedth
Vermont Oaportment of Healtn
Vermont Department of Health
OHHS Health Reaouces and Servicas

NH Dept of Hedth and Human Setvces
NH DeiM of Health and Human Servces
Souhem New HampsNn Health

State of New Hampshire

NH HIghwdy Safety Agervy

New Hampshire Department of Justice

Amount Panad

Total Through to
Eapendlturaa Subraeiplants

688,654 631,710

30,626 .

12,453 .

35,302 -

787,035 631,710

31,110 .

15.319 .

12,529 .

16.624 -

75.582

62.154 30.602

2.390 .

60.263 .

62.653

11.068 .

14.397 .

155.469 139,020

160.954 139.020

13.476,023 3,007.267

1.487

1.487 .

16,660,910 3,546.106

39,200

26,157

76,611

41,146

3.125,296

431,556

165,775
536,204

4.441,945

109,957

223,186 .

333,143

183.625 162,140

280.217 .

463,642 162.140

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integ ral part of the Schedule.
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Amount Paseed

Assistance UMing Award NumbarfPa»4tireuBh Funding Pat»<hrauoh Total Through to
F«d«ral Progrtm Number IdantMcatiMi Number Source Entity Expenditures Subrscipleiits

Coffiptchenshe Opioid.Siimtiant. ma Suuunca Abusa Progrem 16.836 NCSC - Project ECHO Pess-Threugh Natiorval Centsr br Stats Courts 2.935

ToUl Oepanmeni of Justice 466,777 162.140

Dspsrtmsnt of Labor

H-18 Job TraMng Grants 17.266 HG-3S689-2l-6aA-33 Direct 336,272 .

Total Department of lattor 336,272 .

Deperttnent of Health and Human Servleee
Blood Otsotder Ptogram: Prevention. SiavelSence. end Research 93.060 GENFD0002119444 Pess-TTvough Boston Childrent Hospital 21.240 .

Ertiance Safety of Children AflBcted by Substance Abuse 93.067 9XU010M1-00 Direct 569,350 33,102
Materrval arvf Child Health Federal Consolldsted Programs 93.110 0253-6540-4609 Pass-Thrtxigh bahn School of Medicine MourS Sani 21,270 .

Meterrtal and Child Health Federal Corrsolidated Profpams 93,110 UC4MC26042 Pass-Through American Coflege of Otistetridans 2,522 .

Maternal and Child HeaKh Federal Consolidated Programs 93.110 L0153 Pass-Through Unrversity of New Hampshire 25,359 -

Subtotal S3.1I0 49,151 -

Emergency Medical Services br Childran 93.127 7 H33MC3239S0100 Direct 132.755 .

Injury Prevemion arvd Control Research and State and OimiTvutAv
Based Programs 93.136 0342668225 Pass-Thtou(F> Vermont AgerKy of Hwnan Services 33.146 .

Injury Prevention and Control Research artd State and CommunitY
Based Programs 93.136 Pass-Thtou(pv Vermont Agency of Hunan Services 64,930 .

Injury Prevention and Control Research and State and Communitv
Besed Programs 93.136 03420-08992 Pass-ThRxigh Vermont Agency of Hunan Services 68.404 .

StMoial S3.I36 166.462 .

HTZ-Related Training and Technical Aasistartce 93.145 OSP29994-04 Pass-Throu(^ University of Massachusetts Med School 44.312 .

Coordirvated Services ma Access to Resesrch br Women, Infants. Child 93.153 5H12HA31112-03-00 Direct 367.366 .

COVD-19 Testirvg and Mitigation 93.155 05-95-90-90101624970000 Pass-Through Fouvdation br Heatthy Commutittes 165,614 .

CCMD-19 Testing and Mitigation 93.155 Pcss-Throucpv Foundation far Heatthy Communities 253.029 .

Subtotal 93.1S5 438.643 -

National Health Servica Carp 93.168 T32HP32S2664-00 Direct 250.321 .

Stats Rural Hospital Flexibility Program 93.241 0342666324 Pass-Through Vermont Department of HeaKh 66.241 .

Regional and National Signifcanca 93.243 1H79SM08230261 Direct 728.547 96.715
SubstacKe Abuse wid MentM Health Servces Projects of

Regional arvd NatiorMi Signtfcanca 93.243 1H79SM08490661 Direct 179.183 16.922
Sibstanca Abuse and Mental Health Services Projects of

Regiorval arb National Sigritcarrce 93.243 SS-2022-OBH61-EVALU61 PasvThraugh OHKS Health Resouces and Senices 144,516 .

Substarxa Abuse and Mental Health Servces Projects of
Regional and National StgrilcarKO 93.243 1H78SP0ai227-O1 Direct 30,406 .

Sibstance Abuse end Mental Health Services Projects of
Regiorval arvd National Signilcanca 93.243 7H79SM063584-ai Direct 22,467 .

Regiortal and National SigrifcaiKa 93.243 0342668960 Pass-Through Vermofvt Oepartmem of HeaKh 7,046 .

SiiRotal 93.243 1,112,165 113,637

COVID-19 Vaccination Program 93.266 SS-2Q22.OPHS-05-PROJE-01 Pass-Through State' of New HampsNre 2,266

Subtotal 93.369 2,266 .

Drug Free Communities Suppon Program Grants 93.276 1 NH26C£0026964)1-00 Direct 72,436 .

COV&19 Epidemiology arid Laboratory Capadiy br InlBctious Diseases 93.323 RFP-2O16-DHPS-O2-INFEC-ft0 Pass-Through NH Depi of Health and Human Services 67,551 .

Emergency Respotvse: Pubtc Heal3i Crvsb Response 93.354 SS-2019-OPK$-26-REGION-06 Pass-Threugh NH Depi of Heallh arvd Human Servces 4,246 56
Prev«nt>ng Maternal Deaths: Stppotng Matamal Mortaity
Review Committees 93.478 SS-2026OPHS-11-MATE RN Pass-Through- NH Dept of Health and Human Services 76,479 7,716

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integ ral part of the Schedule.
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Asslstanea Usdng Award NumbarfPa»through Furtding
Federal Program Number idantiflcation Number Source

Haaith Probssion Opportunity 93.493 GE1KS4a231-01-00 Ditecl

• COVI&19 Prouder Raliaf Funds artd American Raacua Plan Rural

Distnbution 93.498 WA Direct

Unnaraity Canten tor EzcaBanca in Develapmental Disabilities
Education. Raaaarch, and Servca 93.761 90FPSG0038-01-00 Direct

Opioid STR 93.768 0342D6490 Pass-Thraugh
OpiOidSTR 93.786 03420-9021 Pass-Through
O^d STR 93.788 T1081685 Pass-Through
O^d STR 93.788 2019-e0AS-0S-ACCES44 Pasa-Thiouiyi
Opioid STR 93.788 05-85-82-920510-70443-5007 Pass-Through
Opioid STR 93.788 RFP-2018-6CIAS-05-iNrEG-01 Pass-Through
Opioid STR 93.788 SS-2019«0AS-OS-ACCES-04. Pas»-Throu(^

SLbtotal 93.788

Organized Approaches to kwrease Cdoreclal Cancer Screening 93.800 SNU580POOe08e-05-00 Pass-Through

Organized Approaches to Irrcraasa Cdoractai CatKar.Screaning 93.800 Pass-Through
Organized Approaches to kKraasa Coiorectal Cancer Screening 93.800 NUS80P00e753O1-00 Direct

SuHotai 93.800

Matemb. ktbnt and Earty Childhood Home Visiting Grant 93.870 03420-08474 Pass-Through
Maternal, infant and Earty Childhood Homa Visiting Grant 93.870 034204)9088 Pass-Through

SuHotal S3.870

COVD-19 Nationai Bioianariam Hospital Preparedness Program 93.889 NHHA ASPR COVD-19 2020 Pass-Through
Rural Hoann Care SarVcas 93.912 1 GA1RH42907-01-00 Direct

Rural Haaith Care Seriiicas 93.912 P16RH4350301-00 Diract

Rural Haaith Care Services 93.912 1 U2SRH43S21-01-00 Direct

Siixotal 93.912

Block Grants tor Community Marab Health SerVcas 93.958 SS-2Q22-OCOM-02-CIJNI-01 Direct

Block Grants for Commuvty MarVM Haaith Sanicaa 93.958 PaJ188 Pass-Through

Subtotal 93.956

Block Grants tor Pravantion and Treatment of Substance /^usa 93.959 DHMC-FHCSUD21 Pass-Through
Block Grams tor Prevention and Tieatmem ol Substance Abuse 93.959 05-95-49-491510-2990 Pass-Through
Block Grants tor Pravention and Treatment of Substarsa Abuse 93.959 T1010035-1S Pass-Through

Subtotal 93.959

HIV Disease 93.918 1 H76^31654-01-00 Direct

Giants to Provide Outpatiara Early Intanention Sarvcas vrith Raapact to
HIV Oisaasa 93.918 2 H76HA316544)5-00 Direct

Sitototal 93.918

COVD-19 PPHF Geriatric Education Canters 93.989 1T1MHP39074-01-00 Direct

-  Block Grants tor Pravaraion Treatmem 93.991 SS-2023-DPKS-03-tNJUR-01 Direct

Total Dapadmani of Health and Hunan Services

Dapartmant of HomalarMi Security
COVD-19 Disasler Grams • Public Assistance 87.036 FEMA-4516-DR-NH Pass-Throucto

Pa»4hrough

Entity

VaniMnt AQency of Human Sefvico*
Vemoftt Agency of Human Sarucae
NH Oept of Heaiu) and Human Santcas
NH OepI of Haaith and Human SaiNices
NH Oept of Heattn and Human Serttcea
NH Da^ of Haaith and Hunan Sarweaa
Siata of New Hampahin

NH Dept of Health and Human Satvicas

NH Dept of Haaith and Hunan SarNicas

Vemont Depanmerv of HaaBh
Vermont Dapartmant of Haaith

Foundation tx Healthy Communitiaa

Unfvaraity of New Hampalwa

NH Department of Haatth and Hunan Sarvcea
Foundation ty Healthy Communitias
Foundation for Healthy Communitiea

NHDapt of Safety

Total Dapartmant of Homalartd Security

Amount Paaaad

Total Through to
Ezponditures SubreeiplatTii

141

65,566.678
-

101.161 .

165.308 .

151.502 .

838.932 .

1.500.823 •

108.083 -

932,635 24,502

9,566 .

3,706,849 24.502

507,140 27.134

17,897 .

688,478 .

1.213,515 27.134

65,145 .

210,938 .

276,083

56,278

218,314 62,068

118.386 16,944

174.707 26,282

511.407 107,292

390.730 ,

87.308 -

488.038

51.842 .

40.696 .

25,398 .

117.936

183,115
-

80.588 .

263,703

917,309 .

24,506 .

76,710.844 3n,443

813.654

813.654

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integral part of the Schedule.
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Amount Pimd

AsilttanM UAlnB Award NumlMrfP«»4hrouoh Funding Paadhrough Total Direughto
Fadarai Prognm Numbar Idandficadon Numbar Sourca Entity Eapandituras Subraciplants

Varioua

Gtular Monadnock Ragionat Public Haafth Natvwrk Saricas
Ragional Public Haaltn Netvwrlt Sarucaa
Hospital Prep
Emenjancy Prep
LabSaruces

Total Various

Total FadorH Other Sponsored Programs

Total Expsnditutes of Federal Aeerds

93.U0f Not Provided Pest-Through Couvy ofChashire 230.094 .

93.U0t SS-2019.OPHS-2a-REGIOM«8 Past-Through NH Oepi of Health and Htrman Services 35.600 16,192
93.tJ01 IJ90TP111901 Pasa-Throucpi NH Oept of Haahh and Humwi Services 65.216 .

93.U01 LI3REPt90580 Pass-Through NH Oept of Heallh and Human Serucas 76.113 .

93.001 U50t>000427 Pass-Thtoudt NH Oept of Health and Hum«i Services 46.241 -

455.270 18.192

78.782.317 493.775

S  100.218,615 S 4,039.681

* Further dscussed in Fcotnote 3

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integral part of the Schedule.
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1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the "Schedule") presents the activity of
federal award programs administered by Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries (the "Health

'  System") as defined in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and is presented on an
accrual basis. The purpose of this Schedule is to present a summary of those activities of the Health
System for the year ended June 30, 2022 which have been financed by the United States government
("federal awards"). For purposes of tNs Schedule, federal awards include all federal assistance entered
into directly between the Health System and the federal government and subawards from nonfederal
organizations made under federally sponsored agreements. The information in this Schedule in
presented in accordance with the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Pass-through entity
identification numbers and Assistance Listing numbers have been provided where available.

t

Visiting Nurse and Hospice of NH and VT ("VNH") received a Community Facilities Loan, Assistance
listing #10.766, of which the proceeds were expended in 2018. The VNH had an outstanding balance
of $2,417,078 as of June 30,2022. As this loan was related to a project that was completed in the prior
audit period and the terms and conditions do not impose continued compliance requirements other than
to repay the loan, we have excluded the outstanding loan balance from the Schedule.

2. Indirect Expenses

Indirect costs are charged to certain federal grants and contracts at a federally approved predetermined
indirect rate, negotiated with the Divisbn of Cost Allocation and therefore we do not use the de minimus
10% rate. The predetermined rate provided forthe year ended June 30, 2022 was 53%. Indirect costs
are included in the reported federal expenditures.
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Greater Monadnock Regional Public Health Network Services

Cheshire Medical Center received a pass-through award from the County of Cheshire, who were
themselves a pass-through entity for their award from the New Hampshire Department of Health and
Human Services. The award contractbetween the County of Cheshire and NH DHHS indicates that the
award is funded from several Federal Agencies, programs, and Assistance listing numbers as noted
below. The total award amountof $230,094 was not split out by Agency listed below. Accordingly, the
total expenditures of $230,094 included on accompanying SERA for this program are listed as one
amount under the Assistance living #93.U01.

Agency

US Centers for Disease

Control & Prevention

US Centers for Disease

Control & Prevention

US Centers for Disease

Control & Prevention

US Centers for Disease Control & Prevention

US Department of Health &
Human Services

US Department of Health &
Human Services

US Department of Health &
Human Services

US Department of Health &
Human Services

US Department of Health
& Human Services

US Department of Health
& Human Services

Preventative Health Services

Public Health Emergency Preparedness

Program

Public Health Emergency Preparedness
Program

Immunization Cooperative Agreements
Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment

Block Grant

Substance Abuse and Mental Health

Sen/ices Projects of Regional and National

Significance

Public Health Emergency Preparedness
Program

Public Health Emergency Preparedness
Program

Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention &
Surveillance Program

Environmental Public Health and Emergency

Response

Assistance

Listing #

93.991

93.074

93.069

93.268

93.959

93.243

93.074

93.889

93.197

93.070

Provider Relief

The Health System was the recipient of funding under assistance listing number 93.498, COVID-19
Provider Relief Funds and American Rescue Plan Rural Distribution ("PRF"), and as required based on
guidance in the 2022 0MB Compliance Supplement, the Schedule Includes all Period 2 and 3 funds
received between July 1, 2020 and June 30,2021 and expended by June 30, 2022 as reported to the
Department of Health and Human Services via the PRF Reporting Portal. The Health System only
received Period 2 funds.

Given the timing covered by the Period 2 funds, certain of these expenses were reflected in the
University's consolidated firiancial statements fbr the year ended June 30,2021. Additionally, lost
revenue does not represent an expenditure in the Health System's financial statements and thus is a
reconciling item between the ̂ eral expenses in the Health System's financial statements and the
amount included on the Schedule.
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Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Contrcrf Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit ofFinancial Statements Performed in

Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Board ofTrustees of
Dartmouth-HitchcockHeahhand Subsidiaries

We have audited, in accordance with auditingstandards generally accepted in the United States of
AmericaandthestandardsapplicabletofinandalauditscontainedinGoL'emmcnMuciifinpSfandands,
issuedbytheComptroDer General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which comprise the
consolidatedbalance sheet asofJuneso, 2022, andthe related consdidatedstatementsof operations
and changesinnetassetsandofcashflowsfortheyearthen ended, includingtherelated notes
(collectively referredto asthe"consolidated financialstatements"),andhave issued our re portthereon
dated November 16,2022, except with respectto the opinion on the supplemental schedule of
expenditures offederal awards, as to which the date is June 30,2023.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planningandperformingourauditofthe consolidated financial statements, we considered the
Health System's internal controloverfinancial reporting (internal control) as a basis fordesigningaudit
procedures that areappropriate in the circumstancesforthe purposeof expressingouropinion on the
consolidatedfinancialstatements, but notforthe purpose of expressingan opinion on the effectiveness
of the Health System's internal control. Accordin^y, we donot expressan opinion on the effectiveness
of the Health ̂stem'sintemal control.

A. deficiency in mfcrna/contro/existswhenthedesign oroperationofa control does not allow
managementoremployees, in the normal courseofperformingtheirassignedfunctions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timetybasis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination ofdeficiencies, in internal contrci such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatementofthe entity's financial statements willnot be prevented, ordetectedandcorrected, on a
timelybasis.Asigni/icanfcfeyiciencyisa deficiency, ora combination of deficiencies, in internal contnd
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to meritattention by thosecharged
with governance.

Ourconsiderationofintemal control wasforthe limited purpose described in thefirst paragraph of this
sectionand was not designed to identifyalldefidenciesinintemalcontrolthatmight be material
weaknessesorsignificant deficiencies. Giventheselimitations, during ouraudit we didnot identifyany
deficiencies in internal control that we considertobematerial weaknesses. However, material
weaknessesorsignificant deficiencies may existthat were not identified.

Reporton Complianceand Other Matters

As part of obtainingreasonableassuranee about whetherthe Health System'sconsdidatedfinancial
statements arefteefrom material misstatement.weperformed testsof its compliance with certain
provisionsoflaws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which couldhave
a direct andmaterial effect on the financial statements. However, providingan opinion on compliance
with those provisions was notanobjectiveofour audit, andaccordingly,wedo not expresssuchan

PricewaterhouseCoopere LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA02210
T: (617) 530 5000, wvx-w.pwc.com/us
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opinion. The resiiltsofourtests disclosednoinstancesofnoncomplianceorother matters that are
required tobereportedunderGouernmenfAuc/ift'ng'Standards.

Purpose ofthis Report

The purpose ofthis report is solefyto describe the scope of our testing ofinternal control and
compliance andthe results of thattesting, and nottoprovidean opinion on the effectiveness ofthe
Health System's internal controloron compliance. Thisreportis an integral part ofan audit performed
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in consideringthe Health System's internal
control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is notsuitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 16,2022, except with respect to the opinion on the supplemental schedule of expenditures of
federal awards, as to which the date is June 30,2023
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Reportof Independent Auditors on Compliance for Each M^or Programand on Internal
Control Over Compliance Recpiired by Uniform Guidance

To the Board ofTrustees of
Dartmouth-HitchcockHealthand Subsidiaries

Report on ComplianceforEachM^jorFederalProgram

Qualified and Unmodified Opinions

We have audited Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries' (the "Health System") compliance with
the types of compliance requirements identified as subjecttoauditintheOMBCbmp/zanceSupp/emenf
that could havea direct and material effect on each of theHealthSystem'smajorfederalprograms for
the year endedJune 30,2022. The Health System'smajorfederalprograms are identified in the
summaryofauditor's results sectionoftheaccompanyingscheduleoffindings and questioned costs.

Qualified Opinion on Assistance Listing #93.788 OpioidSTR

In ouropinion, except forthe noncompliance described in the Basis for Qualifiedand Unmodified
Opinions section ofour report, the Health System complied, in all material respects, with the
compliance requirements referred to abovethatcould have a direct and material effect on Assistance
Listing#93.788 Opioid STR. fortheyear ended June30,2022.

UnmodifiedOpinion on Eachofthe Other Major Federal Programs

In ouropinion, the Health System complied, in all material respects, with thecompliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its other major federal
programsidentifiedinthesummaiy of auditor's results section oftheaccompanyingscheduleof
findingsandquestionedcosts forthe yearended June30,2022.

Basisfor Qualified and Unmodified Opinions

We conducted our auditofcompliance in accordance with auditingstandards generally accepted in the
UnitedStatesofAmerica (USGAAS);thestandardsapplicabletofinancial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller Generalofthe United States; andthe audit
requirementsofTitle 2U.S. Ck>de of FederalRegulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirementsfor Federal Auxirds (Uniform Guidance). Our
responsibilitiesunderthosestandards andthe Uniform Guidancearefiirtherdescribedin the Auditors'
Responsibilities fortheAuditofCompliancesection of ourreport

We are requiredtobeindependentoftheHealth^stemandtomeetourotherethical responsibflities,
in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to ouraudit. We believe thatthe audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient andappropriate to providea basis forouropinion on
complianceforeachmajorfederal program. Ourauditdoesnot providea legal determination ofthe
Health System's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA02210
T: (617) 530 5000, wv\'v\'.pwc.com/us
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Matter Giving Rise to QualifiedOpinion on Assistance Listing ̂ gs.ySSOpioid^R

As described in the accompanying scheduleoffindingsand questioned costs, the Health System did not
comply with the requirements re gardingeligibilityandallowable costs associated with a certain
substance usedisoniertreatmentclinicoperatedbya HealthSystemaffiliated medical center, as
described in finding 2022-00^

Compliance with such requirements is necessaiy, in our opinion, for the Health System to comply with
the requirements applicable to that program.

RespoTisibiKtiesofManagementforCompliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to aboveandforthe design,
implementation, and maintenance ofeffectiveintemalcontrol overcompliancewith the requirements
oflaws, statutes, regulations, rulesandprovisions ofcontractsorgrant agreements applicable to the
Health System's federal programs.

Auditors'Responsibilitiesfor the Audit of Compliance

Ourobjectivesare to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraudpr error, and expressan
opinion on the Health System'scompliancebased on ouraudit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurancebutis not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conductedin
accordance with USGAAS, Goi;emmenMudifinpSfandards,ahdtheUniformGuidancewill always
detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance
resultingfromfraudishigherthanforthatresultingfrom error, asfraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, orthe override ofinternal control. Noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, ifthere is a substantial likelihood
that, individuallyorin the aggregate, it would influence thejudgment made by a reasonable user ofthe
report on compliance about the Health System's compliance with the requirements ofeach major
federalprogram as a whole.

In performingan audit in accordance with USGAAS, Government Auditing Standards, andthe
Uniform Guidance, we:

• Exerciseprofessionaljudgment andmaintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Ide ntify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a testbasis, evidence regardingthe Health System's compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above and performingsuch other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

• Obtain an understanding of the Health System's internal control over compliance relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to
test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance,
but notforthe purpose ofexpressinganopinion on theeffectiveness ofthe Health ̂ stem's
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
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We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, amongother matters,
the planned scq)eand timingoftheauditandanysignificant defidenciesand materialweaknessesin
internal control over compliance thatwe identified during theaud it.

Other Ma tters

The results of our auditingprocedures disclosed other instances ofnoncompliance, which are required
to be reportedin accordance with theUniformGuidanceandwhichare described in the accompanying
scheduleoffindingsandquestioned costs asitems 2022-001,2022-002,2022-003 and 2022-004. Our
opinion on each majorfederalprogram is not modified with respectto these matters.

GouemmenMudzfinpSfondardsrequirestheauditortoperformlimitedprocedureson the Health
System's response to the noncompliance findings identifiedinouraudit described intheaccompanying
Management'sViews and CorrectiveAction Plan. The Health System's response wasnotsubjected to
the otherauditingproceduresappliedintheauditof compliance and, accordingly, we express no
opinion on the response.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Our consideration of internal controlovercompliancewasforthelimitedpurpose described in the
Auditors'Responsibilities forthe Audit of Compliance section aboveand was not designed to identifyall
deficiencies in intemalcontrol overcompliancethatm.ightbe material weaknessesorsignificant
deficiencies in intemalcontrol overcomplianceandtherefore, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. However, as discussed below, we did identify
certain deficienciesinintemal control overcompliancethatweconsidertobe material weaknessesand
significant deficiencies.

A deficiency in internal control over compHance exists when the design or operation ofa control over
compliance does notallowmanagement oremployees,inthenormal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A mafena/ weakness in internal control over
comp/iance is a deficiency, orcombination ofdeficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibflity that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirementofa federal program will not be prevented, ordetected and corrected, on a timely basis. We
considerthedefidencyin intemalcontrol over compliance described intheaccompanyingscheduleof
findingsand questioned costs as item 2022-005 tobea material weakness.

A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiendes, in intemalcontrol over compliance withatypeof compliance requirementofa federal
program that is less severe than a material weakness in intemal control over compliance, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with govemance. We consider the deficiency in intemal
control overcompliancedescribedintheaccompanyingscheduleoffindingsandquestionedcostsas
item 2022-003 tobea significant deficiency.

Ourauditwasnot designed forthe purpose ofexpressinganopinionontheeffectiveness of intemal
control over compliance. Accordingly, nosuchopinion is expressed.

Government Auditing Standards TequirestheauditOTtoperformMmitedproceduresontheHealth
System's response to theintemal control overcompliancefindingsidentifiedinourauditdescribedin
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the accompanyingManagement'sViewsand Corrective Action Plan. The Health System's response was
notsubjectedtotheotherauditingproceduresappliedintheauditofcomplianceand, accordingly, we
expressnoopinionon theresponse.

Thepurposeofthisreporton internal controlovercompliance is soletyto describethescopeof our
testing ofintemalcontrol overcomplianceand the results ofthat testingbasedon the requirementsof
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts
June 30,2023
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Findings and Questioned Costs



Dartmouth-Hitchcock and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30. 2022

I. Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued

Internal control over financial reporting
Material weakness (es) identified?

Significant defciency (ies) identified that are not

considered to be material weakness (es)?

Noncompliance material to financial statements

Unmodified

yes X no

yes X none reported

yes X no

Federal Awards

Intemal control over major programs

Material weakness (es) identified? X ves no

Significant defciency (ies) identified that are not

considered to be material weakness (es)? X ves no

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for Assistance
Listing Number 93.788 Opioid STR Qualified

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for other
major programs Unmodified

Audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported

in accordancewith 2 CFR 200.516(a)? X ves no

Identification of major programs

Assistance Listing Number

93.498

93.788

Various

Dollarthreshold used tO distinguish between

Type A and Type B programs

Auditee qualified as low-riskauditee?

II. Financial Statement Findings

None Noted

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

COVID-19 Provider Relief Funds

and American Rescue Plan Rural

Distribution

Opioid STR

Research and Development Cluster

$3,000,000

Yes
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2022-01 Equipment Management

Cluster: Research and Development
Federal Agency: Various
Award Names: Various

Award Numbers: Various

Assistance Listing Title: Various
Assistance Listing Number: Various
Award Year: 2021-2022

Pass-through entity: Various

Criteria

According to 2 CFR section 200.313, procedures for managing equipment {including replacement
equipment), whether acquired in whole or in part under a Federal award, until disposition takes place will,
at a minimum, meet the following requirements;

(1) Property records must be maintained that include a description of the property, a serial number or
other identification number, the source of funding for the property (including the FAIN), who holds
title, the acquisitbn date, and cost of the property, percentage of Federal participation in the project
costs for the Federal award under which the property was acquired, the location, use and condition of
the property, and any ultimate disposition data including the date of disposal and sale price of the
proper^.

(2) A physical inventory of the property must be taken and the results reconciled with the property
record s at least onee every two years.

(3) A control system must be devebped to ensure adequate safeguards to prevent loss, damage, or
theft of the properly. Any loss, damage, or theft must be investigated.

(4) Adequate maintenance procedures must be developed to keep the property in good condition.

(5) If the non-Federal entity is authorized or required to sell the property, proper sales procedures
must be established to ensure the highest possible return.

Condition

Tbe Health System did not perform a physical Inventory of federally purchased fixed assets at least once
during the last two years. Additionally, the federal asset listing did not specify all ofthe details required by
2 CFR section 200.313(d) (1)such as asset locations, tag numbers, use and conditbn. The full
population of equipment funded with federal research and devebpment dollars, as provided by the Health
System, consisted of 9 items with a total historical cost of$105k.

Cause

The Health System lacks a process to ensure that policies and procedures related to Identifying and
managing its federally purchased fixed assetsinaccordance with 2 CFR section 200.313 are followed,
including updating property records to include all required data elements and the performance of a
physical inventory at leastonce every two years.

Effect

The Health System's accounting records for its federally purchased fixed assets coub be inaccurate as
the Health System has not formally verified the existence, current utilization and continued need for the
equipment through this physical inventory process. Additionally, without maintaining tag numbers and
records of asset locations, safeguarding of assets could be impacted.
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Questioned Costs

None noted.

Recommendation

We recommend that the Health System implement a process to ensure its pol'cies and procedures over
equipment management are followed, Including the performanceof a physical inventory of federally
purchased fixed assets at least once every two years in accordance with 2 CFR section 200.313(d)(2),
and updating its property records to include all details required t)y 2 CFR section 200.313(d)(1).

Management's Views and Corrective Action Plan
Management's Views and Corrective Action Plan is included at the end of this report after the summary
schedule of prior audit findings and status.

2022- 002-^Late submission of Uniform Guidance Report

Cluster: All represented on theScheduleofExpendituresof Federal AwardsCSEFA")
Sponsoring Agency: All federal agencies represented on the SEFA
Award Names: All av/ards on the SEFA

Award Numbers: All avtrards on the SEFA

Assistance Listing Tide: Al awards on the SEFA
Assistance Listing Number: All awards on the SEFA
Award Year: All awards on the SEFA

Pass-through entity: All identified on the SEFA

Criteria

2 CFR 200.512 Report Submission requires the audit l)e completed and the data collection form and
Uniform Guidance reporting package submitted within the earlier of 30 calendar days after receipt of the
auditor's report(s), or nine months after the end of the audit period.

Condition

The Health System's Uniform Guidance reporting package was due to be submitted to the Federal Audit
Clearinghouse by March 31, 2023, however, since the report was not filed until June 2023, the report is
considered late.

Cause

Our understanding is that management experienced tumover in their research operatbns department and
as a result, audit preparatbn was delayed. As a result of the findings that were identified in our testing of
thein-scope major programs, additional time was also needed to complete the audit procedures and for
management to consberan appropriate corrective action plan.

Effect

Not receiving the Uniform Guidance reporting package in a timely manner could impact the oversight and
monitoring procedures performed by the federal govemment and other constituents.

Questioned Costs

None noted.

Recommendation

We recommend management ensure controls are in place to allow for subsequent audits to be completed
in a timely manner, consistent with previous years.
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Management's Views and Corrective Action Plan
Management's Views and Corrective Action Plan is included at the end of this report after the summary
sched ule of prior aud it findings and status.

2022-003 - Subrecipient Risk Assessment and Ongoing Monitoring

Cluster: Research and Development
Federal Agency: All awards with subredpients on the SEFA
Award Names: All awards with subrecipientson the SEFA
Award Numbers: All awards with subrecipients on the SEFA
Assistance Listing Title: AD awards with subrecipients on the SEFA '
Assistance Listing Number: All awards with subrecipientson the SEFA
Award Year: 2021 -2022

Pass-through entity: All pass-through entities noted on the SEFA

Criteria

2 CFR 200.332 notes that pass-through entity monitoring of the subrecipient must include:

1. Reviewing financial and performance reports required by the pass-through entity.
2. Following-up and ensuring that the subrecipient takes timely and appropriate action on all

deficiencies pertaining to the Federal award provided to the subrecipient from the pass-through
entity detected through audits, on-site reviews, and written confirmation from the subrecipient
highlighting the status of actions planned or taken to address Single Audit findings related to the
particular subaward.

3. Issuing a managementdedsion for applicable auditfindings pertaining only to the Federal award
provided to the subrecipient from the pass-through entity as required by 2 CFR 200.521.

Further, Uniform Guidance 2 CFR section 200.331(f) requires that the entity verify that every
subrecipient is audited as required by Subpart F—Audit Requirements when it is expected that the
subrecipients Federal awards expended during the respective fiscal year equaled or exceeded the
threshold set forth in §200.501 Audit requirements ($750,000).

Condition

In testing conformity with the compliance req uirements fbr subrecipient monitoring, we selected 7 of the
61 Research and Development subrecipient agreements and the one Opioid STR subrecipient agreement
from the detailed listings provided for testing. The total federal funds passed through to subrecipients in
FY22 amounted to $3.5 million fbr the Research & Development Cluster, and $24,500 for the Opioid STR
program. For all of our selections, the mostrecentaudit report was not reviewedfor purposes of ongoing
monitoring as required by the Uniform Guidance. The Health System has a risk assessment form that is
completed at contract inception for its subrecipients: however, the risk assessment is not reassessed
annually for all subrecipients. The most recent risk assessment form was conducted in 2018 for 2
selections, in 2019 for 2 selections, in 2020 for 2 selections and in 2021 for 2 selections. We further noted
that 7 of the 8 risk assessment forms selected for testing did not include explicit documentation detailing
the subrecipient aud it report review (such as what year was reviewed, what were the results of the revie/i/,
etc.). Additbnally, for one selection, the initial subrecipient risk assessment form was reviewed after the
subrecipient award agreementwas executed.

Cause

The Health System's subrecipient policy does not expBdtly state the ongoing monitoring activities that
must beconductedorthefrequency of required monitoring. For instance, the policy does not outline

79



Dartmouth-Hitchcock and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2022

monitoring activrties that are required for all subredpients. Additbnally, the risk assessment form does not
prescribe the details of the subrecipient audit report review that should be documented.

Effect

TTie subrecipients of the Health System may have auditfindings pertaining to the Federal award provided
from the Health System that may have implications on the compliance of the Health System with Uniform
Guidance. Additionally, there may be changes in the risk characteristics of subredpients that are not
identified if risk assessments are not periodically updated. .

Questioned Costs

None noted.

Recommendation

We recommend that he Health System update its subredpient monitoring policy to reflect all monitoring
compliance requirements of theUnifonn Guidance. In particular, the policy should require the receipt of
the Uniform Guidance report from all subredpients that expended $750,000 or more in federal awards
during the subrecipients fi^al year {or the receipt of the subrecipients latest financial statements If not)
at contractinception.Ahy audit findings pertaining to the Federal award should be followed upon by the
Health System and a management dedsion should be issued. This Policy should be distributed and
adhered to by all that have a role In the subredpient monitoring process of the Health System.

Management's Views and Corrective Action Plan
Management's response is included in "Managemenfs Views and Corrective Action Plan" induded at the
end of this report afterthe summary schedule of status of prior audit findings.

2022-004: Procurement, Suspension and Debarment

Cluster: Research and Development
Federal Agency: Department of Health and Human Sen/ices, Department of Defense
Award Names: First-in-human clinical translation of a near-infrared, nerve-specific fluorophore to
facilitate tissue-specific fluorescence-guided surgery; Self-Administered, Motor-Free, Cognitive Screening
Battery for MS; Development and Initial Validation; Dedsion Making in Transmasculine Genital
Reconstnjctbn Surgery (TMGRS)
Award Numbers: 1R01NS116994-01A1; W81XWH2010330; R21DK124733
Assistance Listing Title: Extramural Research Programs in the Neurosdences and Neurological
Disorders; MiOtary Medical Research and Devebpment; Diabetes, Digestive, and Kidney Diseases
Extramural Research

Assistance Listing Numt)er: 93.853; 12.420; 93.847
Award Year: 2021 -2022

Pass-through entity: Notapplbable

Criteria

The Health System has a policy whereby purchases shall comply with Uniform Guidance for Grants and
Cooperative agreements, as established in 2 CFR 200.320 Methods of Procurement to be followed and
they have adopted $10,000 as their micro-purchase threshob. 2 CFR 200.318 requires that
documentation of the history of the procurement, the procurement method and rationale for the method
selected, selection of contract type, basis for contractor selection, and basis for the contract price to be
included in the procurementfile.

Additionally, a non-Federal entity must have and use documented procurement procedures and is
prohibited from contracting with or making subawards under covered transactions to parties that are
suspended or debarred. When a non-federal entity enters into a covered transaction with an entity at a
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lower tier, the non-Federal entity must verify that the entity, as defined in2 CFR section 180.995 and
agency adopting regulations, is not suspended or debarred or otherwise excluded from participating in the
transaction. This verification may t>e accomplished by (1) checking the System for Award Management
(SAM) Exclusions maintained by the General Services Administration, (2) collecting a certification from
the entity, or (3) adding a clause or condition to the covered transaction with that entity (2 CFR sectbn
180.300). The Health System's suspensbn and debamrient policy requires suspension and debarment
verifications to be completed for all vendors utilized on federal awards, regardless of expenditure amount.

Condition

As part of the Research and Development cluster procurement testing of new purchases greater than
$10,000 there were 4 transactions selected for testing out of a population of 21 transactions totaling
$481,000. We noted t>vo transactions of $69,500 and $12,000 where there was no documentation of the
vendor justification, but were determined to be sole source. Management was able to provide us with an
understanding of why the vendor was selected; however, this sole source justificatbn was not
documented in the procurement files. Additbnally, as part of the testing over compliance with the Health
System's suspensbn and debarment verificatbn poDcy, we noted one vendor with expenditures of $1,400
where the suspension and debarment verificatbn was not performed in advance of paying the related
invoice. We received evidence of the suspensbn and debarment verification completed after invoice
payment, where no exclusions were identified.

Cause

While the procurement policy outlines the procedures to be folbwed for federal purchases, there is no
formal revbwto ensure all federal documentation requirements related to purchases above the micro-
purchase threshob have been included in the procurement files. Additionally, there is no formal review to
ensure that suspensbn and debarment verifications have been completed for all vendors prior to invoice
payment.

Effect

The lack of adherence to established policies for bidding documentation and sole source justifbation and
a formal process for review could result In competition being inappropriately limited. The lack adherence
to the suspension and debarment verifbation policy could result in the Health System conducting
business with a vendor that is suspended or debarred.

Questioned Costs

None noted.

Recommendation

We recommend the Health System formalize the documentatbn and review required for procurements
over the micro-purchase threshold, including reylew of multiple vendor quotations or sole source
justifbation documentatbn prior to the purchase being made. Additbnally, the Health System shouW
ensure that timely suspensbn and debanmert verifications are completed in line with policy.

Management's View and Corrective Action Plan
Management's views and corrective action plan are included at the end of this report after the summary of
status of prior audit findings.
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2022-005 Eligibility and Allowable Costs

Cluster: Not applicable
Federal Agency: Department of Health and Human Services
Award Names: Substance Use Disorder Treatment and Recovery Support Services
Award Numbers: T1081685

Assistance Listing Title: Opioid STR
Assistance Listing Number: 93.788
Award Year: 2021 -2022

Pass-through entity: NH Dept of Health and Human Services

Criteria

To be eligible under the Substance Use Disorder Treatment and Recovery Support Services award, a
patient must 1) have income below 400% of the federal poverty level. 2) be a resident of New Hampshire
or experiencing homelessnessin New Hampshire, and 3) be determined positive for substance use
disorder. Additbnally, patient income information fa all eligble patients receiving services must t>e
updated at a minimum Interval of once every four weeks.

Condition

Cheshire Medical Center operates The Doorway program in Keene. NH. The Doorway connects patients
positive for substance use disorder with sipport services and treatment, and receives a portion of its
funding from the Substance Use Disorder Treatment and Recovery Support Services federal award.
Through our testing of eligibility requirements for 25 patients, we noted the following;
•  For all selections, no formal documentatbn was maintained regarding patient income levels.
•  For all selections, income reassessments were not completed and documented at least once every

four weeks.

•  One selected patient was neither a resident of New Hampshire, nor ex|»riencing homelessness in
New Hampshire.

While The Doonvay provides services to patients beyond those defined as eligible under the Substance
Use Disorder Treatment and Recovery Support Services award, there is no differentiation between
patients that are elig bie or ineligible under the federal program. As a result of patients not being
d if ferentiated, time and effort incurred by personnel on the award is commingled with non-award activity.
For example, a clinbian's salary is funded under the award, but she is not seeing only eligible patients. As
such, any time she spent treating a patient who is not eligible would be a questioned cost under the grant

Cause

The nature and purpose of the federal program is very similar and consistent with the mission and
operations of The Doonray. Management did not understand the need to differentiate the services
performed and patients served in order to demonstrate compliance with award terms and conditions.

Effect

The commingling of activities between federal and non-federal programs does not allow fa compliance
with award specific terms and conditions and with eligibility requirements to be effectively managed.

Questioned Costs

We were unable to verify eligibility requirements were met fa the program which had total expenditures of
$838,932.

Recommendation

We recommend that.intemal controls and policies be implemented to manage the eligibility requirements
of the federal awards and ensure that documentation to support eligbility determinations is maintained.
Further, procedures to differentiate patients eligible under the award from those determined to be
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ineligible, along with a mechanism to track the time and expenses associated with eligible patients should
be put in place.

Management's View and Corrective Action Plan
Management's views and corrective action plan is induded at the end of this report after the summary
schedule of prior audit findings and status.
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There are no findings frorr) prior years that req uire an update in this report
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Management's Views and Corrective Action Plan

2022-01 Equipment Management

Cluster; Research and Development
Federal Agency: Various
Award Names: Various
Award Numbers: Various
Assistance Listing Title: Various
Assistance Listing Number: Various
Award Year: 2021- 2022
Pass-through entity: Various

Management agrees with the finding related to the federal equipment inventory and tracking. To
address these deficiencies Research Operations will work closely with Corporate Finance,
Facilities, and Purchasing to create a federal equipment tracking procedure that allows
inventory to be identified and located in order to conduct an inventory at a minimum of every
two years. Furthermore, the tracking system will include all of the detail surrounding the
equipment needed to meet the requirements of 2 CFR section 200.313 (d) (1).

Leadership Responsible: Barbara A. Vance, PhD, CRA, Vice President, Research Operations

Anticipated Completion Date: 03/31/2024

2022- 002—Late submission of Uniform Guidance Report

Cluster: All represented on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ("SEFA")
Sponsoring Agency: All federal agencies represented on the SEFA
Award Names: All awards on the SEFA
Award Numbers: All awards on the SEFA
Assistance Listing Title: All awards on the SEFA
Assistance Listing Number: All awards on the SEFA
Award Year: All awards on the SEFA
Pass-through entity: All identified on the SEFA

Management agrees with this finding related to the late submission of the UG Audit Report. The
current year audit process was not indicative of the typical audit process for D-HH.
Management has subsequently hired additional staff and will file the audit timely moving
forward.

Leadership Responsible: Barbara A. Vance, PhD, CRA, Vice President, Research Operations

Anticipated Completion Date: 3/31/2024

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center
Office of Research Operations
One Medical Center Dr.. Lebanon, NH 03756

Tel (603) 650-1801
Dartmouth-Health.org
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2022-003 - Subrecipient Risk Assessment and Ongoing Monitoring

Cluster: Research and Development
Federal Agency: All awards with subrecipients on the SEFA
Award Names: All awards with subrecipients on the SEFA
Award Numbers: All awards with subrecipients on the SEFA
Assistance Listing Title: All awards with subrecipients on the SEFA
Assistance Listing Number: All awards with subrecipients on the SEFA
Award Year: 2021 - 2022

Pass-through entity: All pass-through entities noted on the SEFA

Management agrees with the finding related to the Subrecipient Risk Assessments. To address
these deficiencies Research Operations will update its subrecipient monitoring policy to
explicitly state the ongoing monitoring activities that must be conducted and the frequency of
required monitoring. Additionally, training will be provided to the staff who perform the risk
assessment to ensure they are documenting the details of the review including the date and
results of the subrecipient audit report review. Furthermore, updates will be made to the risk
assessment procedure to ensure subrecipient annual audits are reviewed and the results of the
review and follow-up are sufficiently documented. To ensure compliance, internal monitoring
will be performed.

Leadership Responsible: Barbara A. Vance, PhD, CRA, Vice President, Research Operations

Anticipated Completion Date: 12/31/2023; Monitoring of compliance will continue
throughout FY24

2022-004: Procurement, Suspension and Debarment

Cluster: Research and Development
Federal Agency: Department of Health and Human Services, Department of Defense
Award Names: First-in-human clinical translation of a near-infrared, nerve-specific
fluorophore to facilitate tissue-specific fluorescence-guided surgery; Self-Administered, Motor-
Free, Cognitive Screening Battery for MS: Development and Initial Validation; Decision Making
in Transmasculine Genital Reconstruction Surgery (TMGRS)
Award Numbers: 1R01NS116994-01A1; W81XWH2010330; R21DK124733
Assistance Listing Title: Extramural Research Programs in the Neurosciences and
Neurological Disorders; Military Medical Research and Development; Diabetes, Digestive, and
Kidney Diseases Extramural Research
Assistance Listing Number: 93.853; 12.420; 93.847
Award Year: 2021 - 2022

PassTthrough entity: Not applicable

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

OfTtce of Research Operations
One Medical Center Dr.. Lebanon, NH 03756

Tel (603) 650-1801
Dartmouth-Heallh.org
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n^rfmnnth Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical CenterUdiLllJUULll Office of Research Operations
Health

Management agrees with the finding related to Procurement, Suspension and Debarment. To
address these deficiencies Research Operations will conduct staff training for Departmental
Research Administrators to ensure staff are knowledgeable of the current policy and the
documentation requirements related to purchases above the micro-purchase threshold. D-H is
currently following the required procedures but will ensure that the procurement files include
supporting documentation, including review of multiple vendor quotations or sole source
justification documentation. Furthermore, D-H will update procedures to ensure that all
purchases have evidence of the suspension and debarment verification completed prior to
payment.

Leadership Responsible: Barbara A. Vance, PhD, CRA, Vice President, Research Operations

Anticipated Completion Date: 12/31/2023

2022-005 Eligibility and Allowable Costs

Cluster: Not applicable
Federal Agency: Department of Health and Human Services
Award Names: Substance Use Disorder Treatment and Recovery Support Services
Award Numbers: T1081685
Assistance Listing Title: Opioid STR
Assistance Listing Number: 93.788
Award Year: 2021 - 2022

Pass-through entity; NH Dept of Health and Human Services

Management understands and agrees that there was a failure to follow the documentation
requirements of the Opioid STR award during the majority of the time period covered by the
audit.

In June 2022 the Doorway began implementing a screening tool used at the time of patient
intake to determine which patients are eligible under the grant. Additionally, a process will be
implemented to perform the required income reassessments every 4 weeks and to track time
and differentiate costs between eligible and non-eligible patients. Any patient deemed ineligible
in the initial screening or subsequent four week reassessments will continue to be treated, but
the associated cost will not be charged to the grant.

This documentation will be reviewed a minimum of two times per year by Cheshire's
Compliance Manager, and more frequently if errors are found., Results vyill be reported to the
Chief Operating Officer and the Chief Financial Officer

Cheshire has implemented a separation of duties where the clinic administrator will ensure and
maintain appropriate documentation, while a senior finance analyst will review and verify
appropriateness prior to invoicing the grant. This process will add an additional check to be
certain only eligible patients are charged to the grant.

Leadership Responsible: Daniel Gross, Chief Financial Officer - Cheshire Medical Center

Anticipated Completion Date: 9/30/2023 ^
Dartmouth-Hilchcock Medical Center

Office of Research Operations
One Medical Center Dr.. Lebanon, NH 03756

Tel (603)650-1801
Dartmouth-Health.org
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Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center
Office of Research Operations

Leadership Signature

^DocuSlgntd by:

l. Uuaxl
-~i!a6*9Morrr4«iii...

Barbara A. Vance, PhD, CRA

Vice President, Research Operations

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

Office of Research Operations
One Medical Center Dr.. Lebanon, NH 03756

Tel (603) 650-1801
Dartmouth-Health.org



MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL HOSPTIAL (MHMH)/
DARTMOUTH HITCHCOCK CLINIC (DHC) \ Combined as DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK

DARTMOUTH HEALTH

BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

Effective: January 1. 2024

DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK

M. Elyse Allan, MBA
Retired President and Chief Executive Officer of General
Electric Canada Cotnpani/ Inc.

Geraldine "Polly" Bednash, PhD, RN, FAAN
Adjunct Professor, Australian Catholic University

Laura M. Chiang, MD
Assistant Professor ofAnesthesiology and Critical Care;
Vice Chair for Education, Dept. of Anesthesiology and Co-
Medical Director, Surgical Intensive Care Unit

Marcus P. Coe, MD, MS

Associate Professor, Residency Director, Departjnent of
Orthopaedic Surgery, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical
Center and Geisel School of Medicine

Duane A. Compton, PhD
Ex-Officio: Dean, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
Ex-Offcio: CEO & President, Dartmouth-
Hitchcock/Dartmouth Health

Gary V. Desir, MD

Yale School of Medicine: Paul B. Beeson Professor of
Medicine: Chair. Internal Medicine at Yale School of
Medicine and Yale New Haven Hospital; Vice Provostfor
Faculty Development and Diversity, Yale University

Celestina 'Tina" M. Dooley-Jones, PhD
Retired Soiior Foreign Service Officer

Nancy M. Dunbar, MD
Medical Director, Blood Bank-

Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine

Roberta L. Mines, MD

MHMH/DHC Boards' Chair
Nicholas M. Greene Professor and Chair, Dept. of
Anesthesiology, Yale School of Medicine

Jennifer L. Moyer, MBA
Managing Director & CAO, White Mountains Insurance
Group, Ltd

Sherri C. Oberg, MBA
CEO and Co-Founder of Particles for Humanity, PBC

David P. Paul, MBA

MHMH/DHC Boards' Secretary
Retired President & COO, }BG SMITH

Mark S. Speers, MBA
Co-founder & Senior Advisor, Health Advances, LLC

Jonathan B. Thyng, MD
Medical Director, Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics Nashua



DARTMOUTH HEALTH

Mark W. Begor, MBA
Chief Executive Officer, Equifax

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, Dartnwuth-
Hitchcockff)artniouth Health

Thomas P. Glynn, FhD
Adjust Lecturer, Harvard Kennedy School ofCovemment

Charles G. Plimpton, MBA
Dartmouth Health Board Treasurer & Secretary

Richard J. Powell, MD
Section Chief, Vascular Surgery; Professor of Surgery and
Radiology

Thomas Raffio, MBA, FLMI
President & CEO, Northeast Delta Dental

Edward Howe Stansfield, III, MA

Dartmouth Health Board Chair

Retired Senior Financial Advisor, Resident Director, of
Bank of America/Merrill Lynch

Paul A. Taheri, MD, MBA

Clinical Partner - Welsh Carson Anderson and Stoioe

Pamela Austin Thompson, MS, RN, CElsJP, FAAN
Chiefexecutive officer emeritus of the American
Organization of Nurse Executives (AONE)

Governance Oversieht:

Kimberley A. Gibbs^
Director, Execuhve Administration and Governance

Administrative Sui

Laura K. Rondeau



Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Key Personnel

Name Job Title Salary
% Paid from

this Contract

Amount Paid

from this

Contract

Cathy Brittis Bean CAC Director
FY 24: $100,942
FY 25: $103,970

FY 24: 54%

FY 25: 100%
$168,107

Joscelin Thompson Forensic Interviewer
FY 24: $69,764
FY 25: $71,857

FY 24: 10%

FY 25: 43.42%
$45,260

Andrea Kegelman Forensic interviewer FY 24: $66,123 FY 24: 10% $3,656

Samantha Thompson Intake Coordinator FY 24: $50,814 FY 24: 2% $674

Melissa Hayes
Behavioral Health

Clinician

FY 24: $69,740
FY 25: $71,832

FY 24: 30%

FY 25: 54%
$63,103



Cathy BriHis,MSW

Summafy Master's level social worker with strong work experience in the area
children protection and family support. Strength based approach in
working with children, adolescents and families. Strengths include;
assessment, crisis intervention, case management, support, advocacy,
mediation skills, collaborative teamwork, and forensic interviewing skills

Education 1993 - 1995 University of Vermont.

Mastore of SocUil Work

1987 -1991 St. MIchaers College

Bachelor of Arts In Psychology

Burlington. Vermont

Colchester, Vermont

Profe^lonal

experience
Child Advocacy Center Program Director, Child Advocacy

Center of Grafton and Sullivan Counties at Dartmouth Hitchcock

Medlcid Center, Lebanon, NH (S/O&present)

• Oversee all aspects of the development and' functioning of the Child
Advocacy Center (CAC) to Include financial management, sustainability
needs, agency and community outreach, needs assessments,and
facilitation of CAC related meetings.

• Coordinate center services with participating agencies including child
protefction, law enforcement; prosecution, crisis services, medical and
mental health prof^slonals.

• Oversee and conduct forensic interviews of children who have been

referred to the CAC for evaluation of child abuse.

• Coordinate referrals to needed services for families who have come to the

CAC.

• Provide expert'and/or fact based testimony as needed in criminal and child
protection proceedings

• Sup^se st^ of forensic interviewers and intake coordinators

• Maintain National Accreditation of our CAC programs with the National
Children's Alliance.

Interim tnvesUgatlve Supervisor, Department for Children and

Families, State of Vermont, WhKe River Jct^VT (7/05-9/05)

■ Responsible for screening all intakes of child abuse and neglect

" Assign reports to investigators and provide ongoing guidance and
supervision through the Investigation process to the Investigator.

" Oversee that investigative policy and procedures are being followed by all
employees. •

" Provide training on mandated reporting and child abuse and neglect to
community agerides.

Social Work Investigator, Department for Children and Families,

StateofVennont, White River Jet, VT (8/95 - 7/05)



Responsible for investigating reports of child abuse and neglect

Conduct intervlevirs with children and families around allegations of child
abuse and neglect Assessing the strengths, risk factors, and safety
concems for the families. Providing crisis intervention, mediation and
support services to these families.

Facilitate/Support meetings with family members and community service
providers.

Member of the Orange East Family Support Team and the Child Advocacy
Center at the Family Place, worldng collaboratlvely with community
providers and families to ensure the safety of children.

Support and Empower famine in accessing necessary services to ensure
the safety of their children and maintain family unity.

Serve as Statewide Trainer of forensic interviewing and Investigative skills
workshop.

Provide ongoing education and support to area school staff and other
community providers in regards to reporting and investigating child abuse.

Spectrum Outreach Worfcer/lntem, Spectrum Youth and

Family Services, Burlington, VT (9/94-5/95)

Provided screenings, Intakes, assessments and referrals to adolescents
who were homeless or runaway. Promoted family reunification when
appropriate.

Case managed and supported homeless youth through independent living
programs.

Co-facirtated an independent living skills group for youth, enhancing skills
for youth to live on own.

Provided supen/iston to Peer Outreach Workers (youth who provided
outreach services to kids "at risk' oh the streets of Burlington)

Assisted in the development of a shelter for run-away and homeless youth.
Created rules, Intake forms, consents, waivers, and other fonns pertinent
to procedural development

Provided crisis intervention via drop-In center and twenty-four hour hotline.
Assessed crisis calls and provided appropriate interventions and safety
plans.

Social Work Inviestlgator Intern, SRS, Burlington, Vermont

(9/93-5/94)

• Conduct interviews with children and families around allegations of child
abuse and neglect Assessing the strengths, risk factors, and safety
concems for the f^ilies. Providing crisis intervention, mediation and
support services to these families.

Crime Victim Advocate, Family Services of the Mid-Hudson

and Harlem Valleys, Poughkeepsle, NY (5/92-8/93)

" ̂ vided 24 hour emergency rape/domestic violence crisis counseRng via
walk-ins, hotline, and police/hospita! assistance

" Established and supervised an emergency financial assistance program for
victims of crime.

" Prepared victlnrts for the court process and advocated on behalf of the
victim.



Provided group treatment to victims of crime. Co-facilitated a support group
for victims of domestic violence. Facilitated a sexual harassment group for
female adolescents.

Created and presented outreach programs and crime prevention
workshops for the schools of Dutchess County.

■ Gathered pertinent data and responsible for submitting quarterly and
annual reports to funding sources. Assisted in the writing of grant proposals
to promote services, which were needed in the community.

Placement Prevention Wofftcer/lntem, Baird Center for Children

and Families, Burilngton, VT (1/01-S/91)

" Worked with ̂ ildren and ̂ mllies "at risk" to promote safety and ̂ mily
unity.

" Provided intensive therapeutic services in the home.

■ Provided counseling, education, and support to parents to improve their
child management skiDs, prevent f^ly dissolution, maximize the utilization
of ̂ ily resources towards improving parents ability to adequately meet
the soda), emotioria), educational, and physical needs of their children.

Relevant Research Child Abuse; Domestic Violence; Emotional Maltreatment of Children
and Adolescents; Foster Care Vs. Kinship Care for culturally diverse
populations; Mental Health Issues Related to Youth Homelessness

Awards received Susan P. LaGasse Award for Excellence in Casework Practice for the

Sate of Vermont, Department of Social and Rehabilitation Services.
(2000)

Lebanon Police Department, Citizen of the Year Award - 2009

References will te furnished upon request



Samantha Townsend

Education

Southern New Hampshire University in Manchester, NH May 2017
Bachelors of Arts in Psychology and Community Sociology
Concentration: Child & Adolescent Development
Cumulative GPA ofS.?, Psi Chi International Honor Society, National Honor Society for Collegiate Scholars
Won first place at SNHU's Undergraduate Research Day for Community Based Research

Relevant Experience

Intake Coordinator

Child Advocacy Center at DM Children's September 2019-Present
Responsible for receiving, managing, and coordinating all fcferrals with the MDT
Triage cases based on case dynamics and safety needs
Coordinate/Schedule CAC forensic interviews with necessary team members of the MDT
Re:sponsible for case tracking, data collection, and maintenance of database directory for all cases

Paraprofessional August 20n-August 2019
Mount Lebanon School

Support and assist learning in pre-klndergarten classrooms
Model appropriate behavior and open-mindedness and reward student who do the same

Substitute May 2016-June 2017
Lebanon School District

Work in the absence of regular teacher to assist children understand subject matter
Provide skills required for programmed lessons

Intern February 2017-April 2017
Easterseals Child Development Center

Interact and provide necessary support for child ages 2-3years old
Support teachers in promoting an inclusive environment for children with development disabilities

Volunteer October2016to January 2017
Elliot Hospital Child Life Department in Manchester, NH.

Normalized the hospital environment
Developed and modified activities based on developmental age and physical abilities
Cleaned/organized the playroom
Communicate effectively with Child Life Specialist, child, and child's guardian

Volunteer August 2016
Barretstown SerioiisFun Camp, Ireland

Supervised children ages 11-14
Provided emotional and mental support for the childiw attending
Assisted the children and activity leaders in various challenging activities

Landscape Maintenance Summer 2013- 2016
Hess Property and Services in Lebanon, New Hampshire

Communicated effectively with the boss about where to go during the week
Worked individually or on a team consisting no more than six people
Completed time sensitive task of getting everyone's time sheets into the boss each week
Trained new hires to pay attention to details while working at a fast pace

Tutor January to May 2015
Southern New Hampshire University in Manchester, New Hampshire

Articulated statistics in a clear way.
Communicated with non-native English speakers
Managed time between my classes ahd workload, tutor trmning, being present in the statistics class, and individual
tutoring



Andrea Kegelman

Education;

Bachelor of Science, Criminal Justice, September 2004
College for.Lifelong Learning, University System of New Hampshire
Concord, New Hampshire

Professional Experience;

Child Advocacy Center of Grafton & Sullivan Counties at ChaD (March 2018 - present)
Lebanon, New Hampshire
Forensic Interview Specialist / CAC Coordinator
•  Conduct forensic interviews.

•  Case coordination and services.

•  Facilitation of MOT and case review processes.

Lebanon Police Department (October 2004 - March 2018)
Lebanon, New Hampshire
Police GfFicer, Corporal
•  Enforce Criminal and Motor Vehicle Codes as wtW as Cil>' Ordinances.
•  Respond to and investigate incidents of Domestic Violence (DV), child abuse and elder

abuse/exploitation.

•  Coordinate services and referrals to the Division of Children, Youth and Families (DCYF), the
Child Advocacy Center (CAC) and/or the Bureau of Elderly and Adult Services (SEAS).

•  Conduct Forensic Interviews of children and adults of suspected physical abuse, sexual abuse,
and witness to violent crimes.

•  Successfully worked with multidisciplinaiy team members including'the Child Advocacy Centers
of Grafton and Sullivan Counties, WISE and the Upper Valley Sexual Assault Response Team to
provide crisis support, advocacy, prevention and community outreach.

•  Primary law enforcement representative on the Grafton County Child Advocacy Center
Multidisciplinary team to include active participation in pre and post MDT meetings and case
review process.

•  Primary law enforcement representative and active participant of the Upper Valley Sexual
Assault Response Team.

•  Successfully implemented and supervised training requirements, programs and opportunities for
Lebanon Police Department personnel; consisting of a staff of 38 sworn officers.

•  Successfully assisted in the prosecution of sexual assaults, physical assaults, elder abuse and
exploitation and theft cases:

•  Provided support and assistance to the Lebanon Police Department Prosecutor by preparing cases
for arraignment and trial as well as handling court proceedings in his absence.

•  Provided ongoing supervision of officers and civilian employees.

Lebaiion School District (January 2003 - September 2004, part time)
Lebanon, New Hampshire
Substitute Teacher

•  Assisted school district when a substitute teacher was needed.



•  Successfully handled children from ages S-18 in the classroom.
•  Successfully implemented age appropriate class curriculum.

Carroll Police Department (April 2000 - October 2004)
Carroll, New Hampshire
Police Officer

•  Enforced Criminal and Motor Vehicle Codes as well as Town Ordinances.

•  Successfully facilitated safety training for elementary school students.
•  Effectively assisted with all juvenile proceedings within the Family Court system.

Coos County SherifPs Department (April 2000 - December 2003, part time)
Lancaster, New Hampshire
Sheriffs Deputy

•  Transported female prisoners to/from police departments, courts and correctional facilities.
•  Successfully executed undercover investigations involving the care and treatment of juveniles.

Lincoln Police Department (November 1999 - April 2000)
Lincoln, New Hampshire
Dispatcher
•  Triaged phone and radio communications for Police, Fire and EMS including crisis situations.
• Worked within the community to foster positive relationships with Law Enforcement.
•  Successfully organized and documented calls for service.

Sneclalizcd Trainings:

Extended Forensic Interview Training (2022)
Sexual Assault Resonrce Team (SART) Summit 2021 (2021)
19"' Annual Children's Cove Champions for Children Conference (2021)
Evidence-Based Practices - Victim Centered Approach (2021)
NH Attorney General's 2021 Partnering For A Future Without Violence Conference (2021)
ChildFlrst Forensic Interview Training (2021)
Taking the High Road: Ethical Challenges and Working with a Team (2021)
NH Attorney General's Model Protocol for the Multidbciplinary Response to Child Abuse and
Neglect (2021)
Children with Disabilities: Challenges, Strategies, and Resources (2020)
Child Abuse; From Suspicion to Disclosure (2020)
Working with LGBTQ+ Youth (2020)
Critical Issues in Sibling Sexual Abuse (2020)
Being Trauma Informed with Youth (2020)
Keeping Your Child Exploitation Investigation Victim-Centered (2020)
Warning Signs of Abuse and Neglect (2020)
Implicit Bias (2020)
Chaotic Families and Trauma: How to Navigate and Not Get Sucked In (2020)
Institution-Based Child Sexual Abuse (2020)
Online Protections for Children and Families When Social Distancing (2020)
Victimization in Child Sexual Abuse Images (2020)
Emei^ing Tech: What Are the Current Trends for Teens and Kids (2020)
Child Interviewing 2019: Update on Research and Practice (2020)



35"* Annnal San Diego International Conference on Child and Family Maltreatment (2020)
Advanced Forensic Interview Training (2019)
National Children's Alliance (NCA) Leadership Conference (2019)
Motion Drafting & Legal Research Training (2016)
Police Prosecutor Training (2015)
Child Death & Homicide Investigation Training (2013)
FBI Crisis Negotiation Training (2011) ^
Advanced Forensic Interview Training (2010)
NH Attorney General's Task Force on Child Abuse & Neglect (2008, 2009)
Shield Our Children from Harm Professional Conference (annually, 2007 - 2013)
Child Abuse and Exploitation Invest^ative Techniques Training (2006)
Forensic Interview Training (2005)

Awards & Achievements:

Assistant to the Pros^utor (2016)
Training & Recruitment / Operations Support Bureau, Lebanon Police Department (2016)
Corporal, Lebanon Police Department (2014)
Letter of R^oghition from Governor John L)mch, Lebanon Police Department (2012)
CHaD Unsung Hero Award, Child Advocacy Center of Grafton County (2010)
Officer of the Year, Lebanon Police Department (2010)
Detective, Lebanon Police Department (2008 - 201(6)
School Resource Officer (SRO), Lebanon Police Department (2007 - 2008)



Jocelyn "Jody" Thompson

EDUCATION

BA, Social Woric, University of New Hampshire 2001

CURRENT POSITION

Forensic Interview Specialist/Team Coordiriatorand Case Manager
Child Advocacy Center of Grafion &. Sullivan Counties at DHMC

Lebanon NH February 2007-present

Coordinate forensic interviews with multidisciplinary team (MOT) including law
enforcement, child protective services workers, prosecutors, mental health, medical and
crisis and victims services providers.
Conduct child forensic interviews and extended forensic interviews, including specialized
training in children/adults with special needs
Participate and facilitate pre and post interview MOT meetings
Arrange referrals for clients to outside agencies, such as rhental health, specialized
medical care, and crisis services

Triage and coordinate resolution to obstacles families encounter during the investigative
process

Case Manage resources for families involved in the justice system
Created Statewide Peer Review for Forensic Interviewers

Certified National Facilitator of Darkness to Light Stewards of Children Sexual Abuse
Training
Direct knowledge of local and New Hampshire resources relevant to support victims in
the criminal Justice system, including Victims Compensation
Lead monthly case reviews with team members to discuss techniques and skills used to
investigate the cases.

PAST RELEVENT EMPLOYMENT

Intake and Development Director - Child Advocacy Center ofRockingham County, Portsmouth,
NH March 2002-September 2005

Joined the CACRC when it was in its infancy and, with the Executive Director, turned the Center
into a successful pilot program for each county in NH to model.



Coordinated all investigative forensic interviews (approximately 400 per year) with
multidisciplinary teams consisting of law enforcement officers, child protective services
workers, county and state prosecutors, mental health, medical and crisis services
providers.
First point of contact with family members of children in need of services. Often had to
diffuse and mediate hostile or adviersaHal situations and reassure reluctant clients.

Conducted child abuse forensic interviews.

Led monthly case reviews with team members to discuss techniques and skills used to
investigate the cases.
Updated documentation/filing system and was responsible for maintaining secure
records for approximately 1200 case files.
Set up a satellite office in Derry, NH with the Executive Director.
HIPAA Privacy Officer for agency.
Responsible for coordinating all aspects of agency fundraising (approximately $50,000
per year) working closely with volunteers. Solicited donations of goods, services and
cash for large gala and golf tournament, the two largest fundraisers.
Wrote the quarterly newsletter.

OTHER PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCES

Social Worker-per diem. New London Hospital New London NH
November 2006-January 2008
Discharge planning and resource referrals for patients in acute care community hospital. All
aspects of patient crisis management.
First Assistant Manager. Hanna Andersson Kitterv ME November

2001-March 2002

Second in charge of large children*? clothing store. Responsibilities include open and close store,
balance cash registers and end ofnight deposits, delegate tasks and supervise staff of seven
employees, provide exceptional customer service, conduct all recruiting, interviewing and hiring
of new associates.

Direct Services Intern - Sexual Assault Support Services. Portsmouth, NH
May 2000-July 2002

• After internship ended, stayed on as a volunteer
•  Provided direct services to clients by 24 hour crisis hotline and police, hospital and court

accompaniments.
• Worked closely with county prosecutors, police and victim witness advocates.
• Guest speaker to teen groups at local schools and teen^centers.
• Developed "Daytime Procedure Manual for Providing Direct Services" for the agency.
• Co-developed with two police officers a day long school resource officer training

program dealing with dating violence.
Coordinated all support group tasks while the Coordinator of Support Groups was on vacation
for one month. Spoke with potential clients to assess their group needs



MELISSA HAYES, LICSW

Professional Experience:

Dartmouth Hitchcock Health 09/2023 - Current

Behavioral Health Climcian - Child Advocacy Center

•  Provide evidence based trauma treatment to children and familjes who arc referred through Ihe
Child Advocacy Center at DH

•  Conduct assessments and develop treatment plans to support diagnosis and clinical needs of the
child

•  Complete clinical documentation to monitor patients progress and provide program focused
metrics

•  Participate/Attend multidisciplinary team meetings to provide support, consultation, and
education around the behavioral health needs of our clients and the impact on trauma to children
and families whose lives are impacted by abuse.

Millbrook Wellness, PLLC 02/2022 - Current

Owner/Clinician

• 0\\*ner of my independent private practice
•  Providing mental health treatment to adolescents and adults including psychosocial assessments,

diagnosing, treatment planning, crisis intervention, and ongoing assessment of progress
• Complete clinical documentation and billing process for each session with clients
•  Support the clients mental health through collaboration with outside providers like school staff

and doctors on the client's treatment team

West Central Behavioral Health 07/2019-0112022

Team Leader

•  Supervised a team of clinicians providing mental health treatment to children and adolescents at a
community mental health center

• Made sure the team completed clinical and administrative functions of the job including

diagnostics, treatment planning, implementation of treatment modalities, documentation, and
collaborating with team members

•  Supervised individuals for their mental health license

•  Participated in meetings with outside community members like schools and the Child Advocacy
Center

•  Introduced and managed new ventures in the workplace to streamline workplace productivity

West Central Behavioral Health 05/2015 - 07/2019

Child Clinician



MELISSA HAYES, LICSW

Professional Experience:

Dartmouth Hitchcock Health , 09/2023 - Current

Behavioral Health Clinician - Child Advocacy Center

•  Provide evidence b^ed trauma treatment to children and familjes who are referred through the
Child Advocacy Center at DH

•  Conduct assessments and develop treatment plans to support diagnosis and clinical needs of the
child

•  Complete clinical documentation to monitor patients progress and provide program focused
metrics

•  Participate/Attend multidisciplinary team meetings to provide support, consultation, and
education around the behavioral health needs of our clients and the impact on trauma to children
and families whose lives are impacted by abuse.

Millbrook Wcllness, PLLC 02/2022 - Current

Owner/Clinician

• Owner of my independent private practice
•  Providing mental health treatment to adolescents and adults including psychosocial assessments,

diagnosing, treatment planning, crisis intervention, arid ongoing assessment of progress

• Complete clinical documentation and billing process for each session with clients

•  Support the clients mental health through collaboration with outside providers like school staff
and doctors on the client's treatment team

West Central Behavioral Health 07/2019 - 01/2022

Team Leader

•  Supervised a team of clinicians providing mental health treatment to children and adolescents at a

community mental health center

• Made sure the team completed clinical and administrative functions of the job including

diagnostics, treatment planning, implementation of treatment modalities, documentation, and

collaborating with team members
•  Supervised individuals for their mental health license

•  Participated in meetings with outside community members like schools and the Child Advocacy

Center

•  Introduced and managed new ventures in the workplace to streamline workplace productivity

West Central Behavioral Health 05/2015 - 07/2019

Child Clinician



• Complete psycho-social assessments during intakes with new clients through collecting
information regarding past diagnoses, current symptomatology, family history, history of

presenting illness, medical history, and client strengths
• Create measurable treatment plan goals with the client

• Collaborate with team members like case managers and psychiatrists to provide wrap around

services for the client and their family

• Connect with commiinity rheniibers to support the client in multiple environments
• Complete clinical documentation in the medical record in a timely manner including quarterly

updates and annual reviews of the treatment, progress
• Att^d trainings to further clinical skill set \

Education:

University of New England, Portland, ME
Masierof Social Work 2015

Gordon College, Westbrook, MA

Bachelors of Social Work 2014

Training:

Trauma Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy, Dialectical Behavioral Therapy, Motivational
Interviewing, Person-Centered Therapy, MATCH, CF-TS!


